
i 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL, PENNS PLACE, 
PETERSFIELD, HAMPSHIRE GU31 4EX 

 
Telephone:  01730 266551 

Website:  www.easthants.gov.uk 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 

Date: Thursday, 12 March 2020 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Venue: Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield, GU31 4EX 

 
 

 
Membership:      Councillor S Pond (Chairman) 
 
Councillors A Williams (Vice-Chairman), D Ashcroft, F Cowper, D Evans, 
A Glass, S Hunt, C Louisson, P Langley, S Schillemore, N Taylor, I Thomas 
and E Woodard 
 
Reserves:  
 
Councillors K Budden, S Burns, K Carter, M Johnson and T Maroney  
 

(THE QUORUM FOR THIS MEETING IS 7 VOTING COUNCILLORS) 
 

 
The business to be transacted is set out below:  
 
David Brown 
Monitoring Officer 
 
 
Date of Publication: Wednesday, 4 March 2020 
 
Contact Officer: Lisa Papps 01730 234073 
 Email:  lisa.papps@easthants.gov.uk 
 
 

 

Working in Partnership 



ii 
 

 

  Page Nos 

   
1.  Apologies for Absence   

 
 

2.  Confirmation of Minutes   
 
Please note that it is helpful if Councillors could give advance notice, 
to Democratic Services, of any questions they wish to raise in respect 
of the Minutes. 
 
Minutes of the meeting held on 20 February 2020, circulated under 
separate cover. 
 
 

 

3.  Chairman's Announcements   
 

 

4.  Declarations of Interest   
 
Councillors are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest which they may have in any item of 
business on the agenda no later than when that item is reached.  
Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any 
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under the Localism Act 
2011.  You must withdraw from the room or chamber when the 
meeting discusses and votes on the matter. 
 

 

 

Matters for Decision 
 

 
 

5.  Acceptance of Supplementary Matters   
 

 

6.  Future Items   
 

9 - 10 

7.  Report of the Director of Regeneration and Place   
 

 

 

PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council Items 
 
 

 

Section I 
 

 
 

7.(i)   56420/001/FUL/SAW - Alton Magistrates Court, 25 Normandy 
Street, Alton, GU34 1DQ   
 
McCarthy and Stone Retirement Lifestyles LTD  
 
Retirement living apartments with communal facilities and car parking 
following demolition of existing buildings. 
 
 

11 - 52 



iii 
 

 
  
 

7.(ii)   22387/067/FUL/LGi - Treloar College, Powell Drive, Holybourne, 
Alton, GU34 4GL   
The Treloar Trust 
 
Hybrid Application: Full application for new staff accommodation 
buildings with associated provision for access parking and 
landscaping. Outline Application: for new 'life skills centre' (scale and 
access for full consideration) with supporting space for car parking 
and outside activity space area. (Further highways information 
submitted on 14/6/19, amended existing block plan and masterplan 
received 27/6/19, additional ecological information submitted 13/9/19, 
amended landscape plan received on 4/10/19, amended masterplan 
received 13/12/19, further drainage information received 4/10/19, 
18/11/19, 3/1/20 and 30/1/20, amended master plan and location 
plans received 4/2/20). 
  
 

53 - 84 

7.(iii)   22321/016/HSE/SR - Hill View, 27A Southdown Road, Horndean, 
Waterlooville, PO8 0ET   
Mr Denton 
 
Retrospective application for a wall adjacent to a highway, with 
alterations to include stainless steel railings and gate (as amended by 
plans received 2 March 2020). 
  
 

85 - 92 

7.(iv)   58574/FUL/ACa - 21 Columbine Way, Clanfield, Waterlooville, 
PO8 0WJ   
Mr & Mrs Hatter 
 
Conversion of garage to habitable accommodation.  
 

93 - 100 

 

Section II 
 

 
 

8.(i)   49776/004/OUT/MH - Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton   
Tanvale Holdings Ltd 
 
Outline Application  - (Some matters reserved) Development of up to 
7ha of employment land (use classes B1a, B1c, B2 and B8) with 
associated access (submitted for detailed approval) and green 
infrastructure (additional information received on 10/09/2019 - 
Updated Ecology Statement). 
 

101 - 136 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 



iv 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PART 2 - South Downs National Park Items 
 

Section I 
 

 
 

9.(i)   SDNP/19/05324/HOUS - Chestnut Cottage, Newton Lane,  
Newton Valence   
Mr R Porter 
 
Two storey rear extension. 
 

137 - 160 

 

Section II 
 
 

  
There are no Section II items within this agenda. 
 

 



v 
 

 
  
 





 

 
vii 

  Page Nos 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073. 
 
 

Internet 
 

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk 
 
 

Public Attendance and Participation 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend and observe the meetings. 
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on 
matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further 
information please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda.  
 
Disabled Access 
 

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled. 
 

Emergency Procedure 
 
Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound. 
 
PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY. 
 
DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO. 
 
No Smoking Policy 
 

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and grounds 
 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. This report considers planning applications submitted to the Council, as the Local 
Planning Authority, for determination.  It may also include items which are being 
determined by the Council on behalf of the South Downs National Park Authority. 

East Hampshire District Council is acting as an agent for the South Downs National 
Park Authority in accordance with an agreement signed under Section 101 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990.  Under this arrangement the Council can determine 
planning applications on sites within the South Downs National Park area of the district 
on behalf of the National Park Authority.  Applications for the South Downs National 
Park are prefixed with the letters SDNP.  

2.1. SECTIONS IN THE REPORT 

The report is divided into two main parts;  

Part 1 – East Hampshire District Council 

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which are 
being determined or considered by the Council as the Local Planning Authority.   

Part 2 – South Downs National Park Authority 

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which fall 
within East Hampshire District’s area of the South Downs National Park and which the 
Council is determining or considering on behalf of the South Downs National Park 
Authority.   

Each part of the report is split into two sections:   

Section 1 - Schedule of Application Recommendations  

This Section deals with planning applications that have been received by the Council 
and which require the Planning Committee to make a decision to grant or refuse 
permission.  Each item contains a full description of the proposed development, details 
of the consultations undertaken and summary of the responses received, an 
assessment of the proposal against current policy, a commentary and concludes with 
a recommendation.  A presentation with slides will be made to Committee.  Public 
participation is allowed on Section 1 items. 

Section 2 – Other matters  

This Section deals with other planning matters which are not the subject of a current 
application or are current applications which have already been determined and have 
been subject to a committee resolution to grant or refuse.  

Page 1

Agenda Annex



 

No formal presentation will be made to Committee, unless required, and there will be 
no public participation.” 

2.2. All information, advice, and recommendations contained in this report are understood 
to be correct at the time of publication, which is more than one week in advance of the 
Committee meeting.  Because of the time constraints, some reports may have been 
prepared in advance of the final date for consultee responses or neighbour comment.  
Where a recommendation is either altered or substantially amended between 
preparing the report and the Committee meeting or where additional information has 
been received, a separate Supplementary Matters paper will be circulated at the 
meeting to assist Councillors.  This paper will be available to members of the public. 

3. PLANNING POLICY 

3.1. All planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Town and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  If the development plan contains material policies 
or proposals and there are no other material considerations, the application should be 
determined in accordance with the development plan.  Where there are other material 
considerations, the development plan will be the starting point, and other material 
considerations will also be taken into account.  One such consideration will be whether 
the plan policies are relevant and up to date.  The relevant development plans are the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan, The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy 
2014, the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations 
2016 and the saved policies in the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 
2006.  The Development Plan also includes made neighbourhood Plans. 

3.2. Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the relevant 
development plan will have been used as a background document and the relevant 
policies taken into account in the preparation of the report on each item.   

3.3. The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy and Local Plan have policies that 
contain criteria that must be met if a particular form of development is to be allowed.  
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) February  2019 states:  
“Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.”   

3.4. The Council may sometimes decide to grant planning permission for development that 
departs from a development plan if other material considerations indicate that it should 
proceed.  One of these material considerations is whether the plan is up-to-date in 
terms of housing delivery.  

4. OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS  

4.1. Material considerations must be genuine planning considerations, i.e. they must be 
related to the development and use of land in the public interest.  They must also fairly 
and reasonably relate to the application concerned.  The Courts are the arbiters of 
what constitutes a material consideration.  All the fundamental factors involved in land-
use planning are included, such as the number, size, layout, siting, design, and 
external appearance of buildings and the proposed means of access, together with 

Page 2



 

landscaping, impact on the neighbourhood, and the availability of infrastructure.   

4.2. Matters that should not be taken into account are: 

 loss of property value  loss of view 
 land and boundary disputes  matters covered by leases or covenants 
 the impact of construction 

work 
 property maintenance issues 

 need for development (save in 
certain defined circumstances) 

 the identity or personal characteristics of 
the applicant 

 competition between firms,   or matters that are dealt with by other 
legislation, such as the Building 
Regulations (e.g. structural safety, fire 
risks, means of escape in the event of 
fire etc). - The fact that a development 
may conflict with other legislation is not 
a reason to refuse planning permission 
or defer a decision.  It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure compliance with 
all relevant legislation. 

 

4.3. Government statements of planning policy are material considerations that must be 
taken into account in deciding planning applications.  These statements cannot make 
irrelevant any matter that is a material consideration in a particular case.  Nevertheless, 
where such statements indicate the weight that should be given to relevant 
considerations, decision-makers must have proper regard to them.   

4.4. In those cases where the development plan is not relevant, for example because there 
are no relevant policies, the planning application should be determined on its merits in 
the light of all the material considerations.  

5. PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS  

5.1. The Council can impose conditions on planning permissions only where there is a clear 
land-use planning justification for doing so.  Conditions should be used in a way that is 
clearly seen to be fair, reasonable, and practicable.  One key test of whether a 
particular condition is necessary is if planning permission would have to be refused if 
the condition were not imposed.  Otherwise, such a condition would need special and 
precise justification.  

 

5.2. Where it is not possible to include matters that are necessary for a development to 
proceed in a planning condition the Council can agree a planning obligation under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Planning obligations should 
meet the Secretary of State's policy tests.  They should be:  
 necessary; 
 relevant to planning; 
 directly related to the proposed development; 
 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development; and 

Page 3



 

 reasonable in all other respects. 

 

5.3. The use of planning obligations is governed by the fundamental principle that planning 
permission may not be bought or sold.  It is therefore not legitimate for unacceptable 
development to be permitted because of benefits or inducements offered by a 
developer, which are not necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms.  Planning obligations are only a material consideration to be taken into account 
when deciding whether to grant planning permission, and it is for the Council to decide 
what weight should be attached to a particular material consideration.  

6. PLANNING APPEALS  

Applicants have the right of appeal to the Secretary of State if an application is refused, or 
granted subject to conditions, or if it has not been determined within the specified period.  
Appeals are administered by the Planning Inspectorate - an executive agency reporting to 
the Secretary of State.  Appeals are considered by written representation, hearings, and 
public inquiries.  In planning appeals, it is normally expected that both parties will pay their 
own costs.  Costs can however, be awarded against the Council where it: 
 

(a) fails to determine a planning application in good time – the Council must have good 
planning reasons to explain and justify why it did not make a decision in time. 

(b) fails to carry out adequate prior investigation consistent with national policy and 
guidance. 

(c) prevents or delays development that should clearly be permitted having regard to 
the development plan, national policy statements and any other material 
considerations.  It is the Councils responsibility to produce evidence to show clearly, 
why the development cannot be permitted. Reasons for refusal must be 

 complete,  
 precise,  
 specific 
 relevant to the application, and 
 supported by substantiated evidence.  

(d) fails to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision contrary to officer 
advice  

(e) gives too much weight to neighbour objections - the extent of local opposition is not, 
in itself, a reasonable ground for resisting development. To carry significant weight, 
opposition should be founded on valid planning reasons that is supported by 
substantial evidence. 

(f) relies on unsubstantiated objections where they include valid reasons for refusal but 
rely almost exclusively on local opposition from third parties, through 
representations and attendance at an inquiry or hearing, to support the decision. 

(g) fails to show that it has considered the possibility of imposing relevant planning 
conditions to allow development to proceed. 

 
The following are examples given in Planning Practice Guidance of circumstances that 
may lead to an award of costs against the Council: 
(a) ignoring relevant national policy – for example, the advice in NPPF, 
(b) where a proposal is contrary to the development plan but the relevant policy has 

been superseded by national policy which advocates an entirely different approach.  

Page 4



 

An example might be ignoring national advice in paragraph 77 of NPPF which may 
allow some market housing to bring forward a rural affordable housing exception 
site, 

(c) acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law, 
(d) persisting in objections to a scheme, or part of a scheme, which has already been 

granted planning permission or which the Secretary of State or an Inspector has 
previously indicated to be acceptable, 

(e) not determining like cases in a like manner – for example, imposing an additional 
reason for refusal on a similar scheme to one previously considered by the planning 
authority where circumstances have not materially changed, 

(f) failing to grant a further planning permission for a scheme the subject of an extant 
or recently expired permission where there has been no material change in 
circumstances, 

(g) refusing to approve reserved matters when the objections relate to issues that 
should already have been considered at the outline stage, 

(h) imposing a condition that is not necessary, precise, enforceable, relevant to 
planning, relevant to the development permitted or reasonable and thereby does 
not comply with the advice in the Planning Practice Guidance on the use of 
conditions in planning permissions, 

(i) requiring the appellant to enter into or complete a planning obligation which does 
not accord with the tests in para 56 of the NPPF, or 

(j) not imposing conditions on a grant of planning permission where conditions could 
effectively have overcome the objection identified – for example, in relation to 
highway matters. 

 

7. THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S ROLE 

7.1 The Secretary of State has reserve powers to direct the council to refer an application 
to him/her for decision. This is what is meant by a 'called-in' application. In general, 
this power of intervention is used selectively and the Secretary of State will not interfere 
with the jurisdiction of local planning authorities unless it is necessary to do so.  The 
Planning Practice Guidance sets out the type of development proposals that directs 
local authorities to consult with the Secretary of State before granting planning 
permission. 

 

8. PROPRIETY 

8.1 Councillors are elected to represent the interests of the whole community in planning 
matters and not simply their individual Wards.  When determining planning applications 
they must take into account planning considerations only.  This can include views 
expressed on relevant planning matters.  Local opposition or support for a proposal is 
not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission, unless it is founded 
upon valid planning reasons.  

9. PRIVATE INTERESTS  

9.1 The planning system does not exist to protect the private interests of one person 
against the activities of another, although private interests may coincide with the public 

Page 5



 

interest in some cases.  It can be difficult to distinguish between public and private 
interests, but this may be necessary on occasion.  The basic question is not whether 
owners and occupiers of neighbouring properties would experience financial or other 
loss from a particular development, but whether the proposal would unacceptably 
affect amenities and the existing use of land and buildings that ought to be protected 
in the public interest. Covenants or the maintenance/protection of private property are 
therefore not material planning consideration. 

10. OTHER LEGISLATION  

10.1 Non-planning legislation may place statutory requirements on planning authorities, or 
may set out controls that need to be taken into account (for example, environmental 
legislation, or water resources legislation).  The Council, in exercising its functions, 
also must have regard to the general requirements of other legislation, in particular:  

 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000, which prevents discrimination 
directly or indirectly in any functions, carried out by public authorities.  

 The Equality Act 2010, which places a duty on all those responsible for providing 
a service to the public not to discriminate against disabled people by providing a 
lower standard of service.  

 The Human Rights Act 1998, which incorporated provisions of the European 
Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) into UK law.  The general purpose of the 
ECHR is to protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to maintain and 
promote the ideals and values of a democratic society.  It sets out the basic rights 
of every person together with the limitations placed on these rights in order to 
protect the rights of others and of the wider community.  The specific Articles of 
the ECHR relevant to planning include Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), 
Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), 
Article 14 (Prohibition of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of property).  All planning 
applications are assessed to make sure that the subsequent determination of the 
development proposal is compatible with the Act.  If there is a potential conflict, 
this will be highlighted in the report on the relevant item. 
 

11. PUBLIC SPEAKING 

11.1 The Council has adopted a scheme for the public to speak on all Section 1 items. 
Where public speaking is allowed, the applicant or their representative, the local 
Parish/Town Council, and one objector may address the Committee, for a maximum 
of three minutes each, by prior invitation.  Members of the public wishing to speak must 
have contacted the Meeting Administrator in Democratic Services at least 48 hours 
before the meeting.  It is not possible to arrange to speak to the Committee at the 
Committee meeting itself. 

11.2 For probity reasons associated with advance disclosure of information under the 
Access to Information Act, neither the applicant, Parish Council, nor an objector will be 
allowed to circulate, show or display further material at, or just before, the Committee 
meeting.   

 

Page 6



 

12.  INSPECTION OF DRAWINGS 

12.1 All drawings are available for inspection on the internet at www.easthants.gov.uk and 
at the Planning Development Reception area during our normal office hours.  The files 
and drawings will also be available 30 minutes prior to the start of meeting for 
Councillors to inspect. 

13. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  However, in the event 
of an appeal, further resources will be put towards defending the Council’s decision.  
Rarely and in certain circumstances, decisions on planning applications may result in 
the Council facing an application for costs arising from a planning appeal.  Officers will 
aim to alert Members where this may be likely and provide appropriate advice in such 
circumstances. 

 
Simon Jenkins 
Director of Regeneration and Place 
 
Background Papers: 
 
 the individual planning application file (reference quoted in each case) 
 the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 
 East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy 2014 
 East Hampshire Employment & Housing allocations Plan 2016 
 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006 - Saved Policies 
 Adopted Neighbourhood Plans: Alton, Bentley, Medstead & Four Marks, Ropley, 

Petersfield, Liss, and East Meon 
 Government advice and guidance contained in circulars, National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements 
 any other document specifically referred to in the report. 

Page 7

http://www.easthats.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
12 March 2020 

 
POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS FOR COMMITTEE / SITE VISIT 

 
 
 

No new major applications have been submitted since the previous agenda of 20 February 
2020.  Councillors may suggest possible future site visits under this item. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 11



 

PART 1 

 
 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE 

 

Applications to be determined by the 
Council as the Local Planning Authority 

 
12 March 2020 

 

SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 
   
Item No.: 1 
 

The information, recommendations, and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the final 
date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting. 

 
 

PROPOSAL Retirement living apartments with communal facilities and car parking 
following demolition of existing buildings  

LOCATION: Alton Magistrates Court, 25 Normandy Street, Alton, GU34 1DQ 

REFERENCE : 56420/001 PARISH: Alton 

APPLICANT:  McCarthy and Stone Retirement Lifestyles LTD 

CONSULTATION EXPIRY : 06 December 2019 

APPLICATION EXPIRY : 06 February 2020 

COUNCILLOR: Councillor P L Langley 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION 

 

This application has been included on the Agenda at the discretion of the Director of 
Regeneration and Place. 

Page 12



Site and Development 
 
Site 
 
The site is rectangular in plan form and extends to an area of approximately 0.55 ha.  It is 
surrounded by highways on three sides (Normandy Street, Knox Terrace and Orchard Lane) 
with a further access track (Nether Street) linking Normandy Street and Orchard Lane, 
bisecting the site.  The eastern section of the site is occupied by the vacant Alton Magistrate 
Court and Alton Police Station, which are two storey buildings separated by a parking area.  A 
further parking area is located to the west of Nether Street.  The site has a gentle slope 
downwards from the north and has boundaries comprising the existing buildings and brick 
boundary walls. 
 
There is a vehicular access into the site from Knox Terrace, approximately midway along the 
frontage, with a further pedestrian access from Normandy Street.  Access into the western car 
park is from Orchard Lane to the south. 
 
The site is within an area of mixed uses on the north-eastern edge of Alton Town Centre.  The 
site is within the Alton Neighbourhood Plan area and within Alton Conservation Area. 
 
Development 
 
The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the buildings occupying 
the site and their replacement with a development of 43 age restricted apartments.  The 
apartments would be sold on a leasehold basis, for persons over 60 years of age, or in the 
case of a couple one occupant over 60 and the other over 55.  The building would be 2 to 3 
storeys in scale and provide 19 x 1 bedroom apartments and 24 x 2 bedroom apartments.  In 
addition, communal facilities would be provided including: reception / manager’s office, 
homeowners lounge, guest suite and a mobility scooter store.  
 
The building would have an “I” shaped footprint in a similar position on the site to the existing 
buildings.  The frontage to Normandy Street would be two storeys in scale designed as a 
terrace of dwellings with a stepped roof profile, incorporating some small flat roofed dormers 
to serve some accommodation in the roofspace as well as chimneys.  With a fall in ground 
levels to the south, the scale increases to 3 full storeys along the Orchard Lane and Nether 
Street frontages. The building would be of a traditional design with elevations broken up 
through the use of stepped profiles projecting gables, balconies and changes in the material 
palette, shown as a mix of red and buff brick, render and vertical tile hanging. 
 
The car park to the west of Nether Street would be retained as a parking area to serve the 
development, utilising the access from Orchard Street, providing space for 43 vehicles, 
included 2 disabled persons spaces. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



Relevant Planning History 
 

56420 57 sheltered apartments for the elderly 
(comprising 34 x 1 bed and 23 x 2 bed 
apartments age restricted to 60 years and 
over); with associated access, 45 car parking 
spaces, electric buggy / cycles store, refuse bin 
store and a ground floor tea room / cafe 
following demolition of existing buildings. 

Withdrawn 

 
 
Development Plan Policies and Proposals 
 
The Draft version of the Local Plan (2017 -2036) was published under Regulation 18 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public 
consultation from 5 February to 19 March 2019. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2019) sets out 
the circumstances when emerging planning policies may be given weight in determining 
planning applications. Based on the current early stage of preparation, the draft Local Plan 
policies are currently afforded no weight.  
 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014) 
CP1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
CP2 -  Spatial Strategy 

CP10 -  Spatial strategy for housing 

CP12 -  Housing and extra care provision for the elderly 

CP13 -  Affordable housing on residential development sites 

CP16 -  Protection and provision of social infrastructure 

CP21 -  Biodiversity 

CP24 -  Sustainable construction 

CP25 -  Flood Risk 

CP27 -  Pollution 

CP29 -  Design 

CP30 -  Historic Environment 
CP31 -  Transport 
CP32 -  Infrastructure 
 

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006) 

C6 -  Tree Preservation 

H3 -  Residential Development within Settlement Policy Boundaries 

P7 -  Contaminated Land 

T3 -  Pedestrians and Cyclists 

TC3 -  Town and Village Centres 
 

Alton Neighbourhood Plan (2016) 
DE2 – Building Design and Town Character 
HO1 – Housing Mix on Development Sites  
HO2 – Storage Facilities for Household Waste 

Page 14



TR1 – Pedestrian Networks 

TR3 – Cycle Storage and Parking 

TR5 – Parking Provision and Standards 

 
Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) June 2019 
 
In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development; 
 
 1.  Introduction 
 2.  Achieving sustainable development  
 4.  Decision-making  
 5.  Delivering a sufficient supply of homes  
 7.  Ensuring the vitality of town centres  
 8.  Promoting healthy and safe communities  
 9.  Promoting sustainable transport  
11. Making effective use of land  
12.  Achieving well-designed places  
15.  Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
16. Conserving the historic environment 
 
 
Town Design Statement - Alton Town Design Statement - non statutory planning guidance 
that has been the subject of public consultation and therefore is a material planning 
consideration. 
 
Alton 2020 Town Plan 2005 
 
Holybourne Village Plan 2010 
 
 
Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments 
 
EHDC Arboricultural Officer – Objection is raised as it removes 7 trees that are subject to a 
Tree Preservation Order and add to the character to the Conservation Area that they stand in 
or adjacent to without good arboricultural reason. 
 
EHDC Conservation Officer – No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
EHDC Drainage Consultant – No objection in principle, subject to conditions 
 
EHDC Environmental Health (Pollution) – Expresses concern about noise levels in external 
amenity areas and balconies.  A condition requiring noise mitigation is requested. 
 

Page 15



EHDC Environmental Health (Contamination) – No objection subject to the imposition of 
conditions. 
 
EHDC Housing Officer - Support the approach of an off-site commuted sum to delivering the 
affordable housing obligation. 
 
EHDC Landscape Officer – Agree the landscaping proposal and tree planting plan. Although 
an objection raised to loss of the protected trees. 
 
EHDC Refuse and Recycling – Raise no objection to the development. 
 
EHDC Traffic Management – Comments that advice in the vehicle parking standard states as 
a starting point there should be one space per property and then space for visitors and staff, 
so more than 43 spaces would be expected. The number of disabled spaces seem quite low 
at 2.  
 
Hampshire Constabulary Crime Prevention Design Advisor – No comments received. 
 
HCC Archaeology – Comment that the proposed development would be located within an 
area already heavily impacted by the 1960s Magistrate’s Court and Police Station.  It is 
advised that the potential for as yet unrecorded archaeological features to be found within the 
development footprint to be negligible, therefore no archaeological issues are raised. 
 
HCC Drainage – No objection, subject to a condition. 
 
HCC Ecology – No objection. A condition to secure the ecological mitigation and 
enhancement measures detailed within the Mitigation and Enhancement plan (Abbas 
Ecology, December 2019) is requested. 
 
HCC Highways – No objection.  Conditions securing a construction method statement and the 
construction of the access are requested. 
 
NHS South East Hampshire CCG – No comments received. 
 
Scottish and Southern Energy – No comments received. 
 
South East Water – No comments received. 
 
Southern Gas Networks – No comments received. 
 
Thames Water – No objection in terms of foul water infrastructure capacity.  A condition 
relating to piling and an informative relating to public sewers are requested.  
 
Alton Town Council – Alton Town Council welcomes the application for the redevelopment of 
this site which has been derelict since 2014, however it has to  
 OBJECT for the following material reasons: 

Page 16



 
 1. The Town Council is concerned that 5 apartments do not comply with the National Space 
Standards and are not Lifetime Homes Compliant, (4, 7, 11, 21 and 28). This is in direct 
contravention of the JCS CP29 Design. 
 
 2. No affordable homes are included, and the Planning Statement argues instead for a 
Commuted Sum of £559,491.62. This is wholly unacceptable to the Town Council and it is 
contrary to JC Strategy 2014 ("JCS") CP13. A revised scheme with a separate block of 
affordable housing, which could include starter homes for young people would overcome the 
barrier to affordable housing on this site caused by the on-going management fees and the 
age restriction. 
 
 3. The proposed development does not comply with the requirements of Policy TR5 of the 
Alton Neighbourhood Plan and whilst accepting its town centre location, it is deemed that a 
more creative solution for parking can be achieved to improve the quantum of parking. 
 
4. The site is in Flood Zone 1, but the southern half of the site is shown to be potentially 
susceptible to surface water flooding. As with any development at this location it will generate 
increased run-off, which must be attenuated on site and not increase flood risk elsewhere. 
Conditions will be required to ensure that any potential for increasing run off exacerbating 
flooding in the area are strictly complied with and the applicant will be required to provide 
detailed plans showing the flood flow routes for an exceedance event and a maintenance 
management plan, based on the final drainage design. 
 
 5. The lack of solar panels proposed will not comply with the requirements of the 2020 Future 
Home Standards legislation for sustainability for development and needs to be addressed to 
ensure that it does conform in totality given the Climate Emergency declared by the local 
planning authority as well as the Town Council. 
 
 6. The ridge heights of the development fronting Normandy Street are considered excessive 
and demonstrates a lack of uniformity with the ridge heights of not only the neighbouring 
properties but also those in the vicinity of this gateway entrance to the town. 
 
 7. The Town Council strongly endorses the comments made by the EHDC Ecologist and 
would seek the planning authorities assistance in insisting on the inclusion of common swift 
nesting boxes and bat roosting features such as modified tiles. 
 
 
Representations 
 
55 letters of representation have been received to the application, which object to the 
proposal on the following grounds as summarised below: 
 

a) Alton has sufficient retirement properties, no more are needed; 
b) impact on health facilities; 
c) low cost / affordable housing for the younger population is needed; 

Page 17



d) Community, retail and social facilities should be provided; 
e) lack of any element of affordable housing; 
f) design is poor on this gateway site and does not fit with surrounding properties; 
g) visitor / staff car parking is lacking; 
h) lack of sustainable construction elements in the design; 
i) loss of protected trees; 
j) overlooking of the Chapel opposite the site; 
k) lack of adequate amenity space; 
l) certain units are not Lifetime Homes compliant; 
m) building should be re-orientated to a south facing “U” shape and, 
n) lack of consideration for heritage assets 

 
5 letters have been received which support the application for the following reasons: 

 
 i. Development would remove an eyesore 
ii. Convenient location for town 
iii. Would provide economic opportunities for the area 
iv. Existing buildings are a blot on the landscape. 
v. Development of a brownfield site. 
vi. Enable residents to be close to family and friends. 
vii. The site is goof for elderly accommodation as it has easy access to shops and  
  facilities. 

 
 
Determining Issues 
 
1. Principle of development. 
2. Affordable housing and viability. 
3. Siting, design and visual impact. 
4. Impact on the setting of the Conservation Area and Listed Buildings. 
5. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties. 
6. Access and parking arrangement. 
7. Trees 
8. Drainage 
9. Ecology 
10. Planning obligations. 
11. Other issues. 
 
Planning Considerations  
 
1. Principle of development. 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning 
applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless other 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  This requirement is reinforced by paragraph 2 of 
the NPPF.   

Page 18



For this area of East Hampshire, the development plan comprises the East Hampshire District 
Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014), the saved policies of the East Hampshire District 
Local Plan: Second Review (2006) and the Alton Neighbourhood Plan.  Since these are 
adopted documents, they carry full weight in the decision-making process. 
 
Settlement Policy Boundary 
 

The EHDLP: 2nd Review (as saved) defines the Settlement Policy Boundary in this location 
and identifies the application site as falling within the Settlement Policy Boundary (SPB) for 
Alton.  Policies CP1 of the Joint Core Strategy and saved policy H3 of the Local Plan Second 
Review permit sustainable development within the settlement policy boundary.  Policy CP2 
(Spatial Strategy) of the JCS directs new development growth and seeks to make the best 
use of previously developed land and buildings within existing built up areas.  Policy CP10 (2) 
(Spatial Strategy for Housing) seeks the provision of new dwellings within defined settlement 
policy boundaries of towns and villages where it is consistent with maintaining and enhancing 
their character and quality of life to meet the housing provision requirements of the 
development plan.   
 
Policy CP12 of the JCS seeks to provide for housing for the elderly on sites which are in 
locations to suit the needs of the elderly.   
 
Since the site is located within the SPB and is within easy reach of the facilities and services 
offered by Alton, the principle of residential development on the site would be in accordance 

with the aims of Policies CP2, CP10 and CP12 of the JCS and H3 of the EHDLP: 2nd 
Review, subject to consideration against all other policies of the development plan, as 
discussed below. 
 
Town Centre 
 
The site is within the Alton Town Centre boundary where Policy CP8 (Town and Village 
Facilities and Services) seeks to maintain and improve the vitality and viability of the District’s 
town centres to provide for new retail, leisure, entertainment and cultural facilities.  The 
current use of the site as a police station / magistrates court, although town centre type uses, 
do not provide any real contribution to the vitality and viability of the area, and these uses 
have relocated elsewhere.  As such the proposal is not considered to conflict with the aims of 
this policy. 
 
Loss of Community Facilities 
 
The loss of land and buildings in public service use is protected through Policy CP16 of the 
JCS, which only permits the loss of such uses where two criteria are met: 

a) the facility is no longer required and alternative facilities are easily accessible for the 
community they are intended to serve; 

b) it can be demonstrated through a rigorous marketing exercise that the use is no longer 
viable and that all reasonable efforts have been made to retain it and that there is no 
alternative use that would provide a beneficial facility to the local community. 

Page 19



The application is supported by an Economic and Marketing Statement (JLL: December 
2019) which seeks to justify the loss of the buildings to a non-community use.  The Statement 
advises that the Magistrates Court and Police Station are assets that the Ministry of Justice 
and Police Crime Commissioner have deemed to be surplus to requirements, with the 
buildings vacant.  The Courts closed in December 2014 and the Police Station in May 2017, 
with the police functions relocated to Southampton, Basingstoke and Portsmouth and the 
Courts to Aldershot and Basingstoke.  As such it is considered that criterion (a) is met. 
 
The Statement also details the marketing which has been undertaken on the site by JLL from 
October 2014 to February 2019.  This seeks to demonstrate that all reasonable efforts have 
been made to support a community facility before a residential use is considered.  The 
information shows that the site was initially released in e-pims to make government bodies 
aware before its disposal on the open market.  Marketing of the site commenced in November 
2015, including display of a marketing board and posting on various websites.  The marketing 
generated considerable interest, following which expressions of interest were requested by 
way of informal tender in February 2016.  This resulted in 15 bids from largely residential 
developers, narrowing down to 2 bids from retirement sector providers following the EU 
Referendum.   
 
From the Statement, JLL were instructed to remarket the site to the full market as per the 
agreed marketing strategy set out above with bids invited on 30th November 2018.  This was 
following the withdrawal of the previous application (56420) by Renaissance Retirement.  At 
this time 7 bids were received, all from care / retirement home providers.   
 
The submitted information is considered to be a comprehensive statement and is considered 
to meet criterion (b) of Policy CP16. 
 
To conclude, the site constitutes a brownfield site within the Settlement Policy Boundary of 
Alton.  Sufficient evidence has been produced in support of the loss of the existing community 
facilities on the site, therefore the principle of residential development on this site is therefore 
in accordance with Policies CP1, CP2, CP10 and CP16 of the JCS. 
 
2. Affordable Housing 
 
Policy CP13 of the JCS seeks the provision of affordable housing on all residential 
development sites.  The development is a C3 Use, albeit restricted to residents over the age 
of 60, thus the development is required to provide 40% of the units as affordable.  With a 
development of 43 units this equates to 17.2 affordable units.  The policy requires this 
provision to be provided on-site.    
 
The applicant has provided an Affordable Housing Statement which proposes that the 
affordable housing is provided through an off-site contribution, since due to the special 
characteristics of development, such as service charges and maintenance arrangements, it 
would make a mixed tenure development unattractive to registered providers.  In addition, the 
applicant advises that the site is too small to accommodate two separate blocks with the 
requisite facilities, such that the provision is impractical to be made on-site.  

Page 20



The Council's Housing Officer has commented that the proposal triggers an affordable 
housing contribution to provide a minimum of 40% affordable housing to comply with CP13 of 
the JCS.  
 
The Housing Officer has advised that the number of applicants registered on Hampshire 
Home Choice that require 'sheltered’ accommodation with a local connection to Alton is 
currently; 

1 bedroomed - 105 
2 bedroomed - 2 
3 bedroomed - 0 
4 bedroomed - 0 
Total - 107 

 
Although there is a high number of applicants registered, it can be difficult for the Housing 
department to find a suitable tenant for the existing sheltered schemes in Alton. This has 
resulted in prolonged void periods or a very low number of bids for a property (typically 
between 1 and 5).  Applicants with a local connection to Alton can be re-housed in a very 
short time due to the existing sheltered provision and the Housing Officer advises that there is 
no requirement for additional sheltered apartments. 
 
Anecdotally older persons tend to require a specific type of accommodation that is suitable for 
their individual needs, or require accommodation in a particular location, close to support 
networks.  Furthermore, development at Cadnam Farm, Anstey Gardens and Will Hall Farm 
will deliver on-site affordable housing with no age restrictions.  Applicants highlighted in the 
figures above will be able to apply to live in these properties if they wish to do so. 
 
Some of the local sheltered schemes in Alton include; 
 

Orchard House - (88X1&2BF Radian HA) 
Inwood Court - (29X1BF Sanctuary HA) 
Fielders Court - (25x1&2BF Hanover HA) 
Gilmour Gardens - (26 1&2BB Radian HA) 
Alpha Cottages - (4x1BB Radian HA) 
Boyneswood Road - (6X1&2BB Radian HA) 
Eastbrooke Road - (11x2BB Radian) 
Edward Road - (8x1BF Radian HA) 
Nursery Road - (13X1&2BF Radian) 

 
CP13 allows for affordable housing contributions to be negotiated on a site by site basis and 
the Housing Officer advises that it would be more suitable for an off-site affordable housing 
contribution in the form of a commuted sum and this approach to delivering the affordable 
housing obligation is supported. 
 
The applicant proposes a financial contribution of £559,491.62.  This has been calculated on 
the following basis, using the methodology set out within the SPD, with an adjustment for 
vacant building credit. 

Page 21



Gross financial contribution 
 

 GIA 3,717.96 sqm x £410.39 / sqm = £1,525,813.60 
 
This is then adjusted for Vacant Building Credit on the basis of the following percentage, as 
set out in the NPPG: 

 Existing GIA 2,388.49 / Proposed GIA 3,717.96 = 64.24% 
 
Thus the contribution should be 100% - 64.24% = 35.76% of the total figure. 
 
Therefore applicant calculates the contribution as: £1,525,813.60 x 0.3576 = £545,630.94 
 
The Local Planning Authority has checked the applicant’s floorspace figures for the existing 
and proposed buildings.  The only figure which has altered is the indexation for the financial 
contribution figure, which is now £433.74.  The figure within the legal agreement would need 
to be based on a formula relating to the Council’s indexed rate at the time of first occupation. 
 
The calculation, at present, is therefore as follows: 3,717.96 x £433.74 x 0.3576% = 
£576,675.73 
 
This contribution would need to be secured through a legal agreement, with the actual 
contribution figure indexed according to the SPD. 
 
3. Siting, design and visual impact. 
 
Policy CP29 (Design) requires the District’s built environment to be of an exemplary standard 
of design and architecture that respects the character, context and identity of the area.  
Proposals should harmonise with the townscape and the general character of the town or 
village in which it is set and that it easily assimilates into the landscape or is well related to a 
group of buildings. Policy DE2 of the Neighbourhood Plan requires development to seek 
exemplary standards of design and architecture with a high quality external appearance that 
respects the characteristics of its setting.  Issues relating to the setting of Alton Conservation 
and neighbouring listed buildings are considered in Section 4 below. 
 
The site is occupied by buildings which housed Alton Magistrates Court and Police Station, 
although have been vacant for some time.  The buildings were constructed in the 1970’s and 
are not considered to be attractive or of any architectural merit and are viewed as being out of 
keeping with the character and appearance of the area.  The buildings are considered to have 
a ‘negative’ visual impact on the area and, as such, their demolition is not contested.  The site 
therefore affords an opportunity to provide a development that more properly knits into the 
local area. 
 
The drawings show that the building would be 2 to 3 storeys in scale and provide 19 x 1 
bedroom apartments and 24 x 2 bedroom apartments.  In addition, communal facilities would 
be provided including: reception / manager’s office, homeowners lounge, guest suite and a 
mobility scooter store.  

Page 22



The building would have an “I” shaped footprint in a similar position on the site to the existing 
buildings.  The frontage to Normandy Street would be two storeys in scale designed as a 
terrace of dwellings with a stepped roof profile, incorporating some small flat roofed dormers 
to serve some accommodation in the roofspace as well as chimneys.  With a fall in ground 
levels to the south, the scale increases to 3 full storeys along the Orchard Lane and Nether 
Street frontages. The building would be of a traditional design with elevations broken up 
through the use of stepped profiles projecting gables, balconies and changes in the material 
palette, shown as a mix of red and buff brick, render and vertical tile hanging. 
 
An assessment of the surrounding area informs that a key characteristic along Normandy 
Street and the Alton Conservation Area is the graduations of scale and form that help to 
create the sense of place and informs the built quality and character of Alton.  These 
graduations tend to fluctuate from 2 to 2.5 storeys, providing variety in the roofscape, which 
should be reflected in any development along the frontage of Normandy Street.   
 
The proposed development, in effect, shows a traditional terrace of dwellings along the 
Normandy Street frontage, of 2 storey scale, with small dormers in the roofslope serving two 
of the units.  A stepped roofline broken by party wall feature details helps to create the 
fluctuating rooflines that is characterful of the area.   The building would be set back from the 
pavement by around 3 – 4 metres, with small front garden areas enclosed by 1.2m high 
vertical railings.  As such the building would be in keeping with the character of Normandy 
Street. 
   
The north-eastern frontage to Orchard Street would include a resident’s garden area, with 
dimensions of 25 x 16 metres enclosed by a railings and shrub planting, beyond which a 
grassed landscape buffer to the highway would be provided.  The building would increase in 
scale from the 2 storey element fronting Normandy Street, to 3 full storeys to the south-east.  
It is noted that ground levels fall across the site to the east, with the highway at a higher level, 
such that from Orchard Street the building would appear as just over two storeys in scale, the 
ground floor largely obscured from views due to the level changes.  The façade along this 
frontage is of some significant scale, although it has been broken visually with steps in the 
profile, differing materials and a gable projection.  Balconies and projecting bays would also 
assist in reducing the massing of the building, such that it would appear visually acceptable 
within the street scene.  
 
The development would retain the current open space to the south-east of the built form, with 
the trees along Orchard Street maintained, providing an open setting along this frontage 
enclosed by a hedge and metal railings. 
 
The main entrance into the development would be from Nether Street.  Whilst normally one 
may expect the main entrance into the building to front the principal road, in this instance the 
parking area would be directly opposite the entrance, thus this has some logic to it.  The 
building is stepped in plan form, with set backs from the footway of between 3 and 14 metres.  
A landscaped garden area would be provided to the entrance, with 1.2 metre vertical railings 
adjacent to the footway.   

Page 23



Overall the set back and massing of the building would provide more of an open feel than with 
the current building and would provide an acceptable siting and scale along Nether Street.   
 
In terms of elevational treatment, the Conservation Officer notes that the design approach is 
considered appropriate given the relationship to surrounding development.  It is helped that 
the blocks are read as distinct individual properties rather than one large monolithic block and 
advises that the development would represent somewhat of an improvement on the existing 
landscaping and buildings that currently exist.   Based on the street elevations, the 
Conservation Officer is satisfied that the buildings are of an appropriate scale and mass.  
 
Landscaping  
 
The application is supported by landscape plan which shows the strategic landscape details 
for the development including tree, shrub and hedge planting as well as boundary treatments.  
The Council’s Landscape Officer has agreed to the landscape proposals plan, in principle, 
and recommends a condition is imposed to secure full planting details, to ensure that species 
are planted in appropriate locations, eg no prickly shrubs adjacent to car parking spaces.  It is 
also noted that the Landscape Officer objects to the removal of the protected silver birch 
trees, which is discussed in more detail in section 7 below. 
 
Standard of accommodation 
 
Policy CP29 of the JCS states that the District’s built environment must be of an exemplary 
standard and highly appealing in terms of visual appearance. All new development will be 
required to respect the character, identity and context of the district’s towns, villages and 
countryside and must help to create places where people want to live, work and visit.  
Paragraph 7.73 of the justification text to this policy states: 
 
‘In addition, the Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (CABE), now 
incorporated into the Design Council, has produced a Building for Life standard that sets out 
20 criteria for achieving good design. This provides a useful guide for developers on the 
standards that are now expected and what factors are considered when assessing design. 
The criteria are not exhaustive nor meant to be regarded as providing a ceiling to innovation. 
Rather they are seen as helping to provide a framework for assessment that may be of 
assistance in meeting the requirements of the policy’. 
 
Paragraph 7.74 of the justification text to policy CP29 states the following: 
 
‘Future developments must be fit for purpose for many years and meet the changing 
circumstances and needs of everyone.’ 
 
The 17 core principles of the NPPF includes the following core principle: 

 always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing 
and future occupants of land and buildings; 

 

Page 24



The DCLG Technical Housing Standards state that a 1 bed/2 person (single storey) 

residential dwelling should have a minimum gross internal area (GIA) of 50m2 and a 2 bed/3 

person dwelling 61 m2. 
 

The GIA of the 1 bedroom units ranges from 44.59 to 54.15 m2 and the 2 bedroom units from 

72.98 to 78.49 m2.  It is noted that 5 of the 1 bed units at 44.59 m2 are below the 50 m2 
recommended standards.   
 
Assessment of the units shows that although many of the flats would be single aspect, the 
main living area and bedrooms would be served by their own windows and all would have a 
reasonable outlook towards open areas.  The 5 one bedroom flats which fall below the 
floorspace standards (units 4, 7, 11, 21 and 24) have a floorspace of 44.59m2, and an 
assessment of the internal area of these units shows that they would all have a separate 
bedroom (3.4 x 2.8 m), lounge (4.7 x 3.6m), kitchen (2.4 x 2.2m) and bathroom (2.2 x 1.7 m), 
with dual open aspects.  Whilst below the standards, the level of accommodation provided 
appears to be of a reasonable size to provide an acceptable standard of living.  It is noted that 
the Joint Core Strategy does not contain minimum dwelling sizes.   
 
Communal areas of open space would be provided both within the building, in the form of a 
72.66 m2 resident’s lounge, as well as a communal outside amenity area.  Some ground floor 
units have small private terraces, with balconies to some of the first and second floor units.  
 
As such it is considered that the development would be acceptable in terms of providing an 
acceptable standard of living accommodation for future residents.  
 
Design Conclusions  
 
Overall, the siting, design, scale and landscaping are considered to be in keeping with the 
character and appearance of the area and would provide acceptable living conditions for 
future occupiers of the building.  In consequence, the development is considered to be of an 
acceptable design and in accordance with Policy CP29 of the Joint Core Strategy, Policy DE2 
of the Neighbourhood Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
4. Impact on the setting of the Conservation Area and Listed Buildings. 
 
The car parking area to the west of the buildings is within Alton Conservation Area, with the 
site of the replacement building adjacent to the boundary affecting its setting.  There are also 
listed buildings near to the site, thus an assessment will need to be made as to the impact the 
development would have on their setting. 
 
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed 
building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary of 
State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 

Page 25



Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
planning authorities, when considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a Conservation Area, to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character and appearance of that area. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the policies that the Council must 
take into account when determining planning applications. The ‘Historic Environment Good 
Practice Advice in Planning Note 2’, states at paragraph 4:   
‘The significance of a heritage asset is the sum of its archaeological, architectural, historic, 
and artistic interest’ and provides at paragraphs 8, 9 and 10 that in order for the Local 
Planning Authority to make decisions in line with legal requirements, the objectives of the 
development plan; and, the policy requirements of the NPPF, great importance is placed on 
understanding the nature, extent and level of the significance of the heritage asset. 
 
The revised NPPF sets out in Chapter 16, the core principles relating to development 
affecting Heritage Assets that local planning authorities should consider in making planning 
decisions in the following paragraphs: 

 184. Heritage assets range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of the 
highest significance, such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally recognised to 
be of Outstanding Universal Value. These assets are an irreplaceable resource, and 
should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations. 

 189. In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to 
describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made 
by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and 
no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their 
significance. As a minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been 
consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where 
necessary. Where a site on which development is proposed includes, or has the potential 
to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning authorities should 
require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where 
necessary, a field evaluation. 

 190. Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of 
any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting 
the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any 
necessary expertise. They should take this into account when considering the impact of a 
proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage 
asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal.  

 191. Where there is evidence of deliberate neglect of, or damage to, a heritage asset, the 
deteriorated state of the heritage asset should not be taken into account in any decision.  

 192. In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of:  
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and  

Page 26



c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness. 
Considering potential impacts  

 193. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and 
the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of 
whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 
substantial harm to its significance. 

 194. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its 
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and 
convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:  

a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be 
exceptional;  
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck 
sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered 
parks and gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional  

 
Local Plan Policies 
 
Policy CP29 of the Joint Core Strategy states that proposals should harmonise with the 
townscape and the general character of the town or village in which it is set and that it easily 
assimilates into the landscape or is well related to a group of buildings. 
 
Policy CP30 of the Joint Core Strategy states that development proposals must conserve 
and, where possible, enhance the District’s historic environment. This includes point c) which 
seeks to: 
‘Conserve, enhance, maintain and manage the district’s heritage assets and their setting 
including listed buildings, conservation areas, Scheduled Ancient Monuments, archaeological 
sites and Historic Parks and Gardens.’ 
 
Saved Policy HE12 states that development which harms the setting of a listed building will 
not be permitted 
 
The Council’s Conservation Officer notes that the buildings were constructed in the 1970’s as 
part of the town’s new police station complex and could be considered to be unattractive and 
out of keeping with the character of the adjacent Conservation Area.  The Conservation 
Officer considers that It is my view that the buildings have a ‘negative’ impact on the area and 
as such the principle of demolition would not be contested. The site therefore affords an 
opportunity to provide a development that knits into the local area. 
 
The application proposals have evolved over several iterations.  One of the key 
characteristics along Normandy Street and the Alton Conservation Area are the graduations 
of scale and form that help create the sense of place in the conservation area. This tends to 
fluctuate from 2 to 2.5 storeys.  It appears from the submission that the Normandy Street 
elevation reflects the historic character and scale of the adjacent conservation area. 
 

Page 27



The site levels also show that the 3-storey element of the site would not overly dominate the 
listed United Reform Church and Knox Terrace on the opposite side of Orchard Lane. Lower 
land levels within the site have been used to allow for a taller structure on the site.  
 
In general, the design approach is considered appropriate given the relationship to 
surrounding development. It is helped that the blocks are read as distinct individual properties 
rather than one large monolithic block.  The new development would represent somewhat of 
an improvement on the existing landscaping and buildings that currently exist. 
 
Based on the street elevations, the Conservation Officer is satisfied that the buildings are of 
an appropriate scale and mass.  New landscaping would greatly improve the environment 
around the buildings and the street scene in this part of Alton.  Access and car parking will 
remain in their current location, in the south-west corner of the site. 
 
However, the quality of materials and fine detail of the elevations are essential to the success 
of the scheme, therefore it is suggested that more detailed plans be provided at this stage to 
show all architectural features such as window detailing, louvres, brick bond etc, rather than 
to be agreed by condition at a later stage (should permission be granted).  It should be noted 
that details of materials have been outlined within the plans and the Conservation Officer 
advises that at this stage that the quality of these materials is disappointing. They lack any 
real quality for such a sensitive site. 
 
In general, the proposed scheme is considered to preserve the appearance of the 
Conservation Area. Given the scale, design, distance and degree of separation from the 
nearby listed buildings, the proposals are not considered to have a detrimental impact on their 
setting and any features of special architectural or historic interest which they possess. 
 
For these reasons the Conservation Officer raises no objection.  If further details are not 
submitted, then conditions are requested relating to: 

1. Sample materials.   
2. Sample panel of brickwork. 
3. Details of the siting and design of any proposed external meter boxes/metal 

ducting/flues, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the commencement of development.  

4. Detailed landscaping proposals submitted 
 
In terms of archaeology, the County Archaeologist has advised that development would be 
located within an area already heavily impacted by the 1960s Magistrate’s Court and Police 
Station.  Therefore, the potential for as yet unrecorded archaeological features to be found 
within the development footprint to be negligible, therefore no archaeological issues are 
raised. 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



For the reasons set out above, the application would preserve the character and appearance 
of Alton Conservation Area and the setting of the neighbouring Listed Buildings, thus is in 
accordance with the aims of S.66 and S.72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Policy CP30 of the Joint Core Strategy and Government 
advice in the NPPF. 
 
5. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties. 
 
Policy CP27 of the JCS seeks to resist development which would have an unacceptable 
effect on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of privacy or 
excessive overshadowing.  This is supplemented by Policy CP29 which seeks to ensure 
development is appropriate in its relationship to adjoining buildings and spaces around 
buildings. 
 
The application site is bounded on three sides by highways, with development fronting 
Normandy Street to the north-west around 14 metres from the street elevation.  The 
separation distance between the building is similar to that between the frontage of those 
further down Normandy Street with public access along the street.  The separation distances 
to properties fronting Orchard Lane is between 22 and 40 metres to dwellings in Orchard 
House in excess of the 21 metre standards and are sufficient to ensure the outlook, privacy, 
daylight and other residential amenities of neighbouring properties are not harmfully affected. 
 
Normandy House, located to the south-west of Nether Street, is a 2 ½ storey building in office 
use.  There are ground, first and second floor windows in the north-eastern side elevation 
serving this property.  The current two storey building is located between 8 and 12 metres 
from this property and has no windows in this flank elevation.  The proposal would move the 
footprint of the building slightly away from this neighbouring building at around 9 metres, with 
the main element approximately 18 metres from the side elevation.  The closest element of 
the new building would serve a stairwell, with no windows facing this neighbouring property, 
with the main element further away, improving the aspect for occupiers of this property.    
 
The ground floor of 23 Normandy Street is in use as a barber’s shop, with a residential flat 
(21A) to the first floor.  To the rear is a further residential property (23B) accessed from 
Nether Street.  This property has windows in its side elevation.  The proposal in the vicinity of 
this neighbouring dwelling would been on a similar footprint and at 2 storeys, be a similar 
scale to the existing building.  As such, the scale and massing of the proposed building would 
be similar in terms of outlook.  The proposed building would have windows serving kitchens at 
ground and first floor level facing this site.  Therefore, to prevent mutual overlooking between 
dwellings it is recommended that these windows be obscure glazed below 1.7m above 
finished floor level.  As side hung casements, any views when open would be directed 
sideways along the footway.  
 
 
 
 

Page 29



The Council's Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the acoustic report dated 8 October 
2019 Ref: 19276/001B/pm produced by AAD and originally expressed concern that a number 
of apartments located on the north-western façade along Normandy Street and a small 
section close to the roundabout on Orchard Road would be affected by high levels of road 
traffic noise.  Supplementary information was supplied which confirms that the applicant 
intends to provide full mechanical ventilation heat recovery (MVHR) systems throughout the 
proposed development so that windows will not be required to be opened for ventilation.  The 
EHO recommends that the design of such a system should take into account potential 
overheating of the worse affected apartments with a fully automated summer bypass being 
considered by the applicant to protect the health and wellbeing of future occupants of the 
proposed development.  As such, the EHO confirms that this addresses the concerns 
regarding this matter, and recommends that a condition requiring a MVHR system together 
with the mitigation measures detailed in the acoustic report dated 8 October 2019 Ref: 
19276/001B/pm. 
 
The EHO has also raised a concern that limited information has been provided on external 
noise levels within the proposed private gardens and balconies across all storeys of the most 
affected façade and in external amenity space.  In particular, the EHO has concerns that by 
providing doors onto private gardens and balconies, it is likely that residents may bypass the 
noise mitigation measures to provide acceptable internal noise levels, by opening doors 
during good weather.   
 
Officers note the concerns of the EHO, however, it must be remembered that this is a town 
centre location, where some traffic noise may be expected.  In addition, it would be for the 
occupants of the dwelling to self regulate and close doors if they found traffic noise an issue, 
thus is a personal decision in purchasing such an apartment.  To remove all balconies and 
external doors from facades facing onto roads in such locations would be unreasonable, and 
could result in poor external design whereby blank facades would be provided if the EHO 
concerns where following, which would not be in the best visual interests of the street scene.  
For these reasons the provision of balconies on the facades is considered to be acceptable.   
 
The proposal would not, therefore, have an acceptable relationship with the neighbouring 
properties, to accord with policies CP27 and CP29 of the JCS. 
 
6. Access and Parking Arrangements. 
 
The site is currently served via two vehicular accesses: the first from Orchard Lane to the east 
of the site serving the former police station, and the second from the southern section of 
Orchard Lane providing access into a car park for both the police station and courts.  A 
pedestrian footpath, Nether Street, crosses the site linking Orchard Lane to Normandy Street 
bisecting the buildings from the car park to the east.    
 
The development would stop up the current access to the police station from Orchard Lane, 
with the sole access to the site being from Orchard Lane to the south utilising the existing 
access into the car park.  Nether Street would be retained as a public footpath, with the main 
access into the building from this route.   

Page 30



Car parking for 43 vehicles would be provided within the existing car parking area.  A footway 
would be maintained around the perimeter of the site. 
 
Accessibility 
 
The site is located near the Town Centre and has a range of facilities as presented in 
Table 1 of the Transport Statement in close proximity.  The site is split by a public footpath, 
Nether Street which also provides vehicular access from Normandy Street to adjacent 
properties. The footpath is narrow in places, particularly to the southern section.  The Local 
Highway Authority advise that it is in the gift of the applicant to widen this footway to provide 
better connectivity for modes from the site to the centre of Alton and beyond and should be 
explored further by the applicant. 
 
Personal Injury Accident (PIA) data 
 
The Local Highway Authority has confirmed that it accepts the scope and the range of the PIA 
data and is satisfied that the recorded PIA data does not show any trends which will be 
exacerbated by this development. 
 
Access 
 
The development proposes to use the existing vehicular access from Orchard Lane to the car 
park, which is in the form of a priority bellmouth junction.  Following concerns from the Local 
Highway Authority that the width of the internal access road may not allow two vehicles to 
pass one another, the applicant submitted a swept path drawing, 034.0127.006 Rev A, which 
shows that a large car can wait off the public highway whilst a vehicle egresses the site and 
vice versa. The Local Highway Authority has confirmed that this has addressed their concern 
that vehicles would overhang or have to reverse on to the public highway.  It is also noted that 
there would be a net reduction in trips associated from this development than the existing use 
and therefore the risk of two cars meeting is reduced. 
 
The secondary vehicular access close to the Normandy Street/Orchard Lane roundabout 
would be closed and converted into a footway, to continue the 2 metre wide footway around 
the site.  The applicant has confirmed this would be acceptable, and the applicant will be 
required to enter into a Section 278 agreement with the Highway Authority to secure these 
works to the public highway. It is recommended that an informative to the applicant is made in 
this regard.  
 
Trip Generation 
 
The applicant has presented an existing trip rate for the current development site and a trip 
rate for the proposed development site.  Both trip rates have derived from the TRICS 
database which is an industry standard tool.  The existing trip rates have been based on B1 
office use and the applicant has stated that these are acceptable due to the administrative 
nature of the former use.  The Local Highway Authority does not agree with the applicant and 
office use is not appropriate to use for the total floor area.   

Page 31



It is acknowledged that TRICS database does not contain magistrate court and police station 
trip rates and due to the closure of this site, surveys cannot be undertaken.  The proposed 
two-way vehicular trip rates are acceptable.  It is acknowledged that the proposed land use 
has different peak hour for two-way trips than the traditional AM and PM peaks. 
 
The applicant has produced Table 9 which shows the Net Impact of both sites which suggests 
that there will be 22 less two-way trips in both AM and PM peaks and 136 less vehicular two-
way trips across an average day.  As above, the existing trip rates are not considered 
appropriate, however the Local Highway Authority is satisfied that the extant use of the site 
would give rise to a higher number of trips than the proposed.  
 
With regard to the above, the Local Highway Authority is satisfied that the proposed 
development will not result in an increase in vehicular trips on the local highway network and 
therefore is acceptable. 
 
Parking  
 
The development would provide a total of 43 parking spaces to serve the 43 residential units, 
2 of these spaces would be disabled bays.  In addition, the main building includes a mobility 
scooter store, which has also been stated would include provision for cycle storage.  No 
provision is made for electric vehicle charging points. 
 
The adopted minimum parking standards for this site are currently as set out within Policy 
TR5 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan.  As a C3 Use, the development will be expected to 
provide:  
 1 bedroom dwellings: 1 parking space 
 2 and 3 bedroom dwellings: 2 parking spaces 
 Visitor parking at a minimum of one space per two dwellings. 
 Communal, unallocated off-street parking for eight or more dwellings, the minimum 

standard for 2 bedroom dwellings and above may be reduced by one space per four 
dwellings 

 Non-residential uses negotiated on a case by case basis  
 
The Town Council's Guidance note (August 2017) on application of TR5 for homes 
considered ‘retirement homes’ or homes with age restrictions for occupancy can fall within 
C2, C3 or even sui generis use classes. If C3 use, Policy TR5 applies.  If a non C3 use class, 
proposals will be considered on a case by case basis, but Policy TR5 is considered the 
starting point.  The development is a C3 Use thus it is clear Policy TR5 applies to this 
development. 
 
Full compliance with Policy TR5 would require: 
 Residents: 19 x 1 + 24 x 2 = 67 spaces 
 Visitors: 43/2 = 22 spaces 
 Manager = 1 space 
 Total Requirement = 90 spaces. 
 

Page 32



The Town Council's Guidance note also advises that if a site is particularly accessible with 
good public transport, whilst Policy TR5 applies and the standards in Policy TR5 are the 
starting point, consideration of these criteria as part of the planning balance may mean that a 
reduction in parking standards is appropriate. 
 
The Council has adopted a Vehicle Parking Standards SPD which advises that as a starting 
point, it is likely that retirement homes (for example, homes for the over 55s/60s) will need to 
provide at least one parking space per home, subject to location (for example, rural) and 
accessibility by public transport, with additional space for visitors and staff.  Where the type of 
housing involves more care and less likely travelling by car of residents, the amount of 
parking likely to be needed by residents may be less, however, more parking for staff may be 
required. Consideration should be given to the provision and allocation of disabled parking, 
recognising that a higher proportionate may be appropriate than the standard for dwelling 
houses.  
 
The EHDC Traffic Management Team has commented that advice in the vehicle parking 
standard states as a starting point there should be one space per property and then space for 
visitors and staff, so more than 43 spaces would be expected. The number of disabled 
spaces seems quite low at 2. 
 
The Local Highway Authority has commented that parking is a function of the Local Planning 
Authority. The Highway Authority note that the parking officer has stated that an additional 
number of spaces should be provided. The Highway Authority only comment on the level of 
parking provision if the LPA raises concerns which could result in overspill onto the local 
highway network.  The applicant proposes 43 spaces which provides one space per flat. 
EHDC parking standards requires a further 9 visitor parking spaces to be provided. The 
Highway Authority is satisfied that two public car parks, Victoria Road and Rogers Court, are 
a suitable distance away that could accommodate visitor provision and therefore will not result 
in parking on the local highway network. 
 
In assessing the parking provision for the development in light of the above comments, it is 
noted that the development would be restricted to occupation by over 60's, or in the case of a 
couple one over 60 and the other over 55.  There is no care package provided as part of the 
service package, thus these units would be occupied by elderly persons who are relatively 
active.  Therefore, there is a high likelihood that such residents are likely to own a vehicle.  In 
practice, however, it is likely that such not all residents in such development would own a car, 
indeed the applicant has advised that the take-up of spaces for 1 bed units in such schemes 
is about 1 space per 2 of the 1 bed units and one space per 2 bed unit, with spaces allocated 
on a waiting list system.  In addition, space for around 10 buggies would be provided in a 
secure store which would offset parking for some of the units.  Therefore, the practical parking 
requirement would be: 19 x 0.5 spaces + 1 x 24 spaces = 34 spaces for residents, which 
would allow 1 space for a manager and 8 spaces for visitors. 
 
As such, the quantum of parking proposed for this development is considered to be 
acceptable.  With the availability of a public car park adjacent for visitors to supplement this 
on-site provision, the development is unlikely to result in on-street parking issues.   

Page 33



The applicant has advised that 4 electric vehicle charging points would be provided initially, 
with ducting provided to the car parking to allow future expansion.  It is recommended that 
this should be secured through a condition. 
 
Cycle Parking 
 
The submitted plans show a joint cycle / mobility scooter store on the ground floor of the 
building, close to the entrance for use by residents of the development.  It is noted that no 
cycle parking is shown for visitors, so this would need to be conditioned to secure such 
provision.   
 
Highway Conclusion 
 
For these reasons the parking associated with the development is considered to be unduly 
limited for the scale of the proposal and not detailed sufficiently.  The Local Highway Authority 
has also maintained a holding objection to the development on grounds of insufficient 
information relating to accident data.  As such the development is not considered to be in 
accordance with Policy CP31 of the Joint Core Strategy, nor Policy TR5 of the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
7.  Trees 
 
The site contains numerous trees of high amenity value, which are protected by a Tree 
Preservation Order.  The application is supported by a Tree Survey and Impact Assessment 
[Keen Consultants: September 2019]. 
 
The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has objected to the development on grounds that it 
removes 7 trees that are subject to a Tree Preservation Order and add to the character to the 
Conservation Area that they stand in or adjacent to without good arboricultural reason. 
 
From an assessment of the Tree Survey the trees proposed to be removed are as follows: 

 Tree 1, a Category U Silver Birch protected as part of a Group Preservation Order 
(G6). This tree is located at the corner of Normandy Street and Knox Terrace, which is 
forked and susceptible to failure, therefore no objection is raised to its removal. 

 Tree 3, a Category B1 Silver Birch individually protected as T1.  This tree is located 
adjacent to the internal parking area within the site.  It is of moderate quality, although 
being set back within the site is not of high public amenity, and its retention would 
impact greatly on the developable area of the site.  On balance, therefore there is no 
objection to its removal. 

 Tree 16, a Category B1 Norway Maple protected as part of a Group Preservation 
Order (G3), within the soft landscaped area to the south of the buildings.  As a group 
these trees are of high public amenity value.  It is noted that 7 other trees in this group 
would be retained within this amenity area. 

 Tree 20, a Category U English Oak protected as part of a Group Preservation Order 
(G2).  The tree survey notes that there is a failure in this tree which represents a 
hazard to users of the adjacent footpath.  The tree is therefore not of sufficient quality 

Page 34



to be retained and no objection is raised to its removal.  

 Tree 21, a Category B1 Silver Birch protected as part of a Group Preservation Order 
(G2), located within the soft landscaped area to the south of the buildings.  As a group 
these trees are of high public amenity value.  It is noted that 7 other trees in this group 
would be retained within this amenity area. 

 Tree 22, a Category B1 Ash protected as part of a Group Preservation Order (G2), 
located within the soft landscaped area to the south of the buildings.  As a group these 
trees are of high public amenity value.  It is noted that 7 other trees in this group would 
be retained within this amenity area. 

 Tree 32, an unprotected Category C1 Rowan.  This is a small tree amidst a hedge 
which is not protected under the Tree Preservation Orders, thus could be removed at 
any time.  No objection is therefore raised to the removal of this tree. 

 Tree 34, a Category B1 Silver Birch individually protected as T3.  This tree is located 
within the Nether Street frontage adjacent to the Magistrates Court building.  It is of 
high public amenity value and there is concerns regarding its removal. 

 Tree 35, a Category B1 Silver Birch individually protected as T2. This tree is located at 
the junction of Normandy Street with Nether Street adjacent to the Magistrates Court 
building.  It is of high public amenity value and there is concerns regarding its removal. 

 
From the above assessment of the trees which are proposed to be removed as part of the 
development, Officers have concerns about the removal of 5 trees of moderate quality, albeit 
of high public amenity value (Trees: 16, 21, 22, 34 and 35).  In particular, there is concern 
about the removal of the two Silver Birch trees which are along Nether Street, since these are 
key features which enhance the street scene. 
 
The applicant is proposing to mitigate the loss of these trees through a planting scheme of 
replacement trees.  The planting plan shows that 18 new trees would be planted, comprising: 
English Oak / Liquidamber / Hornbeam / Field Maple / Japanese Maple / Magnolia and 
Japanese Rowan, and the applicant has confirmed that these would be heavy standard in 
size.  It is also noted that Silver Birch are one of the shortest-lived native trees with a lifespan 
of around 60 years.  The Landscape Officer has assessed the proposed planting plan and 
confirms that the proposed tree species are acceptable. 
 
To conclude, the development would result in the loss of 7 protected trees, of which 5 in 
particular are of a moderate quality and are not being removed for sound arboricultural 
reasons.  Their removal is therefore contrary to Policy C6 of the EHDLP: Second Review.   
 
8. Drainage 
 
The site is located in Flood Zone 1 (low risk of flooding) although a large area fronting 
Orchard Lane is susceptible to surface water flooding.  The proposals will generate increased 
run-off, which must be attenuated on site and not increase flood risk elsewhere.  The 
drainage system must be designed to cater for the 1:100 year + 40% climate change event. 
 
The application is supported by a Drainage Strategy Statement and a Drainage Management 
and Maintenance Report [Calcinotto: October 2019], indicating infiltration may be feasible. 

Page 35



However, this is based on only one trial hole, and a full site investigation will be required to 
confirm the drainage design. Currently, the strategy is for roof water draining to soakaways, 
and car park run-off discharging to ground via permeable paving.  Foul drainage will drain to 
an onsite pumping station and discharge to the existing public foul sewer, subject to Thames 
Water approval.  
 
The Council’s Drainage Consultant has no objections in principle, subject to satisfactory 
drainage systems for both foul and surface water, secured through conditions and supported 
by site percolation tests to BRE 365 if discharge to the ground is to be implemented.  The 
applicant also needs to provide a plan showing the flood flow routes for an exceedance event 
and a maintenance management plan, based on the final drainage design. 
 
Hampshire County Council, as Lead Local Flood Authority, has reviewed the Drainage 
Strategy has reviewed the following documents: Drainage Strategy Statement v1 and 
Drainage Management and Maintenance Plan v1.0.  Supplementary network calculations 
have been provided to demonstrate that the system will function appropriately at the different 
return periods and this addresses previous concerns.  As such, the County Council has 
advised that any additional information can be addressed by secured through a condition to 
cover additional infiltration testing. 
 
Thames Water has advised that there are public sewers crossing or close to the 
development.  In order to protect public sewers and to ensure that Thames Water can gain 
access to those sewers for future repair and maintenance, approval should be sought from 
Thames Water where the erection of a building or an extension to a building or underpinning 
work would be over the line of, or would come within 3 metres of, a public sewer.  
 
The application indicates that surface water will not be discharged to the public network and 
as such Thames Water has no objection, however approval should be sought from the Lead 
Local Flood Authority.  Should the applicant subsequently seek a connection to discharge 
surface water into the public network in the future then Thames Water would consider this to 
be a material change to the proposal, which would require an amendment to the application. 
 
Thames Water would advise that with regard to the foul water sewerage network 
infrastructure capacity, they would not have any objection to the planning application, based 
on the information provided.  A condition relation to agreement of any piling is requested.  
 
For these reasons the development is in accordance with the aims of Policy CP25 of the Joint 
Core Strategy. 
 
9. Ecology 
 
The application is accompanied by an Extended Phase I Survey [Abbas Ecology, April 2019].  
The County Ecologist advises that this assessment was conducted without the use of data 
supplied by the Hampshire Biodiversity Information Centre (HBIC) but rather by the much less 
informative MAGIC website.   

Page 36



The HBIC database provides the most accurate and up-to-date biological records for 
Hampshire, and local record centre data should be the default option for all desk-based 
assessments.  
 
As with the previous report (and despite this issue being highlighted previously), the focus on 
tree sparrows is entirely unnecessary: this species does not breed in Hampshire, there are no 
HBIC records near Alton and it is extremely unlikely to be found anywhere near Alton town 
centre. This demonstrates the need to use only the best available data.  Of much greater 
relevance would be the various HBIC records of roosting bats from within the town centre.  
 
The buildings are of relatively modern construction and are considered not to offer potential 
for supporting roosting bats: there are a few gaps in some places but these have been 
investigated and are considered not to be suitable.  Despite saying so in the methods section, 
no assessment is included of the several trees to be removed.  The County Ecologist has 
reviewed the submitted Tree Schedule and associated documents and is content that the 
trees being removed (T9, T15, T29, T32-35) are not likely to be suitable for roosting bats. It 
would have been preferable if the ecologist had included these within their assessment.  
 
The grounds of the site comprise predominantly managed grassland with some hedge 
plantings.  The grassland is of amenity-type and situated within much hardstanding. The 
hedgerow sections are well-maintained and a mix of ornamental and native species.  Whilst of 
some value at the site-scale they are not high-value examples of this habitat.  
 
The County Ecologist initial comments highlighted that the Extended Phase I Survey makes 
no mention of ecological enhancement measures and suggests that the application provides 
an excellent opportunity to provide common swift nesting boxes and bat roosting features.   
The applicant subsequently submitted a Mitigation and Enhancement Plan (Abbas Ecology, 
December 2019) which contains a series of mitigation and enhancement measures, including 
the sensitive timing of vegetation removal and the provision of a suite of bird (including 
common swift) nesting boxes on the building.  The County Ecologist has confirmed that these 
measures are acceptable and requests they are secured through a condition. 
 
For these reasons the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy C21 of the East 
Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.  
 
10. Planning Obligations and CIL 
 
Policy CP32 of the JCS seeks to secure the provision or improvement of infrastructure 
necessary to meet community or environmental needs associated with new development.  
Much of this infrastructure is now secured through CIL, although with major developments 
there are other relevant requirements set out in the adopted Planning Obligations and CIL 
SPD.   
 
In this instance a financial contribution towards a Community Project Worker of £250 per 
dwelling (£10,750) is sought, as well as to secure the Affordable Housing contribution detailed 
in section 2 above. 

Page 37



A draft Heads of Terms has been submitted by the applicant in relation to the Planning 
Obligations, which only covers an off-site contribution towards affordable housing.  No Heads 
of Terms have been offered to cover the Community Worker Contribution, which was 
requested by the Community Team on the basis that the development would exceed the 20 
dwelling threshold specified in the SPD. The applicant has argued that this contribution does 
not meet the Regulation 122 tests and the need for such a contribution set out in the 
justification contained within the SPD is not directly applicable to this form of development.  
For these reasons the Local Planning Authority is unable to pursue the Community Project 
Worker contribution any further. 
 
The development would result in the creation of new dwellings / residential floorspace and 
thus the development is liable for CIL. 
  
11. Other issues. 
 
Contaminated Land - The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has reviewed the Ridge and 
Partners Desk Top Study dated 28/03/19.   The Desk Top Study is satisfactory and has 
identified some low risk potential contaminative activities to future site users. The existing 
footprint of the building will be retained for the proposed residential accommodation but there 
may be a need for considerable ground works in terms of new soft landscaping or installation 
of services and these could disturb contaminated soils. 
 
A Site Investigation should be carried out to further refine risks identified in the preliminary 
conceptual site model.  In terms of contamination and refining preliminary risk levels, the Site 
Investigation should target the following areas: 

 Fuel infrastructure in police compound inclusive of two diesel USTs, fuel pump, 
interceptor and fill points; 

 Areas in the far north and east of the site to assess any impact from former foundry and 
metal manufacturing works; 

 Proposed garden areas; and 

 Test positions to allow sufficient site coverage.  
 
Conditions relating to; phased site investigation, validation of remedial works and 
unsuspected contamination are recommended.  
 
Sustainable Construction –  Following changes to national legislation in respect of the Code 
for Sustainable Homes, the Council seek residential development to incorporate measure that 
provide at least 10% of energy demand from decentralised and renewable or low carbon 
energy systems. 
 
The application is supported by an Energy Strategy Report which considers the feasibility of 
various options to meet the requirements of Policy CP24.  The strategy considers that the 
most suitable forms of low and zero carbon technologies for this development would be 
building fabric efficiencies, solar pv panels, solar water heating and air / ground source heat 
pumps.   

Page 38



At this stage the report only considers options to provide the energy savings, as such the 
precise details would need to be secured through a condition attached to any approval to 
require details of such energy requirements to be submitted and approved prior to 
commencement of development and subsequent implementation / verification of said 
measures. 
 
Recycling and Refuse – The Recycling and Refuse Team advised that the refuse capacity 
allowable for flats is 220L per unit for refuse and 220L per unit for recycling. For 43 units, 
based on 2 persons per unit this is the equivalent of 18 x 1100 bins.  The applicant has 
provided supplementary information detailing the layout of the refuse room, which could 
accommodate 14 x 1100 litre bins.  For a predicted occupancy rate of 1.18 persons per unit, 
this is considered to be adequate 
 
It is noted that the management of the development would bring the bins out to a collection 
point in the car park and Refuse Collection Vehicle tracking for movements in the car park is 
requested.  This plan was provided as an Appendix to the Transport Statement, and the 
Recycling and Refuse Team have subsequently commented that the details are satisfactory. 
 
Response to Parish/Town Council Comments 
 
Alton Town Council has objected to the proposal on the following grounds: 
 

 5 apartments do not comply with the National Space Standards and are not Lifetime 
Homes Compliant. 

[Officer comment: this matter is discussed in Section 3 of the above report] 
 

 No affordable homes are included, and the payment of a commuted sum is 
unacceptable to the Town Council.  A revised scheme with a separate block of 
affordable housing should be provided. 

[Officer comment: This matter is discussed in Section 2 of the above report, with the 
financial contribution to be secured through a legal agreement] 

 

 The proposed development does not comply with the requirements of Policy TR5 of the 
Alton Neighbourhood Plan. 

[Officer comment: This matter is discussed in Section 5 of the above report] 
 

 The site is in Flood Zone 1, but the southern half of the site is shown to be potentially 
susceptible to surface water flooding.  

[Officer comment: The surface water drainage details have been agreed by the Lead Local 
Flood Authority, as discussed in Section 8 of the above report] 

 

 The lack of solar panels proposed will not comply with the requirements of the 2020 
Future Home Standards legislation for sustainability. 

[Officer comment: The application is supported by an Energy Strategy Report which 
advises that the provision of solar panels would be a suitable measure for this building.  
These final details would be secured through a planning condition.] 

Page 39



 The ridge heights of the development fronting Normandy Street are considered 
excessive and demonstrates a lack of uniformity with the ridge heights of not only the 
neighbouring properties but also those in the vicinity of this gateway entrance to the 
town. 

[Officer comment: The scale of the development is considered to be acceptable, see 
sections 3 and 4 of the report] 

 

 The Town Council strongly endorses the comments made by the EHDC Ecologist and 
would seek the planning authority’s assistance in insisting on the inclusion of common 
swift nesting boxes and bat roosting features such as modified tiles. 

[Officer comment: A supplementary Ecological Mitigation report was submitted detailing the 
provision of swift / bat boxes, which has been agreed by the County Ecologist.]  

 
Conclusion 
 
The development plan identifies the application site as falling within the Settlement Policy 
Boundary (SPB) for Alton and within Alton Town Centre.  Whilst the site is currently within a 
community service use, the application is accompanied by sufficient information to 
demonstrate that the site is no required for these purposes, consequently the principle of new 
residential development on this site is accepted under the strategic policies of the 
development plan. 
 
The design of the proposed development, in particular in terms of its siting, form, scale and 
massing would have an acceptable visual impact within street scene, as well as to the 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers and future occupiers of the development itself.   
 
The site is partially within Alton Conservation Area and in close proximity to listed buildings.  
The Conservation Officer has no objection to the development and it is considered that the 
proposal would preserve the character and appearance of Alton Conservation Area and the 
setting of the neighbouring Listed Buildings, thus is in accordance with the aims of S.66 and 
S.72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Policy CP30 of the 
Joint Core Strategy and Government advice in the NPPF. 
 
It is noted that no objections have been raised to the development by statutory consultees 
with regard to: highways, drainage, ecological, archaeological or ground contamination 
issues.  A concern was expressed by the Environmental Health Officer regarding noise levels 
on external amenity areas, although as a town centre location some traffic noise is to be 
expected.  
 
A key issue in the consideration of this proposal is that it would result in the loss of protected 
trees.  An assessment of the 7 trees which are proposed to be removed shows that 2 are in a 
poor condition, with 5 trees of moderate quality, albeit of high public amenity value (Trees: 16, 
21, 22, 34 and 35).  In particular, Officers have concern about the removal of the two Silver 
Birch trees which are along Nether Street, since these are key features which enhance the 
street scene.  The loss of the 5 trees not in the interests of good arboricultural practice is 
contrary to Policy C6 of the Local Plan Second Review. 

Page 40



The applicant is proposing to mitigate the loss of these trees through a planting scheme of 
replacement trees.  The planting plan shows that 18 new trees would be planted, comprising: 
English Oak / Liquidamber / Hornbeam / Field Maple / Japanese Maple / Magnolia and 
Japanese Rowan, and the applicant has confirmed that these would be heavy standard in 
size.  It is also noted that Silver Birch are one of the shortest-lived native trees with a lifespan 
of around 60 years.  The Landscape Officer has assessed the proposed tree planting plan 
and confirmed that the proposed replacement species are acceptable. 
 
In terms of planning balance, the loss of these protected trees needs to be weighed against 
the benefits of the scheme in terms of the delivery of 43 new dwellings and the development 
of a vacant brownfield site.  In this instance, Officers consider that with the mitigation tree 
planting and the lifespan of the trees, then more weight may be attributed to the delivery of 
the development then retention of the trees. 
 
For these reasons the development is recommended for the approval of Planning Permission.  
 
RECOMMENDATION   
 
Provided that the applicant enters into a Planning Obligation to secure a financial contribution 
towards the off-site provision of affordable housing and this obligation is completed by 12 May 
2020, then the Director of Regeneration and Place be authorised to grant PLANNING 
PERMISSION subject to the following conditions. 
 
However, in the event that all parties do not enter into a Planning Obligation to secure the 
above matter by this date, then the application will be refused under the adopted scheme of 
delegation unless the Director of Regeneration and Place, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Planning, authorises further time extension(s) for the completion of this obligation. 
 
 PERMISSION subject to the following conditions: 
 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 

of three years from the date of this planning permission. 
Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 
 

2 Each unit of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied only by 
persons over the age of 60 years, or by persons living as part of a single 
household with such a person or persons; or persons who were living as 
part of a single household with such a person or persons who have since 
died. 
Reason – to apply an age restriction to the occupation of the dwellings, 
since these have reduced parking and amenity standards. 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



3 Notwithstanding any indication of materials that may have been given in 
the application or in the absence of such information, no development 
above slab level shall take place on site until samples / details including 
manufacturers details of all the materials to be used for external facing 
and roofing for the development hereby approved have been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
Reason - To ensure that the materials used in the construction of the 
approved development harmonise with the surroundings. 
 

4 No development, other than demolition, shall take place until a detailed 
surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on the principles within 
the Drainage Strategy Statement, has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details shall 
include: 

a) Infiltration test results undertaken in accordance with BRE365 and 
providing a representative assessment of those locations where 
infiltration features are proposed; 

b) A technical summary highlighting any changes to the design from 
that within the approved Drainage Strategy Statement. 

c) Detailed drainage plans to include type, layout and dimensions of 
drainage features including references to link to the drainage 
calculations and taking into account any changes required as a 
result of the infiltration testing. 

d) Detailed drainage calculations updated to take into account the 
infiltration testing for storm events up to and including 1:100 + 
climate change. 

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason - To ensure the satisfactory disposal of surface water from the 
development to prevent flooding of land and property. 
 
 

5 No development shall start on site until a construction method statement 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, which shall include: 

 A programme of and phasing of demolition (if any) and 
construction work; The provision of long term facilities for 
contractor parking; 

 The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction 
works; 

 Methods and phasing of construction works; 

 Access and egress for plant and machinery; 

 Protection of pedestrian routes during construction; 

 Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction 
material, and plant storage areas; 

Page 42



 Provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 
development during construction period; and 

 Re-use of on site material and spoil arising from any site clearance 
or demolition work. 

Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with 
the approved method statement. 
Reason - In order that the Local Planning Authority can properly consider 
the effect of the works on the amenity of the locality. 
 

6 No development shall commence on site, including demolition, until 
protective fencing has been erected around all trees, shrubs and other 
natural features not scheduled for removal and shall be retained for the 
duration of the works and shall be in accordance with the 
recommendations of BS5837:2012, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
No unauthorised access or placement of goods, fuels or chemicals, soil 
or other materials shall take place inside the fenced area. 
No burning of materials shall take place where it could cause damage to 
any tree or tree group to be retained on the site or on land adjoining. 
No soil levels within the root protection area of the trees/hedgerows to 
be retained shall be raised or lowered.  
Reason - To ensure that trees, shrubs and other natural features to be 
retained are adequately protected from damage to health and stability.  It 
is considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as 
these details need to be agreed prior to the construction of the 
development and thus go to the heart of the planning permission. 
 

7 The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until space 
for vehicle parking has been provided in accordance with the approved 
plans.  The vehicle parking shall include the provision of 4 spaces for the 
charging of electric vehicles.  The vehicle parking shall be retained for this 
purpose thereafter. 
Reason - To ensure adequate on-site car parking provision for the 
approved 
development. 
 

8 No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until 
details for the on site provision of visitor cycle parking facilities have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall not be occupied until the cycle parking has been 
constructed in accordance with the approved details and thereafter 
retained and kept available. 
Reason - To ensure the adequate provision of on site facilities. 
 

9 Development shall be carried out in accordance with the ecological 
mitigation and enhancement measures detailed within the Mitigation and 
Enhancement Plan [Abbas Ecology: December 2019].   

Page 43



All ecological mitigation and enhancement features shall be installed as 
per ecologist instructions prior to the first occupation of the building and 
shall be retained and maintained in perpetuity in a condition suited to their 
intended function.  
Reason - To protect and enhance the biodiversity of this site. 
 

10 All hard and soft landscape works, including tree planting, shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details and in accordance with the 
recommendations of the appropriate British Standards or other 
recognised codes of good practice.  These works shall be carried out in 
the first planting season after practical completion or first occupation of 
the development, whichever is earlier, unless otherwise first agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Any trees or plants which, within 
a period of 5 years after planting, are removed, die or become seriously 
damaged or defective, shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably 
practicable with others of species, size and number as originally approved 
unless a suitable alternative species are otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To ensure the provision and establishment of a reasonable 
standard of landscape in accordance with the approved designs.   
 
 

11 No development, other than demolition, shall commence on site 
until the following details have been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the Local Planning Authority:- 
(a)   a scheme outlining a site investigation and risk assessments 
designed to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the 
site.  
(b)   a written report of the findings which includes, a description of the 
extent, scale and nature of contamination, an assessment of all potential 
risks to known receptors, an update of the conceptual site model (devised 
in the desktop study), identification of all pollutant linkages and unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and identified 
as unnecessary in the written report, an appraisal of remediation options 
and proposal of the preferred option(s) identified as appropriate for the 
type of contamination found on site. 
and (unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority) 
(c)   a detailed remediation scheme designed to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to 
human health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical 
environment. The scheme should include all works to be undertaken, 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of 
works, site management procedures and a verification plan outlining 
details of the data to be collected in order to demonstrate the completion 
of the remediation works and any arrangements for the continued 
monitoring of identified pollutant linkages. 

Page 44



The above reports should be completed by a competent person, as 
stipulated in the National Planning Policy Framework, Annex 2, and site 
works should be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the 
Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11' and BS10175:2011 Investigation of potentially 
contaminated sites - Code of practice. 
 
Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite.  It is considered necessary for this 
to be a pre-commencement condition as these details need to be agreed 
prior to the construction of the development and thus go to the heart of 
the planning permission. 
 
 

12 Before any part of the development is first occupied or brought into 
use (unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority) a verification report demonstrating the effectiveness of the 
remediation works carried out and a completion certificate confirming that 
the approved remediation scheme has been implemented in full shall both 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
The verification report and completion certificate shall be submitted in 
accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a competent 
person in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’. 
Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 
 

13 No development above slab level shall take place until details of a 
mechanical ventilation heat recovery (MVHR) system have been 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  
Development shall be carried out together with the agreed details as well 
as the noise mitigation measures detailed in the acoustic report [AAD: 
19276/001B/pm: 8 October 2019] and retained to the agreed specification 
thereafter. 
Reason – In the interests of the amenity for future residents of the 
development. 
  
 
 

Page 45



14 No piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the 
depth and type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which 
such piling will be carried out, including measures to prevent and 
minimise the potential for damage to subsurface sewerage infrastructure, 
and the programme for the works) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority in consultation with Thames Water.  
Any piling must be undertaken in accordance with the terms of the 
approved piling method statement.  
Reason - The proposed works will be in close proximity to underground 
sewerage utility infrastructure.  Piling has the potential to impact on local 
underground sewerage utility infrastructure. The applicant is advised to 
contact Thames Water Developer Services on 0800 009 3921 to discuss 
the details of the piling method statement. 
 

15 The dwellings hereby approved shall not be first occupied until the 
secondary access into the site from Orchard Lane has been closed and 
the existing footway extended, in accordance with the details shown on 
drawing number 034.5127.001 Rev A. 
Reason – In the interests of highway safety. 
 

16 The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until 
the approved means of access, including the footway works, have been 
constructed in accordance with the approved plans.  The lines of sight 
splays shown on the approved plans shall be kept free of any obstruction 
exceeding 1 metre in height above the adjacent carriageway and shall be 
subsequently maintained so thereafter. 
Reason - To provide satisfactory access and in the interests of highway 
safety. 
 

17 No development above slab level shall take place until details of the siting 
and design of any proposed external meter boxes/metal ducting/flues 
have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
agreed details.  
Reason - To protect the character and appearance of Alton Conservation 
Area. 
 

18 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars: 
 
Application Form  
CIL form Additional Information  
Design and Access Statement 
Planning Statement 
Tree Survey and Impact Assessment 
Transport Statement 
Refuse and Waste Management Statement 

Page 46



Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Plan [Abbas Ecology: December 
2019] 
Noise Assessment 
Ground Condition Assessment 
Energy Strategy Report 
Statement of Community Involvement 
Heritage Statement  
Drainage Management and Maintenance Report 
Drainage Strategy Statement 
Desk Top Study 
Impact Assessment Listed building by Listed Building. 
Economic and Marketing Statement [JLL: December 2019] 
001 P2 - Site Location plan 
002 P4 - Existing Site layout Plan  
005 P3 - Proposed Demolition site plan  
010 P5 - Proposed site Layout - Lower Ground floor plan  
011 P7 - Proposed site Layout - Ground floor plan  
026 P3 - Lower Ground floor plan GA 
027 P5 - Ground floor plan GA 
028 P5 - First floor Plan GA 
033 P3 - Roof plan GA  
036 P5 - Elevations 01 (Coloured) 
037 P3 - Elevations 02 (Coloured)  
039 P4 - Proposed Site Section A-A & B-B  
040 P4 - Proposed Site Section C-C  
041 P4 - Elevations 01 (Presentation) 
042 P2 - Elevations 02 (Presentation)  
043 P1 - 3D Perspective view 
MCS665/Drg02 Rev E - Landscape proposals 
MSC665/Drg05 - Proposed Tree Planting 
S0-2643-03-DE-005 P3 - Proposed Drainage Drawing Lower Ground floor 
sheet 1 of 2  
S0-2643-03-DE-006 P3 - Proposed Drainage Drawing Lower Ground floor 
sheet 1 of 2  
S0-2643-03-DE-007 P3 - Proposed drainage drawing ground floor  
S0-2643-03-DE-SK001 P2 - Lower Ground Floor Drainage Overview 
Sketch 
S0-2643-03-DE-SK002 P2 - Ground Floor Drainage Overview Sketch 
S0-2643-03-DE-010 Rev P1 - Proposed Site Overland Flood Plan 
034.5127.001 Rev A - External Works: General Arrangement 
SD19105-01A Sheet 2 of 2  - Topographical Survey Rev A  
SD19564-01 Sheet 1 of 1 - Ground floor plan  
SD19564-02 Sheet 1 of 1 - First Floor  
SD19564-03 Sheet 1 of 1 - Elevations  
1210-KC-XX-YTREE-TPP01 Rev B - Tree Protection plan 

Page 47



1210-KC-XX-YTREE-TCP01 Rev O - Tree Constraints plan 
SO 2643 DR 010 P1 - Overland Flood Plan 
SO 2643 -53 – HE -006 Rev A - Access Vehicle Tracking 
 
Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development 
 

 

Informative Notes to Applicant: 
 
 

1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 
District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and 
works with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner 
focused on solutions by: 
·  offering a pre-application advice service, 
·  updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions, 
and, 
·  by adhering to the requirements of the Planning Charter. 
 
In this instance the applicant; 
·  was updated of any issues after the initial site visit. 
Negotiations took place with the application to secure the provision of 
supplementary information to address concerns raised by consultees. 
 

2 The proposed development referred to in this planning permission is a 
chargeable development liable to pay Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) under Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008 and the CIL Regulations (as 
amended) 
 
In accordance with CIL Regulation 65, East Hampshire District Council 
will issue a Liability Notice in respect of the chargeable development 
referred to in this planning permission as soon as practicable after the 
day on which planning permission first permits development.  Further 
details on the Council’s CIL process can be found on the East Hampshire 
District Council website: 
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Planning%20C
ontributions%20and%20CIL%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Docum
ent%20-%20April%202016.pdf 
 

3 All development shall be stopped immediately in the event that 
contamination not previously identified is found to be present on the 
development site and details of the contamination shall be reported 
immediately in writing to Environmental Health.  An investigation and risk 
assessment should then be undertaken by competent persons and in 
accordance with ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’.   

Page 48



A written report of the findings, to include a remediation statement, 
should then be forwarded to the Local Planning Authority for appraisal.  
Following completion of remedial measures a verification report should 
be prepared that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation 
carried out.  It is recommended that no part of the development be 
occupied until all remedial and validation works are complete and a 
Completion Certificate has been issued.  This would ensure that no 
future investigation is required under Part2A of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990. 

4 The applicant is reminded that they will need to enter into a S.278 
Agreement under the Highways Act 1980, to secure the works which are 
within the public highway.  

 
 

CASE OFFICER: Stephen Wiltshire 01730 234229 
——————————————————————————————————————— 

 
  

Page 49



SECTION 1   Item 1    Alton Magistrates Court, 25 Normandy Street, Alton, GU34 1DQ 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Proposed site plan 
 
 
 

  

Page 50



SECTION 1  Item 1   Alton Magistrates Court, 25 Normandy Street, Alton, GU34 1DQ 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Proposed North East Elevation 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Proposed North West Elevation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 51



SECTION 1   Item 1  Alton Magistrates Court, 25 Normandy Street, Alton, GU34 1DQ 

 
 
 

 
 

Proposed South East Elevation  
 
 
 
 

 
 

Proposed South West Elevation 
 

Page 52



 

  

Page 53



Item No.: 02 
 

The information, recommendations, and advice contained in this report are correct as at 
the date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee 
meeting. Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in 
advance of the final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any 
changes or necessary updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting. 

 

PROPOSAL Hybrid Application: Full application for new staff 
accommodation buildings with associated provision for 
access parking and landscaping. Outline Application: for new 
'life skills centre' (scale and access for full consideration) with 
supporting space for car parking and outside activity space 
area. (Further highways information submitted on 14/6/19, 
amended existing block plan and masterplan received 27/6/19, 
additional ecological information submitted 13/9/19, amended 
landscape plan received on 4/10/19, amended masterplan 
received 13/12/19, further drainage information received 
4/10/19, 18/11/19, 3/1/20 and 30/1/20, amended master plan and 
location plans received 4/2/20) 

LOCATION: Treloar College, Powell Drive, Holybourne, Alton, GU34 4GL 

REFERENCE : 22387/067 PARISH:Alton 

APPLICANT:  The Treloar Trust 

CONSULTATION EXPIRY: 27 January 2020 

APPLICATION EXPIRY: 29 August 2019 

COUNCILLOR: Councillor G E Hill 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION 

 
This application is included on the agenda as it is a departure from the Local 
Development Plan. 
 
Site and Development 
 
Treloar College is a large site comprised of numerous single storey and two storey 
buildings situated predominantly within the Settlement Policy Boundary, within the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan area and adjacent to the Holybourne Conservation Area and a 
number of listed buildings. 
 
The submitted Planning Design and Access statement states that Treloar College provides 
education, residential care, therapy, medical support and training for young people with 
disabilities. 
 
The submitted masterplan shows five phases of proposed development to re-develop 
Treloar College including refurbishing existing buildings and constructing new facilities. 
This hybrid planning application is only for phases 1 and 2 of the re-development.  
 

Page 54



Full planning permission is sought for phase 1 and outline planning consent (scale and 
access for full consideration) is sought for phase 2. 
 
Phase 1 consists of the construction of two single storey staff accommodation buildings to 
be situated to the east of the existing car park situated in the north part of the application 
site. The smaller of the two proposed buildings (building B) would measure; 22 metres in 
maximum width, 15 metres in maximum depth and 5.1 metres in maximum height. The 
second larger building (building A) would measure; 73.7 metres in width, 16.8 metres in 
maximum depth and 5.7 metres in maximum height. The proposed staff accommodation 
buildings would house up to 42 employees of the college, replacing 18 bedrooms currently 
in Allan House located in the south of the site which is to be used in the future phases of 
development for redevelopment into further student accommodation and offices.  
 
Phase 2 (outline consent) consists of the construction of one part two-storey building, one 
two-storey building and two parking areas located adjacent to the proposed two storey 
building in phase 2 (building C) and adjacent to the west of building B of phase 1. Just 
scale and access is for consideration. Phase 2 would provide: 
 

 Building A-an assisted living accommodation building comprised of student en-
suite bedrooms, staff accommodation and living facilities. Building A would be 
predominantly single storey and would measure 1,250sqm in floorspace with a 
maximum height of 8.39 metres. 

 Building C-a life skills centre comprised of a main hall, activity rooms a therapy 
treatment room, bathroom facilities and staff facilities. Building C would be two-
storey and would measure 920sqm in floorspace and 8.61 metres in maximum 
height. 

 A parking area situated to the west of building C to accommodate 8 disabled 
parking spaces, 7 minibus parking spaces and 1 coach parking space. 

 A parking area located to the west of the proposed staff accommodation building 
B of phase 1 to provide car spaces which would be lost to accommodate the 
proposed staff buildings in phase 1. 

 
Building B of phase 2 shown on the submitted plans is for information only and does not 
form part of this hybrid application as it is to be considered under a separate full planning 
application (reference 22387/068).  
 
Further highways information was submitted on 14/6/19, an amended block plan and 
masterplan were received on 27/6/19, additional ecological information was submitted on 
13/9/19, an amended landscape plan was received on 4/10/19, additional drainage 
information was submitted on 4/10/19, 18/11/19, 3/1/20 and 30/1/20 and amended 
masterplan and location plans were submitted on 13/12/20 and 4/2/20. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
22387/039  Extension To Kitchen (as Amended By Plans Received 16 July 1998)   

03/09/1998 - Permission  
22387/040  New Music Studio And Connecting Links To Existing  Buildings - Permission 

12/11/1998   
22387/041  Learning Resources Centre Linked To Existing Building With Associated 

Roadway -  Permission 21/05/1999   
22387/042  Replacement Horticulture Centre -  Permission 30/07/1999   

Page 55



22387/043  Single Storey Extension To Common Room - Permission 27/06/2000   
22387/045  Six One-Person Flats And One Two-Bedroom Flat For Physically Disabled 

Students And Accommodation For Night-Care Staff - Permission 21/11/2001   
22387/047  Access Link And New Entrance Canopy - Permission 02/08/2004   
22387/048  Single Storey Extension To Dining Room (as Amended By Plans Received 8 

July 2005) - Permission 20/07/2005   
22387/049  Student Hall Of Residence, Student Common Room,covered Walkway And 

Associated External Works (as Amended By Plans Received 10 October 
2005) - Permission 05/01/2006   

22387/051  Student Common Room And Associated Alterations To Car Parking -  
Permission 30/07/2007   

22387/052  Bollard Lighting Scheme - Permission 28/09/2007   
22387/053  Additional Car Parking Area With Bollard Lighting -  Permission 05/09/2008   
22387/054  Outline - New College Buildings, Accommodation Block, Piazza, Covered 

Ways, Footpaths And New Vehicle Circulation Route, Car Parks, Wheelchair 
Training Area, Sports/amenity Area, Fencing, Landscaping And Diversion Of 
Footpath - Outline Permission 28/10/2009   

22387/055  Approval Of Reserved Matters - New College Buildings, Accommodation 
Block, Piazza, Covered Ways, Footpaths And New Vehicle Circulation Route, 
Car Park, Wheelchair Training Area, Amenity Area, Fencing, Landscaping And 
Diversion Of Footpath - Approved 25/03/2010   

22387/056  Prior Notification - Demolition Of Treloar Lodge – Prior Approval Not Required 
25/02/2010   

22387/058  Two Single Storey Extensions To Main Kitchen - Permission 08/07/2010   
22387/060  Sports Field And Car Park Extension - Permission 11/03/2013   
22387/061  Removal Of Condition 3 Of 22387/053 - Parking Details -  Permission 

19/03/2013   
22387/063  Demolition Of Existing Ramp Structure And Erection Of New Lifts And Link 

Bridge Structure And First Floor Extension Over An Existing Sitting Room At 
Evans House, Treloar College, London Road, Holybourne (as Amended By 
Plans Received 18/07/2014) -  Permission 25/07/2014   

22387/064  Four Single Storey Extensions (as Amended By Plans Received 2 December 
2015) - Permission 07/12/2015   

22387/065  Two Single Storey Linking Extensions To Provide Carers Accommodation -
Permission 05/04/2018   

 
Development Plan Policies and Proposals 
 
The Draft version of the Local Plan (2017 -2036) was published under Regulation 18 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public 
consultation from 5 February to 19 March 2019. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2019) sets out 
the circumstances when emerging planning policies may be given weight in determining 
planning applications. Based on the current early stage of preparation, the draft Local Plan 
policies are currently afforded no weight.  
 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014) 
 
CP1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
CP2 -  Spatial Strategy 
CP16 -  Protection and provision of social infrastructure 
CP19 -  Development in the countryside 

Page 56



CP20 -  Landscape 
CP21 -  Biodiversity 
CP23 -  Gaps between settlements 
CP24 -  Sustainable construction 
CP25 -  Flood Risk 
CP27 -  Pollution 
CP29 -  Design 
CP30 -  Historic Environment 
CP31 -  Transport 
 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006) 
HC3 -  Public Services, Community, Cultural, Leisure and Sports Facilities 
RI1 -  Residential Educational Establishments 
HE8 -  Development affecting the setting of a conservation area 
HE12 -  Development affecting the setting of a Listed Building 
 
Alton Neighbourhood Plan (2016) 
 
DE2 – Building Design and Town Character 
TR5 – Parking Provision and Standards 
ED1 – Schools Expansion 
 
 
Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) June 2019 
 
In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly 
relevant to the consideration of the development; 
 
 1. Introduction 
 2. Achieving sustainable development  
 4. Decision-making  
12. Achieving well-designed places  
16. Conserving the historic environment 
 
Conservation Area - Holybourne 
Conservation areas are designated areas of special architectural interest, the character or 
appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance. It is the quality and interest of 
the area rather than individual buildings which is important. The consequence of 
conservation area designation is not to preserve conservation areas unchanged but 
requires that new development is designed in a sensitive manner which has regard to the 
special character of the area. The Council’s policy on allowing development within 
conservation areas is set out in Policy HE4 of the East Hampshire Local Plan: Second 
Review, where development will be permitted only where it would preserve or enhance the 
character or appearance of the area. 
 
Town Design Statement - Alton Town Design Statement - non statutory planning guidance 
that has been the subject of public consultation and therefore is a material planning 
consideration. 
 

Page 57



Alton 2020 Town Plan 2005 
 
Holybourne Village Plan 2010 
 
 
Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments 
 
Alton Town Council 
 
Objection for the following material reasons: 
1. The application is in direct conflict with three aspects of EHDC planning policy: 
 a) The buildings will be in the countryside outside of the Settlement Policy Boundary 
 b) Policy CP19 of the EHDC Local Plan: JCS  it is not proved that there is a need for a 
countryside location 
 c) Policy CP23 clearly states that the gaps between settlements will be protected and 
specifically quotes the gap between Alton and Holybourne as being covered by this policy 
2. There is substantial evidence of serious flooding in Holybourne to neighbouring 
properties at the entrance of the site which will be exacerbated by any further development 
on agricultural land and water run-off as a result will constitute a serious threat and have a 
significant impact on the neighbouring residential properties as well as secondary and 
primary school near neighbours. CP25 states that development should be avoided in 
areas at risk from, susceptible to, or have a history of groundwater flooding. The geology 
of the land upon which the development is proposed is thus inappropriate given the Chalk 
geology. 
3. The parking requirements of TR5 of the Neighbourhood Plan are not satisfied. 
4. The proposal states that a footpath diversion "to be submitted" (St. Swithuns Way) but 
there is no clear indication as to what it is proposed. Alton Town Council strongly objects 
to any proposal to re-routing of the St. Swithuns Way. (Officer note: this element does not 
form part of this planning application). 
 
EHDC Drainage Officer - No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
HCC Drainage Officer - No objection, subject to a condition. 
 
Contaminated Land Officer - No objection, subject to informatives. 
 
Environmental Health - No objection, subject to a condition. 
 
HCC Ecologist - No objection, subject to a condition. 
 
Arboricultural Officer - No objection. 
 
Landscape Officer - No objection, subject to a condition. 
 
HCC Rights of Way Officer - No objection, subject to a condition and informatives. 
 
Traffic Management Team - No objection. 
 
County Highway Authority - No objection, subject to a condition. 
 
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service - No objection, subject to an informative. 

Page 58



Thames Water - No objection, subject to an informative. 
 
Conservation Officer - No objection. 
 
County Archaeologist - No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
 
Representations 
 
15 representations received in total, 2 commenting on the application and 13 objecting to 
the application for the following reasons: 
 

 The proposed building would be situated outside of the Settlement Policy Boundary; 

 the proposal represents overdevelopment of the application site; 

 the proposal would not protect the gap between settlement;. 

 the proposal would not be in keeping with the character of the local area; 

 there is no proven need for the proposal; 

 the proposal would be contrary to the Alton Design Statement; 

 the proposal would adversely impact on the landscape; 

 the proposal would cause drainage implications; 

 the new EHDC Local Plan has moved the Settlement Policy Boundary line to 
accommodate the proposal; (Officer note: this is not considered as a material planning 
consideration) 

 the proposal would impact on local infrastructure; 

 the proposal is contrary to the Alton Neighbourhood Plan; 

 the proposal would cause an increase in light and noise pollution; 

 the proposal would impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties; 

 the proposal would lead to the diversion of the public footpath; (Officer note: this 
element is not part of this planning application) 

 the facilities are currently used and would be used by third parties; 

 the proposal would adversely impact on the conservation area and adjacent listed 
buildings; 

 there is insufficient screening to hide the proposal; 

 the proposal would cause highway implications; 

 the proposal would set a precedent for further development; 

 there are more suitable locations for the proposal including in the existing site and a 
previously sold site; (Officer note: this is not considered as a material planning 
consideration)  

 the proposal is contrary to policy and, 

 there is drainage ownership issues related to the proposal. (Officer note: this is a civil 
matter and is not considered as a material planning consideration.) 

 
 
Determining Issues 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Impact upon scale and character of existing building and local area 
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties 
4. Highway implications 
5. Drainage implications 

Page 59



6. Impact on conservation area and adjacent listed buildings 
7. Ecological implications 
8. Energy conservation 
9. Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
 
Planning Considerations  
 
1. Principle of development 
  
Paragraph 94 of the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should give great weight 
to the need to create, expand or alter schools. 
 
Policy CP1 of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) applies to development within the Settlement 
Policy Boundary (SPB) where there is a presumption in favour of development.  Policy 
CP2 identifies a sustainable hierarchy of SPB and sets out five levels of sustainable 
settlements.  
 
Policy CP19 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan; Joint Core Strategy (JCS) sets out 
that permission will only be granted for development within the countryside provided it 
meets several criteria, one of which is that there is a proven need for a countryside 
location.   
 
Policy CP23 of the JCS states that the gap between Alton and Holybourne should be 
protected to help prevent coalescence and retain their separate identities. Development 
will only be permitted within gaps if it would not undermine the physical and/or visual 
separation of settlements, would not compromise the integrity of the gap and it cannot be 
located elsewhere. 
 
Policy CP16 of the JCS states that proposals for new and improved community facilities 
including educational establishments that result in improvements to meeting the needs of 
the district will be supported.  
 
Policy HC3 of the Local Plan supports the improvement of existing public services 
including educational establishments in the countryside.  
 
Saved Policy RI1 of the Local Plan the expansion of existing residential educational 
establishments in the countryside if a need is demonstrated. 
 
Objective 4a of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan supports the provision of sufficient nursery, 
school and college places in Alton to meet the growing demand, in accessible locations. 
 
Concerns have been raised by representations received that the principle of development 
is unacceptable as there is no proven need for the development and the application site is 
situated outside of any Settlement Policy Boundary and is within a gap between 
settlements. 
 
The proposed buildings in phase 2 are situated within the Settlement Policy Boundary of 
Holybourne and therefore the principle of development is acceptable for this element of the 
scheme. 
 

Page 60



However, the proposed staff accommodation buildings of phase 1 and one of the proposed 
parking areas of phase 2 are located outside of the Settlement Policy Boundary and 
located on land classed as countryside and a defined gap between Holybourne and Alton 
as set out in Policy CP23 of the JCS. Whilst these elements of the scheme are situated on 
land where development is usually restricted, it needs to be assessed whether any 
material planning considerations exist to justify the departure from the Local Plan.  
 
The submitted Design and Access Statement states that the aim of the development is to 
provide new learning and life skills space, refurbished, reconfigured and repurposed 
existing space and new residential accommodation. The statement also explains that there 
is an urgent need to be able to employ, retain and cater for a further 60 staff for the 
college. The proposed staff accommodation would not only provide accommodation for the 
new workers but also for the existing staff displaced from existing facilities within the 
college which are being refurbished or repurposed for the project. The proposal would 
allow Treloar College to expand and develop which would lead to an increase in student 
places available and employment opportunities, which in turn would bring social and 
economic benefits to the college and the local community which is strongly supported by 
the NPPF, the JCS, the Local Plan and the Alton Neighbourhood Plan. Whilst part of the 
proposal would be situated on land classed as countryside and a protected local gap, the 
proposed buildings and car park would be situated immediately adjacent to the Settlement 
Policy Boundary and would be viewed amongst the existing MUGA and car park. It is 
considered that the proposal would bring significant social and economic benefits which 
justifies the departure from the Local Plan and due to its close proximity to the Settlement 
Policy Boundary would not have an adverse impact on the countryside which will be 
discussed below. 
 
The application site formed part of Policy SA25 in the Draft Local Plan (Regulation 18) 
consultation promoting the expansion of the school and involved proposed amendments to 
include the whole site within the Settlement Policy Boundary. However, this is not 
considered as a material planning consideration as the Draft Local Plan is not an adopted 
plan and is subject to change. 
 
Policy CP17 of the JCS restricts the loss of sport facilities including sport fields. Concern 
has been raised through representations received that the proposal would result in the loss 
of a playing field to accommodate the phase 1 accommodation buildings. However, the 
existing field is not considered as a playing field as it is used as informal recreation space. 
The existing MUGA would remain and the existing throwing area would also remain but 
would be relocated further to the east. Therefore, the proposal would not result in the loss 
of any playing fields. 
 
Therefore, it is considered that in this case the application and departure from the 
development plan is considered to be on balance acceptable, as the educational and 
social benefits of the scheme outweigh the departure from the development plan, in 
compliance with paragraph 94 of the NPPF and the relevant policies of the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan, the JCS and the Local Plan. Consequently, the principle of the 
development is considered on balance acceptable, subject to all other relevant planning 
considerations and policies which will be discussed below.   
 
 
 
 

Page 61



2. Impact upon scale and character of existing building and local area 
 
Policy CP29 of the JCS seeks to ensure that development proposals are of exemplary 
standards of design and architecture, with a high quality external appearance that respect 
the area's particular characteristics.  It requires that developments are sympathetic to their 
setting in terms of scale, height and massing, and their relationship to adjoining buildings, 
spaces around buildings, and that developments should make a positive contribution to the 
overall appearance of the area. Policy CP20 of the JCS states that development should 
conserve and enhance the characteristics of the district's natural environment.Policy DE2 
of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan states that all development should meet the highest 
standards of design and make a positive contribution to the character of Alton. 
 
Concerns have been raised by representations received that the proposal would not be in 
keeping with the character of the local area, would harm the landscape and would 
represent overdevelopment of the application site. 
 
However, it is considered that the scale and bulk of the proposal would be in keeping with 
the existing college buildings and surrounding buildings and would not appear overly 
dominant in the streetscene or wider area. The proposal would be significantly stepped 
back from the highway and largely concealed from public view by the existing college 
buildings and mature trees and vegetation situated on all boundaries of the application site 
other than from the public footpath that runs through the site. Whilst the proposed staff 
accommodation buildings in phase A would be visible from the open countryside situated 
to the north of the application site, should planning permission be granted, a condition 
would be imposed to ensure sufficient planting and screening would be provided along the 
northern boundary of the site to conceal the buildings from the landscape. Phase 1 would 
be seen adjacent to the existing car park, MUGA and college buildings in the background 
and the proposed buildings in phase 2 would be seen amongst the existing college 
buildings. 
 
The application site is comprised of a mixture of single and two storey buildings set within 
a large plot. The proposed staff accommodation buildings in phase 1 would be single 
storey, building A in phase 2 would be part two-storey and building C in phase 2 would be 
two-storey, replacing an existing two-storey building. The proposed buildings would have a 
maximum height of 8.61 metres, in keeping with the existing buildings heights and 
floorspaces which are reflective of the size of the existing buildings. 
 
The Landscape Officer has been consulted and following the submission of amended 
plans raised no objection, subject to a condition relating to the submission and approval of 
a landscaping scheme.  
 
Therefore it is considered that the proposal is in keeping with the scale and character of 
the existing college and local area, in compliance with Policy DE2 of the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan and Policy CP29 of the JCS. 
 
The proposal is in keeping with the Alton Town Design Statement in so much as it 
respects the general character of its immediate surroundings. 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties 
 
Policy CP27 of the JCS requires that developments would not have an unacceptable 
impact on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of privacy 
or excessive overshadowing.  Policy CP29 criterion (d) requires development to be 
sympathetic to its setting in terms of scale, height, massing and density, and its 
relationship to adjoining buildings, spaces around buildings and landscape 
features. Paragraph 127 (f) of the NPPF requires development to provide a high level of 
amenity for all new and existing occupants of land and buildings. 
 
Concerns have been raised by representations received that the proposal would impact 
upon neighbour amenity, particularly in terms of an increase in noise and light pollution. 
 
However, it is considered that the proposal would not significantly impact upon the amenity 
of any neighbouring property as the application site is large in size and benefits from 
having no neighbouring properties within significantly close proximity. The nearest 
neighbouring property to the proposed staff accommodation buildings in phase 1 would be 
Howards Farm located approximately 94 metres to the north-east. The nearest 
neighbouring properties to phase 2 would be the properties within Orchard Row which are 
used in association with the college located approximately between 13-20 metres away to 
the north-east. The proposed buildings in both phases 1 and 2 would be predominantly 
single storey other than building C in phase 2 which would replace an existing two storey 
building. The proposed buildings would have a maximum height of 8.61 metres, which 
together with the separation distance would prevent any issues of change in outlook or 
loss of light for any neighbouring property. The proposal also benefits from being 
significantly screened by the existing college buildings and mature trees and vegetation on 
all boundaries of the application site. 
 
Due to the sufficient separation distance and boundary screening, it is considered that the 
proposed windows would not cause an increase in overlooking or a loss in privacy for any 
neighbouring property. 
 
Therefore, the proposal would be sufficiently distanced, orientated and designed so as not 
to have an unacceptable effect on the amenities of the neighbouring properties, in 
particular to their outlook, privacy or available light, in compliance with Policy CP27 and 
Policy CP29 of the JCS. 
 
4. Highway implications 
 
Policy CP31 of the JCS and Policy TR5 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan require that 
regard is had to any impact on the safety and convenience of the public highway. 
 
Concerns have been raised by representations received that the proposal would cause 
highway implications including a significant increase of pressure on the local highway 
network and infrastructure. 
 
Phase 1 would provide staff accommodation with capacity for a further 20 staff members 
to be employed by Treloar College. This element of the proposal would not cause an 
impact on the local highway network as the additional staff would be living on site and not 
using the highway network during peak times. 
 

Page 63



Phase 2 would provide upgraded facilities for the existing students and would provide 
capacity for 20 additional students to attend during the school day dropped off by parents 
or booked travel and would provide 10 additional student residential units who will live on 
site. The development of the Life Skills Centre would require 60 additional staff to be 
employed by Treloar, in which 12 will live on site and the remaining 48 staff would live off-
site, but would not travel at peak periods due to shift patterns. 
 
It is considered that the number of additional vehicle trips from students and staff 
associated with the proposal would not represent a severe impact on the operation of the 
local highway network. 
 
The primary vehicular and pedestrian access is from London Road with a secondary access 
to the site from Howards Lane. This secondary access is currently gated and only used for 
emergency access and it is proposed that this will be used as an access point for up to 10 
vehicle movements in each direction each day for student drop off and pick up. As this is an 
existing access with no accident record, it is considered suitable for the proposed increase 
in use.  
 
There are currently 360 formal spaces with a further 75 informal spaces around the site and 
12 visitor spaces. As 24 of the informal spaces at the site are located in an area of phase 2 
that will be redeveloped, these spaces will be added to the formal parking at the main car 
park to the north of the application site. A parking accumulation survey of the site has shown 
that the existing parking demand peaks at 82% occupancy with the future parking demand 
predicted to peak at 88% occupancy. Therefore, it is considered that sufficient car parking 
capacity is provided.  
 
The County Highway Authority has been consulted and raised no objection subject to a 
condition. 
 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposal would not cause any significant highway 
implications, in compliance with Policy TR5 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan and Policy 
CP31 of the JCS. 
 
5. Drainage implications 
 
Policy CP25 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy seeks to 
protect against flood implications. 
 
Concerns have been raised by representations received that the proposal would cause 
significant drainage implications. 
 
However, EHDC and HCC Drainage Officers have been consulted and following the 
submission of further drainage information raised no objection subject to conditions 
relating to surface and drainage water. 
 
Concern has also been raised by a representation received regarding the proposed 
drainage scheme and issues relating to ownership. This is a civil matter and not 
considered as a material planning consideration. 
 
 
 

Page 64



Therefore, it is considered that the proposal, subject to the imposition and adherence to 
suitable conditions, would not cause any drainage implications, in compliance with Policy 
CP25 of the JCS. 
 
6. Impact on conservation area and adjacent listed buildings 
 
The application site is situated adjacent to the Holybourne Conservation area and located 
close to a number of listed buildings situated to the north-east of the application site. 
 
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 

planning authorities, when considering whether to grant planning permission for 

development which affects a listed building or its setting, to have special regard to the 

desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 

historic interest which it possesses. 

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 

planning authorities, when considering whether to grant planning permission for 

development which affects a Conservation Area, to have special regard to the desirability of 

preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of that area. 

Paragraph 190 of the NPPF states that Local planning authorities should identify and 
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal 
(including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the 
available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this into account when 
considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict 
between the heritage asset's conservation and any aspect of the proposal.  
 
Paragraph 192 of the NPPF states that in determining applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of:  
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and  
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. 
 
Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 
total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.  
 
Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:  
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be exceptional;  
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck 
sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks 
and gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional. 
 
 

Page 65



Saved Policy HE12 of the Local Plan states clearly that development which harms the 
setting of a listed building will not be permitted. Policy HE8 of the East Hampshire District 
Local Plan: Second Review (2006) related to buildings within close proximity to 
Conservation Areas and states that alterations should respect the character of the 
Conservation Area.  Policy CP30 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy requires that proposals respect the historic character of an area. 
 
The Conservation Officer has been consulted and raised no objection as the proposed 
staff accommodation buildings of phase 1 would be located some distance from both the 
conservation area boundary and the listed buildings located to the north-east of the 
application site. The impact to the setting of these designated heritage assets, is therefore 
considered to be negligible in terms of materially affect the significance of such assets. 
With regards to phase 2, these buildings would be sited closer to the western boundary of 
the conservation area and the listed buildings to the north-east. However, it would remain 
visually separated from these heritage assets by the existence of intervening buildings and 
mature landscaping. In principle, it is considered that this would have a negligible impact 
and would preserve the adjacent conservation area and the setting of the listed buildings. 
 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposal would preserve the adjacent conservation 
area and listed buildings, in compliance with the relevant policies of the NPPF and the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Policy CP30 of the JCS and 
Policies HE8 and HE12 of the Local Plan. 
 
7. Ecological implications 
 
Policy CP21 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy requires 
development to maintain, enhance and protect the District’s biodiversity and its 
surrounding environment. 
 
The application is now accompanied by a Bat Survey (J Taylor, September 2019) which 
provides a useful assessment of the status of roosting bats at the site. A series of bat activity 
surveys were carried out during July and August 2019. The residential dwelling was shown 
to support a two common pipistrelle and a single soprano pipistrelle. The horticultural 
building was found to support no bats.  
 
This development will affect bats, which receive strict legal protection under UK law by the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and under EU law by the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (commonly referred to as the Habitats Regulations). 
Where developments affect EPS, permission can be granted unless the development is 
likely to result in a breach of the EU Directive underpinning the Habitats Regulations and is 
unlikely to be granted an EPS licence from Natural England to allow the development to 
proceed under a derogation from the law.   
 
Will the development result in a breach of the EU Directive? 
 
Yes, unmitigated, the development has potential to result in harm to individual bats and 
result in impacts to the favourable conservation status of bat species locally. 
 
Is the development unlikely to be licensed? 
 
An EPS licence can only be granted if the development proposal is able to meet three tests: 

Page 66



1. the consented operation must be for ‘preserving public health or public safety or other 
imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social or economic 
nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the environment’; (Regulation 
53(2)(e))  
 
2. there must be ‘no satisfactory alternative’ (Regulation 53(9)(a)); and  
 
3. the action authorised ‘will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the 
species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range’ (Regulation 
53(9)(b)). 
 
In this instance, the proposed development would result in a significant social benefit to 
the existing college and local community.  
 
The only alternative to the second test is that the college is not extended, which is not an 

option for the proposed development. As possible mitigation measures could be put in 

place it would seem unreasonable to deny the applicant on this point. 

 
In order to assess the development against the third test, there must be sufficient confidence 
that the investigations to date have enabled a robust assessment of bat presence upon 
which to base informed mitigation proposals. It is considered that sufficient survey effort has 
been expended within the active season and that the surveys in 2019 are likely to provide 
an accurate assessment of current bat activity.  
 
Mitigating measures here include the provision of interim bat roosting boxes, the supervised 
removal of roof materials by a licensed bat worker and the provision of permanent integral 
bat box roosting features within the site. This will all occur under a European Protected 
Species Mitigation licence and it will be the responsibility of the applicant and their appointed 
agents to ensure that the mitigation measures are implemented fully. 
 
The County Ecologist has been consulted and following the submission of additional 
information raised no objection subject to a condition. 
 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposal would not cause any ecological implications, 
in compliance with Policy CP21 of the JCS. 
 
8. Energy conservation 
 
Policy CP24 promotes sustainable construction and whilst the Government has withdrawn 
the Code for Sustainable Homes, there remains a requirement to secure 10% of energy 
demand from decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy sources unless it is 
proven that this is not feasible or viable. 
 
No details have been submitted with the application explaining how the proposed 
accommodation would meet this requirement, and as such, should planning permission be 
granted, it would be appropriate to secure such details by way of condition.  
 
Therefore, with a condition imposed, the proposal would be in compliance with Policy 
CP24 of the JCS.  
 
 

Page 67



9. Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
The development includes the provision of new staff accommodation buildings. New 
residential floorspace is subject to a charge under the "Planning Contributions and 
Community Infrastructure Levy"' supplementary planning document. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposal is considered to be acceptable as it would be in scale and character with the 
existing buildings, would not detract from the character and appearance of the local area, 
would preserve the adjacent conservation area and setting of the nearby listed buildings, 
would not have an unacceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties, 
would not cause any ecological or drainage implications and would not have an adverse 
effect on the safety and function of the highway network. As such, the proposal is in 
compliance with the relevant policies of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan, the East 
Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Second Review. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
 PERMISSION subject to the following conditions: 
 
 
 
 
 
1 

Conditions in respect of Outline Application 
 
 
Applications for the approval of the matters referred to herein shall be 
made within a period of three years from the date of this permission.  The 
development to which the permission relates shall be begun not later 
than whichever is the later of the following dates:- 
(i) three years from the date of this permission; or 
(ii) two years from the final approval of the said reserved matters, or, in 
the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved. 
Reason - To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act, 1990. 
 

2 No development shall start on site until plans and particulars showing 
details relating to appearance, landscaping and layout of the development 
shall be submitted to, and approved by the Planning Authority.  These 
details shall comprise the 'reserved matters' and shall be submitted within 
the time constraints referred to in Condition 1 above before any 
development is commenced.  
Reason - To comply with Article 5 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (or any 
Order revoking and re-enacting that Order). 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



3 No development hereby permitted shall commence until a Construction 
Traffic Management Plan (to include details on the daily and total number 
and size of lorries accessing the site, the turning of delivery vehicles and 
lorry routing as well as provisions for removing mud from vehicles) and a 
programme of works has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be implemented 
before the development hereby permitted is commenced and retained 
throughout the duration of construction. 
Reason - In the interests of highway safety. 
 

4 No development shall commence on site until details of a scheme for foul 
and surface water drainage based on sustainable drainage principles and 
an assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the 
development has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority.  Such details should include provision for all surface 
water drainage from parking areas and areas of hardstanding to prevent 
surface water from discharging onto the highway and should be based on 
site investigation and percolation tests.  Surface water run-off should be 
controlled as near to its source as possible through a sustainable 
drainage approach to surface water management (SUDS). The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
before any part of the development is first occupied and shall be retained 
thereafter. 
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for drainage. It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as such details 
need to be taken into account in the construction of the development and 
thus go to the heart of the planning permission. 
Note: The applicant is requested to contact the Council's Drainage 
Consultant as soon as possible to discuss the details required for the 
discharge of the above condition. 
 

5 The proposed hard surface/s shall either be made of porous materials or 
provision shall be made to direct run-off water from the hard surface/s to a 
permeable or porous surface within the site. 
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for surface water drainage and 
avoid discharge of water onto the public highway. 
 

6 No development above slab level shall take place on site until a scheme 
shall be submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority which specifies the provisions to be made for the control of 
noise emanating from all fixed plant associated with the development. 
The noise mitigation scheme shall be implemented and maintained in 
accordance with the approved details and shall not be altered without the 
prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To ensure that the amenity of the area is not detrimentally 
affected by the use of the site.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



7 Development shall proceed in accordance with the bat mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement measures detailed within the Bat Survey 
(J Taylor, September 2019) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Bat mitigation, compensation and enhancement 
features shall be installed as per manufacturers’ instructions and retained 
in perpetuity in a location and condition suited to their intended function. 
Reason: to protect biodiversity in accordance with the Conservation 
Regulations 2017, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, the NERC Act (2006), 
NPPF and with Policy CP21 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy. 
 

8 No development shall start on site until a construction method statement 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, which shall include: 

 A programme of and phasing of demolition (if any) and 
construction work; The provision of long term facilities for 
contractor parking; 

 The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction 
works; 

 Methods and phasing of construction works; 

 Access and egress for plant and machinery; 

 Protection of pedestrian routes during construction; 

 Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction 
material, and plant storage areas; 

 Provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 
development during construction period; and 

 Re-use of on site material and spoil arising from any site clearance 
or demolition work. 

Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with 
the approved method statement. 
Reason - In order that the Local Planning Authority can properly consider 
the effect of the works on the amenity of the locality. 
 

9 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological assessment in 
accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) that has been 
submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority in order to 
recognise, characterise and record any archaeological features and 
deposits that may exist here. The assessment should initially take the 
form trial trenches located within proposed Phases 1-2 in those areas 
located outside the footprints of existing buildings. 
Reason - To assess the extent, nature and date of any archaeological 
deposits that might be present and the impact of the development upon 
these heritage assets. 
 

10 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological mitigation of impact, 
based on the results of the trial trenching (Condition 9), in accordance 
with a Written Scheme of Investigation that has been submitted to and 
approved by the Planning Authority. 
 

Page 70



Reason - To mitigate the effect of the works associated with the 
development upon any heritage assets and to ensure that information 
regarding these heritage assets is preserved by record for future 
generations. 
 

11 Following completion of all archaeological fieldwork a report will be 
produced in accordance with an approved programme submitted by the 
developer and approved in writing by the local planning authority setting 
out and securing appropriate post-excavation assessment, specialist 
analysis and reports, publication and public engagement. 
Reason - To contribute to our knowledge and understanding of our past 
by ensuring that opportunities are taken to capture evidence from the 
historic environment and to make this publicly available. 
 

12 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars: 
 
Application Form  
CIL form Additional Information  
CIL form Assumption of Liability 
Design and Access statement 
 Design and Access Appendix 1 - Plan Identifying Key buildings  
 Design and Access Appendix  2 - Pre application response letter 
 Design and Access Appendix  3 - Site strategic plan 2018-2028 
 Design and Access Appendix  4 - Visual Impact Assessment  
 Design and Access Appendix 5 - SA20 Draft East Hants Local Plan  
 Design and Access Appendix  6 - Heritage Impact Assessment 
Transport Assessment 
Ecological Appraisal 
Archaeological Desk Based Assessment  
Masterplan Flood Risk Statement 19114-FR01-V3 
Energy Statement - New Staff Block  
Breeam Pre- Assessment - New staff Accommodation block  
External lighting statement 
External lighting calculation layout plan 
Bat Survey Report 
Bat Survey (J Taylor, September 2019) 
Tree Report 
18043 P-01 A- Site Location plan  Wider context 
18043 P 02 A Site Location plan 
18043 P-03A - Existing Block plan  
18043 P-04C- Masterplan 
18043 P-10 - Existing and proposed section AA 
18043 P-11 - Existing and proposed section BB 
L-100- Landscape Plan 
18043 P-21 - Proposed plan  
18043 P-22 - Proposed Roof Plan  
18043 P-23 - Illustrative Site layout 
18043 P-31 - Proposed elevations building A  
18043 P-32 - Proposed elevations building B 
18043 P-33 - Coloured proposed elevations Building A 

Page 71



18043 P-35 - Proposed sections 
L-100 P01 Landscape General Arrangement Plan 
18043 P 19 Existing plan accommodation building 
18043 P 20 Proposed block plan accommodation building 
18043 P21 Proposed plan 
18043 P40- Parameter plan access 
18043 P24 Illustrative materials  
Proposed SW Drainage Strategy Offsite Connection Works (drwg no: 
TREJUBB-XX-XX-DR-C-0502 P3) 
19114 TRE JUBB XX-XX-DR-C-0501 P1 Proposed surface water 

drainage strategy 

SA PHASE1_3-5ls (Microdrainage calculations_date:29/1/2020) 

TSA PHASE2 Cascade_3-5ls (Microdrainage 
calculations_date:30/1/2020) 
Long Term Aspirational Masterplan (drwg no: 18043 P-04 REV B) 
Additional drainage information submitted on 4/10/19, 18/11/19, 3/1/20 
and 30/1/20 
Additional highway information submitted on 14/6/19 
Micro Drainage data Phase 1 By Jubb  13/11/2019 Micro Drainage data 

Phase 2 By Jubb  03/01/2020 

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development 

 
 
 
13 

Conditions in respect of Full Application 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this planning permission. 
Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 
 

14 Notwithstanding any indication of materials that may have been given in 
the application or in the absence of such information, no development 
above slab level shall take place on site until samples / details including 
manufacturers details of all the materials to be used for external facing 
and roofing for the development hereby approved have been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
Reason - To ensure that the materials used in the construction of the 
approved development harmonise with the surroundings. 
 

15 The development hereby approved shall not be commenced until a fully 
detailed landscape and planting scheme including species, sizes and 
plant numbers for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
 

Page 72



The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
and in accordance with the recommendations of the appropriate British 
Standards or other recognised codes of good practice.  These works shall 
be carried out in the first planting season after practical completion or 
first occupation of the development, whichever is earlier, unless 
otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, are 
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be 
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of species, size 
and number as originally approved unless a suitable alternative species 
are otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and to 
enable proper consideration to be given to the impact of the proposed 
development on existing trees. 
 

16 No development above slab level shall take place on site until a scheme 

has been submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning 

Authority to demonstrate that the built development hereby permitted 

incorporates measures that provides at least 10% of energy demand from 

decentralised and renewable or low carbon energy sources.  

Before any part of the development is first occupied a verification report 

and completion certificate shall be submitted in writing to the Local 

Planning Authority confirming that the built development hereby permitted 

has been constructed in accordance with the approved scheme.  

The developer shall nominate a competent person for the purpose of 

assessing and providing the above required report and certificate to 

confirm that the completed works incorporate such measures as to 

provide these requirements.  The measures shall thereafter be retained 

and maintained to the agreed specification for the lifetime of the 

development.  

Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates necessary 
mitigation and adaptation measures with regard to climate change.  It is 
considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as 
these details relate to the construction of the development and thus go to 
the heart of the planning permission. 
 

17 No development hereby permitted shall commence until a Construction 
Traffic Management Plan (to include details on the daily and total number 
and size of lorries accessing the site, the turning of delivery vehicles and 
lorry routing as well as provisions for removing mud from vehicles) and a 
programme of works has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be implemented 
before the development hereby permitted is commenced and retained 
throughout the duration of construction. 
Reason - In the interests of highway safety. 
 
 
 

Page 73



18 No development shall commence on site until details of a scheme for foul 
and surface water drainage based on sustainable drainage principles and 
an assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the 
development has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority.  Such details should include provision for all surface 
water drainage from parking areas and areas of hardstanding to prevent 
surface water from discharging onto the highway and should be based on 
site investigation and percolation tests.  Surface water run-off should be 
controlled as near to its source as possible through a sustainable 
drainage approach to surface water management (SUDS). The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
before any part of the development is first occupied and shall be retained 
thereafter. 
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for drainage. It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as such details 
need to be taken into account in the construction of the development and 
thus go to the heart of the planning permission. 
Note: The applicant is requested to contact the Council's Drainage 
Consultant as soon as possible to discuss the details required for the 
discharge of the above condition. 
 

19 The proposed hard surface/s shall either be made of porous materials or 
provision shall be made to direct run-off water from the hard surface/s to a 
permeable or porous surface within the site. 
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for surface water drainage and 
avoid discharge of water onto the public highway. 
 

20 No development above slab level shall take place on site until a scheme 
shall be submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority which specifies the provisions to be made for the control of 
noise emanating from all fixed plant associated with the development. 
The noise mitigation scheme shall be implemented and maintained in 
accordance with the approved details and shall not be altered without the 
prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To ensure that the amenity of the area is not detrimentally 
affected by the use of the site.  
 

21 Development shall proceed in accordance with the bat mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement measures detailed within the Bat Survey 
(J Taylor, September 2019) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Bat mitigation, compensation and enhancement 
features shall be installed as per manufacturers’ instructions and retained 
in perpetuity in a location and condition suited to their intended function. 
Reason - to protect biodiversity in accordance with the Conservation 
Regulations 2017, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, the NERC Act (2006), 
NPPF and with Policy CP21 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy. 
 

22 No development shall start on site until a construction method statement 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, which shall include: 

Page 74



 A programme of and phasing of demolition (if any) and 
construction work; The provision of long term facilities for 
contractor parking; 

 The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction 
works; 

 Methods and phasing of construction works; 

 Access and egress for plant and machinery; 

 Protection of pedestrian routes during construction; 

 Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction 
material, and plant storage areas; 

 Provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 
development during construction period; and 

 Re-use of on site material and spoil arising from any site clearance 
or demolition work. 

Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with 
the approved method statement. 
Reason - In order that the Local Planning Authority can properly consider 
the effect of the works on the amenity of the locality. 
 

23 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological assessment in 
accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) that has been 
submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority in order to 
recognise, characterise and record any archaeological features and 
deposits that may exist here. The assessment should initially take the 
form trial trenches located within proposed Phases 1-2 in those areas 
located outside the footprints of existing buildings. 
Reason: To assess the extent, nature and date of any archaeological 
deposits that might be present and the impact of the development upon 
these heritage assets. 
 

24 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological mitigation of impact, 
based on the results of the trial trenching (Condition 23), in accordance 
with a Written Scheme of Investigation that has been submitted to and 
approved by the Planning Authority. 
Reason - To mitigate the effect of the works associated with the 
development upon any heritage assets and to ensure that information 
regarding these heritage assets is preserved by record for future 
generations. 
 

25 Following completion of all archaeological fieldwork a report will be 
produced in accordance with an approved programme submitted by the 
developer and approved in writing by the local planning authority setting 
out and securing appropriate post-excavation assessment, specialist 
analysis and reports, publication and public engagement. 
Reason - To contribute to our knowledge and understanding of our past 
by ensuring that opportunities are taken to capture evidence from the 
historic environment and to make this publicly available. 
 
 

Page 75



26 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars: 
 
Application Form  
CIL form Additional Information  
CIL form Assumption of Liability 
Design and Access statement 
 Design and Access Appendix 1 - Plan Identifying Key buildings  
 Design and Access Appendix  2 - Pre application response letter 
 Design and Access Appendix  3 - Site strategic plan 2018-2028 
 Design and Access Appendix  4 - Visual Impact Assessment  
 Design and Access Appendix 5 - SA20 Draft East Hants Local Plan  
 Design and Access Appendix  6 - Heritage Impact Assessment 
Transport Assessment 
Ecological Appraisal 
Archaeological Desk Based Assessment  
Masterplan Flood Risk Statement 19114-FR01-V3 
Energy Statement - New Staff Block  
Breeam Pre- Assessment - New staff Accommodation block  
External lighting statement 
External lighting calculation layout plan 
Bat Survey Report 
Bat Survey (J Taylor, September 2019) 
Tree Report 
18043 P-01 A- Site Location plan  Wider context 
18043 P 02 A Site Location plan 
18043 P-03A - Existing Block plan  
18043 P-04C- Masterplan 
18043 P-10 - Existing and proposed section AA 
18043 P-11 - Existing and proposed section BB 
L-100- Landscape Plan 
18043 P-21 - Proposed plan  
18043 P-22 - Proposed Roof Plan  
18043 P-23 - Illustrative Site layout 
18043 P-31 - Proposed elevations building A  
18043 P-32 - Proposed elevations building B 
18043 P-33 - Coloured proposed elevations Building A 
18043 P-35 - Proposed sections 
L-100 P01 Landscape General Arrangement Plan 
18043 P 19 Existing plan accommodation building 
18043 P 20 Proposed block plan accommodation building 
18043 P21 Proposed plan 
18043 P40- Parameter plan access 
18043 P24 Illustrative materials  
Proposed SW Drainage Strategy Offsite Connection Works (drwg no: 
TREJUBB-XX-XX-DR-C-0502 P3) 
19114 TRE JUBB XX-XX-DR-C-0501 P1 Proposed surface water 

drainage strategy 

SA PHASE1_3-5ls (Microdrainage calculations_date:29/1/2020) 

TSA PHASE2 Cascade_3-5ls (Microdrainage 

Page 76



calculations_date:30/1/2020) 
Long Term Aspirational Masterplan (drwg no: 18043 P-04 REV B) 
Additional drainage information submitted on 4/10/19, 18/11/19, 3/1/20 
and 30/1/20 
Additional highway information submitted on 14/6/19 
Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development 
 

 
 
Informative Notes to Applicant: 
 
 
1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 

District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and 
works with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner 
focused on solutions by: 
offering a pre-application advice service, 
 
updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing 
of their application and where possible suggesting solutions. 
 
In this instance the applicant was updated of any issues after the initial 
site visit. 
 
 

2 The proposed development referred to in this planning permission is a 
chargeable development liable to pay Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) under Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008 and the CIL Regulations (as 
amended) 
 
In accordance with CIL Regulation 65, East Hampshire District Council 
will issue a Liability Notice in respect of the chargeable development 
referred to in this planning permission as soon as practicable after the 
day on which planning permission first permits development.  Further 
details on the Council’s CIL process can be found on the East Hampshire 
District Council website: 
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Planning%20C
ontributions%20and%20CIL%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Docum
ent%20-%20April%202016.pdf 
 

3 All development shall be stopped immediately in the event that 
contamination not previously identified is found to be present on the 
development site and details of the contamination shall be reported 
immediately in writing to Environmental Health.  An investigation and risk 
assessment should then be undertaken by competent persons and in 
accordance with ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’.  A written report of the findings, to include a 
remediation statement, should then be forwarded to the Local Planning 
Authority for appraisal.  Following completion of remedial measures a 
verification report should be prepared that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out.   

Page 77



It is recommended that no part of the development be occupied until all 
remedial and validation works are complete and a Completion Certificate 
has been issued.  This would ensure that no future investigation is 
required under Part2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 

4 Environmental Health recommends developers follow the risk 
management framework provided in 'CLR 11 ? Model procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination? when dealing with land affected by 
contamination. A leaflet entitled "Development on Potentially 
Contaminated Land" is available as a download on the following East 
Hampshire District Council website 
 
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/ContaminatedL
andGuide.pdf 
 
and which contains a template for a Completion Statement. This should 
be completed by the applicant at the end of the development, regardless 
of whether contamination was investigated/discovered on site. Approval 
of this statement will enable discharge of the unsuspected contamination 
condition. 
 

5 Suitable signage should be erected warning contractors and delivery 
drivers of the presence of walkers on the Footpath and of the 
requirement to give way. 
 
Nothing connected with the development or its future use should have an 
adverse effect on the right of way, which must remain available for public 
use at all times.  
  
Any damage caused to the surface of the public right of way by 
construction traffic will be required to be restored to the satisfaction of 
the Countryside Area Access Manager on the completion of the build.  
  
There must be no surface alterations to a public right of way without the 
consent of Hampshire County Council as Highway Authority.  To carry 
out any such works without this permission would constitute an offence 
under s131 Highways Act 1980.  
  
No builders or contractor's vehicles, machinery, equipment, materials, 
scaffolding or anything associated with the works should be left on or 
near the footpath so as to obstruct, hinder or provide a hazard to 
walkers.  
 

6 The following recommendations are advisory only and do not form part of 
any current legal requirement of this Authority. 
 
Access for High-reach Appliances 
 
High reach appliances currently operated by the HFRS exceed the 
maximum requirements given in Section 17 of the Approved Document 
B.   

Page 78



When considering high rise buildings these variations should be 
considered as additions and incorporated as follows.  Structures such as 
bridges, which a high-reach appliance may need to cross should have a 
maximum carrying capacity of 26 tonnes.  Where the operation of a high 
reach vehicle is envisaged, a road or hard standing is required 6m wide.  
In addition, the road or hard standing needs to be positioned so that its 
nearer edge is not less than 3m from the face of the building. 
 
Water Supplies 
 
Additional water supplies for fire fighting may be necessary.  You should 
contact the Community Response Support, Hampshire Fire and Rescue 
Headquarters, Leigh Road, Eastleight, SO50 9SJ 
(risk.information@hantsfire.gov.uk) to discuss your proposals. 
 
Fire Protection 
 
HFRS would strongly recommend that consideration is given to 
installation of an Automatic Water Fire Suppression systems (AWFSS) to 
promote life safety and property protection within the premises. 
 
HFRS is fully committed to promoting Fire Protection Systems for both 
business and domestic premises.  Support is offered to assist all in 
achieving a reduction of loss of life and the impact of fire on the wider 
community. 
 
Testing of Fire Safety Systems 
 
HFRS strongly recommends that, upon commissioning, all fire safety 
systems are fully justified, fully tested and shown to be working as 
designed.  Thereafter, their effectiveness should be reconfirmed 
periodically throughout their working lifecycles. 
 
Fire-fighting and the Environment 
 
Should a serious unsuppressed fire occur on the premises, the water 
environment may become polluted with 'fire water run-off' that may 
include foam.  The Service will liaise with the Environment Agency at any 
incident where they are in attendance and under certain circumstances, 
where there is a serious risk to the environment,a 'controlled burn' may 
take place.  This of course could lead to the total loss of the building and 
its contents. 
 
Premises' occupiers have a duty to prevent and mitigate damage to the 
water environment from 'fire water run off' and other spillages. 
 
Timber-framed Buildings 
 
These types of buildings are particularly vulnerable to severe fire 
damage and fire spread during the construction phase. 
 

Page 79



The UK Timber Frame Association publication '16 Steps to Fire Safety on 
Timber Frame Construction Sites' provides guidance on this issue and is 
available from: 
 
https://ttf.co.uk/download/16-steps-fire-safety-timber-frame-construction-
sites/ 
 
This guidance should be read in conjunction with the 'Joint Code of 
Practice on the Protection from Fire Construction Sites and Buildings 
Undergoing Renovation', published by the Construction Confederation 
and The Fire Protection Association (Sixth Edition,ISBN 1-902790-33-2) 
 
Copies of the 'Joint Codes of Practice' and useful sister publication, 
'Construction Site Fire Prevention Checklist' (Second edition, ISBN 1-
902790-32-4), are available for purchase from the Fire Protection 
Association: (www.thefpa.co.uk) and from the Construction Industry 
Press: 
 
(Publications for Construction Professionals and Builders I CIP Books) 
 

7 The application indicates that surface waters will NOT be discharged to 
the public network and as such Thames Water has no objection, 
however approval should be sought from the Lead Local Flood Authority. 
Should the applicant subsequently seek a connection to discharge 
surface water into the public network in the future then we would 
consider this to be a material change to the proposal, which would 
require an amendment to the application at which point we would need to 
review our position. 
 
There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If you're 
planning significant work near our sewers, it's important that you 
minimize the risk of damage. We'll need to check that your development 
doesn't limit repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit the services we 
provide in any other way. The applicant is advised to read our guide 
working near or diverting our pipes. 
https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Planning-
your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes. 
 
'We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer.  
Groundwater discharges typically result from construction site 
dewatering, deep excavations, basement infiltration, borehole 
installation, testing and site remediation. Any discharge made without a 
permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the 
provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991.  Should the Local Planning 
Authority be minded to approve the planning application, Thames Water 
would like  the following informative attached to the planning permission: 
‘A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be 
required for discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge 
made without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution 
under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991.  

Page 80



We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer.  
Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames Water's Risk 
Management Team by telephoning 02035779483 or by emailing 
wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. Application forms should be 
completed on line via www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality.' 
 

 
 
CASE OFFICER: Lisa Gill 01730 234235 
——————————————————————————————————————— 
  

Page 81



SECTION 1   Item 2   Treloar College, Powell Drive, Holybourne, Alton, GU34 4GL 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Block plan showing Phase 1 – Full Application and Phase 2 – Outline Application 

 

 

  

Page 82



SECTION 1   Item 2    Treloar College, Powell Drive, Holybourne, Alton, GU34 4GL 
 

 

 

Proposed front elevation (3) Building A 

 

 

Proposed side elevation (1) Building A and B 

 

 

Proposed side elevation (4) Building A  

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Page 85



Item No.: 03 
 

The information, recommendations, and advice contained in this report are correct as at 
the date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee 
meeting. Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in 
advance of the final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any 
changes or necessary updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting. 

 
 

PROPOSAL Retrospective application for a wall adjacent to a highway, with 
alterations to include stainless steel railings and gate (as amended 
by plans received 2 March 2020). 

LOCATION: Hill View, 27A Southdown Road, Horndean, Waterlooville, PO8 0ET 

REFERENCE : 22321/016 PARISH: Horndean 

APPLICANT: Mr Denton 

CONSULTATION EXPIRY  17 January 2020 

APPLICATION EXPIRY : 14 February 2020 

COUNCILLOR: Councillor T Denton 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION 

 

This application is included on the agenda as it has been submitted by a District 
Councillor. 
 
The Monitoring Officer confirms that this proposal has been dealt with in 
accordance with the Council's procedures for handling planning proposals 
submitted by or on behalf of Council Members. 
 
Site and Development 
 
Hill View is a detached dwelling set within a spacious plot which is located within the 
settlement policy boundary for Horndean.  There is no defined character to the dwellings in 
this area of Southdown Road, they vary in both scale and appearance.  However, the 
frontages are predominately formed by hedgerows and soft landscaping which forms a 
strong rural character.  Southdown Road is an unadopted road, however, the area of 
Southdown Road to the front of Hill View is a public footpath. 
 
Permission was sought and dismissed at appeal for the retention of a 1.9 metre boundary 
wall, abutting the highway, and gates which have been erected 0.4 metres from the edge 
of the road. 
 
The walls have now been reduced to 1 metre so that they no longer require planning 
permission. The wooden gates refused by 22321/015 remain in place. 
 
This current application seeks the provision of 0.9 metre high railings on top of the walls, 
and the provision of a 1.8 metre open rail electric gate, in place of the solid wooden 1.8 
metre gate.   
 

Page 86



The plans have been amended to show a change in colour of the render of the dwarf 
walls, and the provision of landscaping behind the dwarf walls.  
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
22321/008 - Detached double garage - Permission 1990. 
22321/014 - Retention of front boundary wall and gates - Refused 20/11/2018. 
22321/015 - Retention of front boundary wall (as amplified by plan received, 24 May 2019) 
Appealed against non-determination - Appeal Dismissed 24/09/2019. 
 
Development Plan Policies and Proposals 
 
The Draft version of the Local Plan (2017 -2036) was published under Regulation 18 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public 
consultation from 5 February to 19 March 2019. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2019) sets out 
the circumstances when emerging planning policies may be given weight in determining 
planning applications. Based on the current early stage of preparation, the draft Local Plan 
policies are currently afforded no weight. Following the close of the public consultation 
depending on the level of objection received on individual policies they may begin to carry 
limited weight. 
 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014) 
 
CP1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
CP2 -  Spatial Strategy 
CP29 -  Design 
CP27 -  Pollution 
CP31 -  Transport 
 
Residential Extensions & Householder Development SPD July 2018  
 
 
Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) February 2019 
 
In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly 
relevant to the consideration of the development; 
 
12. Achieving well-designed places  
 
Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments 
 
EHDC Landscape Officer - No objection. 
 
HCC  Highway Authority - No objection (no conditions) 
 
HCC Rights of Way officer (Access Devt Team) - No objection, subject to informative note. 

Horndean Parish Council - Objection - as there are no significant differences between this 

and previous applications which have summarily been refused. 

Page 87



Representations 
 
Seven letters of objection have been received raising the following concerns: 
 
a)  Clear explanation of where the parking area is proposed should be given; 

Officer note: the application does not seek the provision of additional parking. 
b)  the design, appearance and materials to be used in the construction of the wall and 

gates are out of keeping with other properties in the vicinity and will have a detrimental 
impact on the surrounding rural nature of the area; 

c)  it appears that a company, rather than an individual has submitted this application; 
Officer note: who the applicant is, is not a material planning consideration. 

d)  the remaining bright white wall, the vast, polished-wood gates and the proposed steel 
railings would stick out like a sore thumb in this green, semi-rural environment; 
Officer note: the colour of the render will be changed, and the wooden gates would be 
removed as part of the proposal; 

e) overbearing - too high, and visually out of keeping with its surroundings, and,  
f)  a look-alike prison boundary has no place in this road. 
 
A number of representations questioned whether the property was now being used as a 
business, and raised concerns regarding the noise disturbance from the site caused by 
cars entering and leaving the site.  Neither of these issues related to the proposal which is 
currently being sought, and as such, these concerns cannot be taking into consideration in 
the determination of this proposal. 
 
Determining Issues 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Impact upon character and appearance of the area 
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties 
4. Highway implications 
 

 
Planning Considerations  
 
1. Principle of development 
 
Policy CP1 of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) applies to development within the Settlement 
Policy Boundary (SPB) where there is a presumption in favour of development.  Policy 
CP2 identifies a sustainable hierarchy of SPB and sets out five levels of sustainable 
settlements.  The application site falls within one of the identified SPB, and given that the 
proposal is for the alteration of an existing residential property, the principle of the 
development is acceptable, subject to all other relevant planning considerations and 
policies which will be discussed below. 
 
2. Impact upon character and appearance of the area 
 
NPPF at Section 12 paragraph 127 sets out that developments; 
 
(a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but 
over the lifetime of the development; 
 

Page 88



(b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping; 
 
(c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change (such as increased densities). 
 
Policy CP29 of the JCS seeks to ensure that development proposals are of exemplary 
standards of design and architecture, with a high quality external appearance that respect 
the area's particular characteristics.  It requires that developments are sympathetic to their 
setting in terms of scale, height and massing, and their relationship to adjoining buildings, 
spaces around buildings, and that developments should make a positive contribution to the 
overall appearance of the area. 
 
The Residential Extensions and Householder Development Supplementary Planning 
Document sets out that boundary treatments should generally be of a style typical of the 
immediate locality. 
 
At the end of this area of Southdown Road there is a dwelling which features entrance 
gates and return dark brick walls, and there are a couple of frontages when approaching 
the site from the south front boundaries formed by low walls with railings, or fence panels 
above.  The predominant character of the frontages in this area of Southdown Road is 
hedgerows.  
 
The scheme which was dismissed at appeal sought the retention of 1.9 metre high walls 
and gates.  The Inspector concluded 'they are solid in construction and the walls are 
rendered and painted a light colour, therefore are at odds with the soft and verdant 
characteristics of the boundary treatments in the area.  The position, height and 
appearance of the walls and gates is such that they are an incongruous feature which 
visually dominate the vista when viewed from either way along Southdown Road. Thus, 
they have a significant adverse impact upon the character and appearance of the area.' 
 
The current proposal seeks to provide 0.9 metre high railings above the dwarf walls and 
gates similar in appearance to the railings.  The details submitted with the proposal state 
that the railings and gate would be galvanized steel, however, suitable materials and 
finishes could be secured by way of condition.  The dwarf walls which are currently stark 
white in colour which detracts from the visual amenity of the area, would be rendered in a 
muted colour and landscaping is shown behind the dwarf walls.  The railings and gate 
would not be a solid feature in the streetscene.  Their open nature would provide visual 
gaps so that the landscaping and dwelling beyond the railings gates would be seen, similar 
to other boundary treatments within the area. Consequently, whilst the position and height 
of the development would be the same as the previous scheme, subject to a condition to 
secure suitable materials and finishes to the railings and gate, on balance the proposal 
would not have a harmful impact on the character of the local area, in accordance with 
policy CP29 of the JCS, the Residential Extensions Householder Development 
Supplementary Planning Document, and Section 12 of the NPPF. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties 
 
Policy CP27 of the JCS requires that developments would not have an unacceptable 
impact on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of privacy 
or excessive overshadowing.   
 
The application has been the subject of a site visit where the impact on all neighbouring 
properties has been assessed.  The front boundary treatment would not cause any 
significant impact on the amenity of adjacent properties, primarily because it would be 
approximately 30 metres from the front elevation of the adjoining property. As such, would 
be sufficiently distanced so as not to have any impact on their amenities, in accordance 
with policy CP27 of the JCS. 
 
Concerns have been raised through representations regarding increased parking areas at 
the site, noise from high performance vehicles entering and leaving the site, and a 
business being run from the site.  However, the current application does not include any of 
these elements, and as such, these concerns cannot be taken in to consideration. 
 

4. Highway implications 
 
The County Highway Authority is satisfied that the construction of the front boundary would 
have no direct or indirect impact upon the operation or safety of the local highway network. 
 
Response to Parish Council Comments 
 
The Parish Council has objected to the proposal stating that the proposal is not different 
from refused scheme 22321/015.  However, as discussed above the proposal is 
significantly different from the refused scheme. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Subject to conditions, on balance, the front boundary treatment would not be out of 
keeping with the rural character and appearance of the area, nor would it harm the 
amenities of the surrounding dwellings, or cause conflict with highway users. As such, the 
proposal complies with Policy CP29 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy, design advice in the East Hampshire District: Residential Extensions and 
Householder Development Supplementary Planning Document, as well as Government 
advice in paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
RECOMMENDATION  PERMISSION for the following reason: 
 
 
1 Within four months of the date of this decision, the works hereby 

approved shall be substantially completed in accordance with the 
proposed details shown on drawing 8801-50-Rev A. 
Reason - In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality. 
 

2 Notwithstanding any indication of materials that may have been given in 
the application, the rendered walls on the front boundary of the site shall 
be rendered or painted in a dark colour, the details of which shall first be 
submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority within two months 

Page 90



of the date of this decision.  Within one month of the agreement of the 
details, the walls shall be rendered or painted in accordance with the 
approved details. 
Reason - To ensure that the materials used in the construction of the 
approved development harmonise with the surroundings. 
 

3 Notwithstanding any indication that may have been given in the 
application within two months of the decision a fully detailed landscape 
and planting scheme for the front boundary of the site has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The works 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and in 
accordance with the recommendations of the appropriate British 
Standards or other recognised codes of good practice.  These works shall 
be carried out in the first planting season after practical completion or 
first occupation of the development, whichever is earlier, unless 
otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, are 
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be 
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of species, size 
and number as originally approved unless a suitable alternative species 
are otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality. 
 

4 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars: 
 
Application form 
Drg no. 8801 50 Rev A - all details 
 
Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development 
 

 
 

Informative Notes to Applicant: 
 
 

1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 
District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and 
works with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner 
focused on solutions by: 

 offering a pre-application advice service, 

 
 updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the 

processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions. 

 
In this instance the applicant was updated of any issues after the initial 
site visit, and was given the opportunity to submit amended plans to 
address concerns which had been raised. 
 

CASE OFFICER: Susie Ralston 01730 234242 

Page 91



——————————————————————————————————————— 

SECTION 1   Item 3   Hill View, 27A Southdown Road, Horndean,  PO8 0ET 

 

 

Existing street elevation 

Proposed street elevation 

 

 

 

Site plan 

Page 92



 

 

 

Page 93



Item No.: 4 
 

The information, recommendations, and advice contained in this report are correct as at 
the date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee 
meeting. Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in 
advance of the final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any 
changes or necessary updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting. 

 

PROPOSAL Conversion of garage to habitable accommodation 

LOCATION: 21 Columbine Way, Clanfield, Waterlooville, PO8 0WJ 

REFERENCE : 58574 PARISH: Clanfield 

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Hatter 

CONSULTATION EXPIRY : 25 February 2020 

APPLICATION EXPIRY : 20 March 2020 

COUNCILLORS: Councillor A S Agate, Councillor K Moon 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION 

 

This application is included on the agenda as it has been submitted by a District 
Councillor. 
 
The Monitoring Officer confirms that this proposal has been dealt with in 
accordance with the Council's procedures for handling planning proposals 
submitted by or on behalf of Council Members and Staff. 
 
Site and Development 
 
21 Columbine Way is a two storey detached dwelling with integral garage, and is situated 
within the recently constructed residential development at St. James Place. The dwelling 
has two parking spaces to the front with an additional area of front garden. The site is located 
within the Settlement Policy Boundary for Clanfield. Existing building materials include red 
facing brickwork and concrete roof tiles.   
 
Permission is sought to convert the existing integral garage at the front of the dwelling into 
living accommodation, replacing the existing garage door with a window. Given the loss of 
one parking space as a result of the garage conversion the proposal seeks to provide an 
additional space at the front of the dwelling within the front garden area. The proposed 
materials would include a red facing brickwork, and white UPVC window to match the 
existing.  
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
28463/002  207 dwellings and provision of open space, sports pitches, bowling green, 

pavilion and allotments, with associated access, parking, access roads, 
footpaths/cycle paths, landscaping and works, with demolition of existing 
buildings and structures (as amended by plans received 30 September 2014) -   
Permission, 5/03/2015   

Page 94



Development Plan Policies and Proposals 
 
The Draft version of the Local Plan (2017 -2036) was published under Regulation 18 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public 
consultation from 5 February to 19 March 2019.  
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2019) sets out the circumstances when emerging planning 
policies may be given weight in determining planning applications. Based on the current 
early stage of preparation, the draft Local Plan policies are currently afforded no weight.  
 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014) 
CP1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
CP2 -  Spatial Strategy 

CP27 -  Pollution 

CP29 -  Design 

CP31 -  Transport 
 

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006) 

HE2 - Alterations and Extensions to Buildings 
 

Residential Extensions & Householder Development SPD July 2018  
Vehicle Parking Standards SPD July 2018 

 
 
Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) June 2019 
 
In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development; 
 
12. Achieving well-designed places  
 
 
Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments 
 
Clanfield Parish Council - Object to this application as there are concerns with the way the 
parking is arranged on the plan - the reduction of parking provision causing vehicles to park 
on the road and the parking standard document of 2018 states that there should be 3 spaces 
for 4 bedroom properties, it is also considered that this would set a precedent and be 
detrimental to the street scene. 
 
 
Representations 
 

3 representations received - all providing letters of support:- 
 

a) Would not negatively impact on the neighbourhood; 
b) would be in keeping with the rest of the estate 

 
 
 

Page 95



Determining Issues 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Impact upon scale and character of dwelling and local area 
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties 
4. Highway implications 
 
 
Planning Considerations  
 
1. Principle of development 
 
Policy CP1 of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) applies to development within the Settlement 
Policy Boundary (SPB) where there is a presumption in favour of development.  Policy CP2 
identifies a sustainable hierarchy of SPB and sets out five levels of sustainable settlements.  
The application site falls within one of the identified SPB, and given that the proposal is for 
the alternation of an existing residential property, the principle of the development is 
acceptable, subject to all other relevant planning considerations and policies which will be 
discussed below.   
 
2. Impact upon scale and character of dwelling and local area 
 
Policy HE2 of the Local Plan requires that alterations and extensions to buildings are 
designed to take account of the design, scale, and character of the original building, its plot 
size and its setting.  
 
Policy CP29 of the JCS seeks to ensure that development proposals are of exemplary 
standards of design and architecture, with a high quality external appearance that respect 
the area's particular characteristics.  It requires that developments are sympathetic to their 
setting in terms of scale, height and massing, and their relationship to adjoining buildings, 
spaces around buildings, and that developments should make a positive contribution to the 
overall appearance of the area. 
 
The application seeks the alteration of an existing dwelling by removing the existing garage 
door within the western elevation and replacing with a window in order to convert the existing 
integral garage into a habitable room. The addition of the window would be sympathetic to 
the building in terms of its suitable design and proposed materials.  
 
Having regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with policy CP29 of the JCS, policy 
HE2 of the Local Plan and the Residential Extensions & Householder Development SPD. 
 
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties 
 
Policy CP27 of the JCS requires that developments would not have an unacceptable impact 
on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of privacy or 
excessive overshadowing.  Policy CP29 criterion (d) requires development to be 
sympathetic to its setting in terms of scale, height, massing and density, and its relationship 
to adjoining buildings, spaces around buildings and landscape features. Paragraph 127 (f) 
of the NPPF requires development to provide a high level of amenity for all new and existing 
occupants of land and buildings. 
 

Page 96



Whilst the habitable floorspace at the dwellinghouse would increase as a result of the 
proposal, the footprint of the dwellinghouse remains the same.  Given the existing ground 
floor windows within the western elevation, the addition of another window within the same 
elevation at ground floor level is unlikely to cause an increase in overlooking or loss of 
privacy compared to that which already exists. 
 
The proposal would be sufficiently distanced, orientated and designed so as not to have an 
unacceptable effect on the amenities of the neighbouring properties, in particular to their 
outlook, privacy or available light. Having regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with 
the policies CP27 and CP29 of the JCS and paragraph 127 (f) of the NPPF.  
 
4. Highway implications 
 
Policy CP31 of the JCS seeks to ensure that there is sufficient parking. The Council’s Vehicle 
Parking Standards SPD requires a four bedroomed dwelling to have provision for three 
parking spaces, which is currently the situation at the site. The proposal would see the loss 
of the garage as a parking space, and to address the shortfall the proposal would provide 
an additional parking space on the front area of garden to achieve a policy compliant third 
parking space. It would be reasonable to impose a condition to ensure that this arrangement 
is implemented to ensure that the provision for parking is satisfactory for the four bedroomed 
dwelling.  
 
With the relevant condition imposed the proposal would be in compliance with policy CP31 
of the JCS and the Council's Vehicle Parking Standards SPD. 
 
 
Response to Parish/Town Council Comments 
 
With regard to the comments raised in respect of the parking provision for a four bedroomed 
property, this has been addressed within part 4 of the report above and recommends a 
planning condition to ensure that parking provision is policy compliant. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposal is acceptable as it would be in scale and character with the dwelling, would 
not detract from the character and appearance of the area, would not have an unacceptable 
impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties and would not have an adverse effect 
on the safety and function of the highway network. As such, the proposal is in compliance 
with the relevant policies of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review, the Residential Extensions & 
Householder Development SPD, the Vehicle Parking Standards SPD, and paragraph 127 
(f) of the NPPF. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION  PERMISSION subject to the following conditions: 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 

of three years from the date of this planning permission. 
Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 

Page 97



 
2 The external materials to be used shall match, as closely as possible, in 

type, colour, and texture those of the existing building unless details of 
other suitable materials are submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
Reason - To ensure that a harmonious visual relationship is achieved 
between the new and the existing developments. 
 

3 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a 
minimum of three car parking spaces have been provided within the 
curtilage of the site, in accordance with the approved details. These three 
parking spaces shall thereafter be maintained and kept available at all 
times. 
Reason - To ensure the adequate provision of on site parking for the 
purpose of highway safety. 
 

4 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars: 
 
Application form 
Planning statement 
Location plan 
Block plan 
Block plan showing garage 
Existing and proposed floor and elevations 
 
Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development. 
 

 
 

Informative Notes to Applicant: 
 
 

1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 
District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and works 
with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner focused on 
solutions by: 

c) offering a pre-application advice service, 
 
d) updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the 

processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions. 

 

In this instance was the application was acceptable as submitted and no 
further assistance was required. 

 
 

 

CASE OFFICER: Ashton Carruthers 01730 234260 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Page 98



SECTION 1   Item 4    21 Columbine Way, Clanfield, PO8 0WJ 

 
 
 

 
 

Block plan 
 
 

  

Page 99



SECTION 1   Item 4    21 Columbine Way, Clanfield, PO8 0WJ 

 
 
 

 
Existing front elevation 

 
 
 

 
Proposed front elevation 

Page 100



 
PART 1 

 
EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE 
 

Related planning matters to be considered by the  
Council as the Local Planning Authority 

 
12 March 2020 

SECTION 2 – OTHER MATTERS 
 

 

PROPOSAL Outline Application - (Some matters reserved) Development of up to 
7ha of employment land (use classes B1a, B1c, B2 and B8) with 
associated access (submitted for detailed approval) and green 
infrastructure.  

LOCATION: Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton 

REFERENCE  49776/004 PARISH: Binsted 

APPLICANT:  Tanvale Holdings Ltd 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: Report be Noted 

 
Lynch Hill, Alton – Committee Report update (changes requested to legal obligation / 
S.106 agreement) 
 
This application is referred back to the Planning Committee for reconsideration following the 
Applicant's request for a revision to the terms of the legal agreement (S.106 agreement) that 
were previously agreed by the Committee.   
 

 Background 
 
On 19 September 2019 the Planning Committee resolved to approve this outline application 
for the development of up to 7 ha of employment land [use classes B1a (office), B1c (light 
industrial), B2 (general industrial) and B8 (storage and distribution)] with associated access 
and green infrastructure. 
 
The resolution to approve the application was subject to conditions and a planning obligation / 
S.106 agreement to secure: 

Page 101



 A financial contribution of £136,500 towards an improvement scheme for the Mill 
Lane/Montecchio Way junction; 

 A Framework Travel Plan and associated bond, approval fee and monitoring fee;  

 Employment and work force contributions and project costs of £53,694 and further 
contributions of £113,735 if the owner elects not to provide employment and trading 
posts. Should neither be carried out a payment of £156,668 is required; and 

 Site access, including vehicular, pedestrian and cycle, to be approved and 
implemented prior to 1st use and/or occupation. 

 
To avoid repetition, the original Officer report to this Committee is appended as Appendix 1.  
In addition, a supplementary “yellow” update report was circulated to Members at their 
meeting, this report is appended as Appendix 2.  This paper will focus on the requested 
revisions to parts of the planning obligation / S.106 agreement and the relevant planning 
conditions.  
 

 Applicant’s Request 
 
Following Members' resolution to approve the application a planning obligation has been 
drafted, which has been considered and reviewed by those parties forming part of the 
agreement. In response to the draft agreement, the Applicant has advised Officers that they 
do not consider there to be any reason for the pedestrian and cycle access to be secured by 
way of the legal agreement, when this provision is already controlled by way of planning 
conditions (condition numbers 25 and 26 - Appendix 1).  
 
Existing conditions (25 and 26) 
 
25)  Prior to the commencement of development, the applicant must provide evidence of 

the express rights for the pedestrian and cycle access to the south-west of the site to 
Waterbrook Road. 

 
 Reason - In the interests of safe access.  
 
26) Prior to the occupation of the development the pedestrian and cycle access linking 

Waterbrook Road to the south-west of the site is constructed to an acceptable 
standard as agreed with by the highway authority.   

 
Reason - In the interests of safe access.  

 
3. Consideration 
 
Officers have considered this request, and have sought advice from the Council's Legal 
Team, who have advised that the conditions (as suggested below) would ensure the 
pedestrian and cycle access is provided, with the appropriate triggers included to allow for 
any enforcement action should the conditions not be complied with.  On this basis, Officers 
are in agreement with the Applicant's request to remove the site access provision from the 
proposed planning obligation / S.106 agreement.  
 

Page 102



The revised requirements of the planning obligation / S.106 agreement is to secure the 
following:  
 

 A financial contribution of £136,500 towards an improvement scheme for the Mill 
Lane/Montecchio Way junction; 

 A Framework Travel Plan and associated bond, approval fee and monitoring fee; 
and 

 Employment and work force contributions and project costs of £53,694 and further 
contributions of £113,735 if the owner elects not to provide employment and trading 
posts. Should neither be carried out a payment of £156,668 is required. 

 
 
4. Conditions update 
 
To reflect on the change to the legal agreement, and the situation that parts of the land on 
which the pedestrian and cycle access route is proposed lie outside the ownership of the 
Application, but within the red line site boundary, conditions 25 and 26 have been amended to 
Grampian style conditions with the appropriate wording to meet planning conditions tests. 
These revisions are set out below. 
 
25. Not to commence development until evidence of the express rights allowing for the 

construction of the pedestrian and cycle access to the south-west of the site to 
Waterbrook Road, as shown on the approved plans, has been submitted to, and agreed 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason - In the interests of safe access. 
 
26.  Not to use or allow occupation of the development unless and until the pedestrian and 

cycle access linking Waterbrook Road to the south-west of the site is constructed, 
completed and ready for use to an acceptable standard.  The pedestrian and cycle 
access shall thereafter be retained for such use in accordance with agreed details for 
the duration of the development.  

 
 Reason - In the interests of safe access.  
 
 
5. Revised resolution 
 
For the reasons set out in the above report it is considered that the requested changes to the 
planning obligation / S/106, removing the pedestrian, cycle and vehicle access requirement, is 
acceptable with the associated revisions to the aforementioned conditions. Therefore, the 
recommendation remains to approve the outline application, but is revised as follows:   
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
1. The Council's Solicitor be instructed to prepare a legal obligation / S.106 agreement 

requiring:  

Page 103



 A financial contribution of £136,500 towards an improvement scheme for the Mill 
Lane/Montecchio Way junction; 

 A Framework Travel Plan and associated bond, approval fee and monitoring fee; 
and 

 Employment and work force contributions and project costs of £53,694 and further 
contributions of £113,735 if the owner elects not to provide employment and trading 
posts. Should neither be carried out a payment of £156,668 is required. 

 
2. Subject to the conditions and a completed legal obligation, by no later than 17 April 

2020, unless the Director of Regeneration and Place, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Planning authorises further time extension(s) for the completion of the legal 
agreement, then the Head of Planning be authorised to grant outline OUTLINE 
PERMISSION subject to conditions set out below.  

 
3. In the event that the above requirements of a legal agreement are not secured by 17 

April 2020, then planning permission will be refused under the adopted scheme of 
delegation, unless the Director of Regeneration and Place, in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Planning, authorises further time extension(s) for the completion of 
the legal agreement. 

 
 
 
Amended conditions: 
 
25. Not to commence development until evidence of the express rights allowing for the 

construction of the pedestrian and cycle access to the south-west of the site to 
Waterbrook Road, as shown on the approved plans, has been submitted to, and agreed 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason - In the interests of safe access. 
 
26.  Not to use or allow occupation of the development unless and until the pedestrian and 

cycle access linking Waterbrook Road to the south-west of the site is constructed, 
completed and ready for use to an acceptable standard.  The pedestrian and cycle 
access shall thereafter be retained for such use in accordance with agreed details for 
the duration of the development.  

 
 Reason - In the interests of safe access.  
 
All other conditions remain as previously set out within the Officer Report (Appendix 1) and 
the supplementary “yellow” update report as circulated to Members at the previous meeting 
(Appendix 2). 

Page 104



Appendix 1 
 

 

Page 105



 
Item No.: 02 

The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the final 
date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting. 

 

PROPOSAL Outline Application - (Some matters reserved) Development of up to 
7ha of employment land (use classes B1a, B1c, B2 and B8) with 
associated access (submitted for detailed approval) and green 
infrastructure.  

LOCATION: Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton 

REFERENCE  49776/004 PARISH: Binsted 

APPLICANT:  Tanvale Holdings Ltd 

CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY: 

02 September 2019 

APPLICATION EXPIRY: 17 October 2019 

COUNCILLOR(S): Councillor D A Ashcroft, Councillor K Carter 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION 

 
This application has been called before the Planning Committee for consideration and 
determination at the discretion of the Director of Regeneration and Place. The 
application relates to an allocated employment site (Land at Lynch Hill), as part of the 
Council's adopted Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations, April 2016. 
 
Site Description 
 
The site borders but is situated outside Alton Neighbourhood Plan boundary, does not lie 
within a conservation area and the land is not designated as being of local or national 
importance to nature conservation.  There are also no buildings on the site.  The northern part 
of the site, outside the allocated employment area and Settlement Policy Boundary of Alton, is 
designated countryside land.  
 
The site comprises agricultural arable land bordering the Mill Lane Industrial Estate to the 
east and A31 to the west.  Alton Town Centre is situated some 2km to the south-west of the 
site.  The total site area extends to 14.3 hectares (ha), of which, the southern part of the site 
(9.4 ha) comprises allocated employment land.  The land is not uniform and flat in nature, with 
an increase in land levels from south to north before falling again towards Montecchio Way.  
The low point of the site has a ground level of approximately 100 metres above ordnance 
datum point at the south of the site and a high point rising to approximately 130 metres above 
ordnance datum towards the centre of the site.   
 

Page 106



The existing site access is via a single lane track from Waterbrook Road to the south-west, 
where there is a private vehicle access across the land serving the Golden Chair Farm on the 
opposite side of the A31.  Vegetation cover across the site is limited, however, there is a 
dense tree belt along the north-east boundary and further vegetation cover along the 
additional site boundaries. In addition, the River Wey runs parallel along the north-west 
boundary line, at a lower land level, the A31 runs parallel to the eastern boundary with 
Montecchio Way to the north and sewage works to the south. 
 
Proposal 
 
This application seeks outline permission for up to 7ha of employment land (use classes B1a 
(office), B1c (light industrial), B2 (general industrial) and B8 (storage and distribution) with 
associated access (submitted for detailed approval), and green infrastructure. (Access only to 
be considered). 
 
This is an outline application dealing with matters of principle and detailed matters in 
connection with the proposed access only.  Site access is sought from Montecchio Way, 
approximately 350 metres to the north of the allocated employment land, extending parallel to 
the tree belt along the north-west site boundary. Matters relating to the layout, appearance 
and scale of new built form on the allocated site are reserved for future consideration through 
an application for approval of reserved matters. 
 
The submitted drawings show that the access road would be cut into the hill side and pockets 
of vegetation are proposed to be removed to make way for the access. The access extends to 
a width of 7.3 metres and would allow for two-way vehicular traffic movements with access 
and egress onto Montecchio Way as the single point of access to the site, in the form of a T-
junction. This would be sited 80 metres to the north-west of the A31 / Montecchio Way 
Roundabout and approximately 100 metres to the south-east of the Montecchio Way and Mill 
Lane T-junction. The drawing show that visibility splays / sight lines of 72 metres would be 
provided in both directions from a 2.4 metres set-back position from the edge of the highway.  
 
In addition, both pedestrian and cycle access to the site is via the existing access track 
serving Lynch Hill Cottage and Golden Chair Farm, accessed off Waterbrook Road.   
 
The following information has been submitted in support of this application: 
 

 Supporting Planning Statement (Savills) (This document) 

 Air Quality Impact Assessment (Isopleth) 

 Arboricultural Impact Assessment (James Fuller) 

 Design and Access Statement (Savills) 

 Ecological Assessment Report (ECOSA) 

 Flood Risk Assessment (Curtins) 

 Land Contamination Phase 1 Desktop Study (Curtins) 

 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (Savills) and supporting images 

 Noise Assessment (inacoustic) 

 Transport Assessment and Transport Assessment Addendum (Curtins) 

 Road Safety Audit (RKS Associates) 

Page 107



 Applicant Response to Hampshire County Council comments – 8 May 2017 

 Applicant Response to Hampshire County Council consultation – 1 September 2017 

 Draft Framework Travel Plan (Calibro) 

 Tree Survey (James Fuller) 

 Tree Removal Plans (James Fuller) 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
49776/001 - Outline application - Development of up to 7ha of employment land (use classes 
B1a (office), B1c (light industrial), B2 (general industrial) and B8 (storage and distribution) 
with associated access (submitted for detailed approval), and green infrastructure (additional 
information received on 08/05/2017, 26/05/2017 and 10/11/2017). Application withdrawn, 
02/03/2018. 
 
49776/002 - Outline application - The development of up to 7ha of employment land (use 
classes B1a (office), B1c (light industrial), B2 (general industrial) and B8 (storage and 
distribution) with associated access (submitted for detailed approval), and green 
infrastructure. (Access only to be considered) (Amended Planning Statement received on 
09/07/2018 and additional information / amended plans received on 25/09/2018). Refused, 
13/12/2018. Appeal lodged but currently held in abeyance pending outcome of the current 
application. 
 
Reasons for refusal: 
 

 The proposed access would cause significant harm to the verdant gateway to the town, by 
reason of loss of vegetation, cutting into the chalk hillside and its urbanisation effect in the 
countryside. The proposal would be contrary to Policy CP20 the East Hampshire District 
Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and advice contained within the NPPF.  

 

 The Council is not satisfied the access onto Montecchio Way, with limited distance to the 
nearby A31 Junction and the existing Mill Lane and Montecchio Way junction, would not 
result in a severe impact on highway safety. This, in turn, would be contrary to Policy 
CP31 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and advice contained 
within the NPPF. 

  
49776/003 - Outline application (all matters reserved - proposed pedestrian, cycle and 
vehicular access to EMP1 allocated employment side from Waterbrook Road, Alton (Land at 
Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton). Permission, 17/12/2018.  
 
Surrounding land 
 

 Land adjacent to Upper Neatham Farm, Upper Neatham Lane, Alton (land north of site - 
opposite side of Montecchio Way) 

 
31580/002 - Outline application - Motorists Service Area, comprising: petrol filling station, 60-
bedroom hotel and restaurant, and two drive thru restaurant/coffee shop, together with 
associated access and landscaping works (as per revised information received 26/10/2015 

Page 108



and revised FRA and drainage strategy received 12/05/2016).  Refused, July 2016 and 
dismissed at appeal 16/05/2017. 
 

 Lynch Hill Cottage, Waterbrook Road, Alton 
 
31101/001 - Outline application - alter and extend dwelling to form 10 self-contained flats (8 x 
1 bedroom flats and 2 studio flats). Refused, May 2016. 
 
31101/002 - Change of use from single dwelling house (C3) to 9 bedroom guest house (C1) 
for short term letting accommodation. Refused, December 2018.  
 
Development Plan Policies and Proposals 
 
The Draft version of the Local Plan (2017 -2036) was published under Regulation 18 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public 
consultation from 5 February to 19 March 2019. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2019) sets out 
the circumstances when emerging planning policies may be given weight in determining 
planning applications. Based on the current early stage of preparation, the draft Local Plan 
policies are currently afforded no weight. Following the close of the public consultation 
depending on the level of objection received on individual policies they may begin to carry 
limited weight. 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014) 
 
CP1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
CP2 -  Spatial Strategy 
CP3 -  New employment provision 
CP19 -  Development in the countryside 
CP20 -  Landscape 
CP21 -  Biodiversity 
CP24 -  Sustainable construction 
CP25 -  Flood Risk 
CP27 -  Pollution 
CP28 -  Green Infrastructure 
CP29 -  Design 
CP31 -  Transport 
CP32 -  Infrastructure 
 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006) 
 
C6 -  Tree Preservation 
IB2 -  Industrial or Business Development within Settlement Policy Boundaries 
T2 -  Public Transport Provision and Improvement 
T3 -  Pedestrians and Cyclists 
HE8 -  Development affecting the setting of a conservation area 
HE12 -  Development affecting the setting of a Listed Building 
 
 
 

Page 109



Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) February 2019 
 
In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development; 
 
 1. Introduction 
 2. Achieving sustainable development  
 4. Decision-making  
 6. Building a strong, competitive economy  
 7. Ensuring the vitality of town centres  
 9. Promoting sustainable transport  
11. Making effective use of land  
12. Achieving well-designed places  
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change  
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
 
Binsted Parish Plan 2010 
 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations (April 2016) 
EMP1: Land at Lynch Hill 
 
Alton Neighbourhood Plan 
The application site falls just outside the designated area of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan.  
However, given the proximity of the site to Plan boundary certain policies of the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan, in particular relating to the town setting, are considered to be a relevant 
material consideration in the determination of this application with some weight attached.   
 
Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments 
 
Local Highway Authority (HCC): No response received to date.  
 
Alton Town Council: Objection, for the following reasons:  

 New access would cause significant harm to verdant gateway to the town 

 Ecological Assessment dated January 2017, statement should be provided to confirm 
findings remain valid, and proposal should incorporate updated ecological information in 
relation to hazel dormice and other ecological receptors.  (Officer note: County Ecologist 
has confirmed the report and its findings remain valid).  

 Not satisfied the new access would not result in a severe impact on highway safety 

 Strongly request a linked junction modelling be carried out at the Montecchio Road and 
Mill Lane junction, for this and the pending applications for retail development on the 
corner of Mill Lane and Montecchio Road. 

Page 110



Binsted Parish Council: Objection, opinion remains the same as per the two previous 
applications (49776/001 and 49776/002), with the following additional comments and 
observations: 

 Appeal against refusal of previous application (49776/002) has been submitted, presently 
held in abeyance pending decision on this application, with the supporting planning 
statement indicating the Council will not be defending the reason for refusal relating to 
highway safety – why is this? 

 Application proposal in close proximity to the site (57035) where the highway department 
has raised many questions and been extremely thorough. Why has this application not 
received the same scrutiny? (Officer note: this application has been considered and 
reviewed by the Local Highway Authority and no objection has been raised on the basis of 
the information submitted in support of the application. The Local Highway Authority, albeit 
not as part of this application, but the original application (49776/001) raised significant 
questions and required additional information on more than one occasion. It took many 
months of additional work and information of the County and Applicant's side for the 
County to conclude they were satisfied with the proposal and information provided. 
Therefore, Officers can advise that this proposal has been subject of significant scrutiny 
from the Local Highway Authority).  

 Likely commercial or residential development taking place on the opposite side of 
Montecchio Way (Neatham) should a more comprehensive traffic movement plan be 
detailed and considered? (Officer note: Officers are not aware of any present proposals for 
residential or commercial development on the opposite side of Montecchio Way. Long 
term development proposals for larger and more strategic nature should be considered as 
part of a Local Plan adoption and not as part of a planning development application).  

 Original report submissions are nearly three years out of date and need to be 
reconsidered for this application. (Officer note: the documentation submitted with the 
application, though some documents may be 2-3 years old, are still considered to be 
relevant and applicable to this proposal). 

Representations 

A total of 18 letters of representation have been received about this application, 17 letters of 
objection and one of support. A summary of these responses re set out below. 
 
Objections: 
 
a) application does not address the concerns of the previous submissions; 
b) no material difference from previous refused application (49776/002); 
c) previous reasons for refusal (49776/002) cannot be overcome unless alternative access   

to the site is achieved; 
d) alternative access approved from Waterbrook Road, which is deliverable, would avoid 

harmful visual, landscape and character impacts; 
e) do not accept Applicant has right to construct existing Waterbrook Road access to an 

acceptable standard for pedestrian and cycle access to the site, a Grampian condition 
would therefore be required to demonstrate an acceptable pedestrian and cycle access 
could be provided; 

 

Page 111



f) access to site from Montecchio Way is inappropriate and would result in a significant risk 
of accidents; 

g) increase congestion; 
h) landscape harm; 
i) adverse impact on Alton skyline; 
j) remove vital wildlife corridors; 
k) adverse impact on setting of nearby public footpath; 
l) development on brownfield sites first; 
m) no need or demand for development; 
n) hill top should remain free from development; 
o) noise and exhaust pollution from increased traffic would have a huge impact on the 

health and wellbeing of local residents; 
p) development could result in pollution of local water ways; and 
q) increase water run-off and potential increase risk of flooding. 
 

Support: 
 
r) proposal would support long term prosperity of Alton; 
s) development is a natural progression of existing industrial estate; and 
t) traffic congestion issues could be mitigated. 
 
Determining Issues 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Background  
3. Access and highway issues 
4. Impact on landscape character 
5. Viability and deliverability 
6. Impact on neighbouring properties 
7. Trees / vegetation 
8. Flooding / drainage 
9. Ecology 
10. Archaeology / Heritage assets 
11. Sustainable development  
12. Developer contributions 
 
 
Planning Considerations  
 
1. Principle of development 
 
As required by section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
applications must be determined in line with the adopted development plan for the area, 
unless material considerations apply.  The development plan for EHDC comprises the 'saved' 
policies of the 2006 Local Plan: Second Review and the policies set out in the Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy (2014) and the Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations (2016).   

Page 112



Material considerations in respect of national planning policy are the NPPF (2018), the 
National Planning Policy Guidance and any other matters that are considered material to the 
proposal. 
 
Policy CP3 (New Employment Provision) of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy set out the 
employment provision and distribution in the District within the plan period, with criterion (b) 
providing for about 7ha of employment land in Alton.  Policy EMP1 of the Housing and 
Employment Land Allocations - (Land at Lynch Hill) identifies the southern half of the 
application site for employment provision (B Class Uses), with 7 hectares of the total 9.4 
hectares of land being allocated for employment use.    
 
Policy EMP1 sets out the following development criteria for the site: 
 
Development shall: 
 
a) provide vehicular access to the site; 
b) ensure any significant negative traffic impact is mitigated on the local road network; 
c) provide an on-site movement layout suitable for all potential users, linked to existing 
 external routes including the Public Rights of Way network; 
d) provide landscaping and screening to minimise the impact of development on the 
 setting of Alton; 
e) provide a buffer zone along the river to protect and enhance the biodiversity value and 

prevent further erosion of the river and its corridor; and 
f) be supported by a Biodiversity Enhancement and Mitigation Scheme and include 
 measures to protect key species and habitats on site. 
 
This application is outline in nature, with those matters for consideration being access and 
green infrastructure only.  Matters of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale, in 
connection with the employment site, are not for consideration under this application. These 
matters would be considered and dealt with as part of a subsequent reserved matters 
application(s).  
 
With the site being allocated for employment land and the application seeking outline planning 
permission (access and green infrastructure only for detailed consideration) for up to 7ha of 
employment land (B Use Classes), in-line with the site allocation, the principle of development 
is acceptable.  Therefore, the consideration and review of the proposal is limited to those 
matters in regard to the principle of development and those detailed matters relating to 
access and green infrastructure. These are considered in detail below. 
 
2. Background 
 
An earlier application (49776/002), seeking outline planning permission for the site, with 
access onto Montecchio Way, following a resolution by the Planning Committee was to refuse 
for the following reasons: 
 

1. The proposed access would cause significant harm to the verdant gateway to the town, 
by reason of loss of vegetation, cutting into the chalk hillside and its urbanisation effect 
in the countryside. The proposal would be contrary to Policy CP20 the East Hampshire 

Page 113



District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and advice contained within the NPPF. 
2. The Council is not satisfied the access onto Montecchio Way, with limited distance to 

the nearby A31 Junction and the existing Mill Lane and Montecchio Way junction, 
would not result in a severe impact on highway safety. This, in turn, would be contrary 
to Policy CP31 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and 
advice contained within the NPPF. 

 
Following the refusal of application reference 49776/002, an appeal has been lodged by the 
applicant (APP/M1710/19/3230779), which is presently being held in abeyance following the 
consideration and determination of this application. This is to allow a reconsideration of the 
proposed development considering the recently submitted appeal. The design and 
characteristics of this revised proposal and consistent with the earlier application (49776/002).   
 
When the appeal was lodged, Counsel’s opinion was sought regarding the reasons for 
refusal.  The second reason relates to highway matters.  The County Highway Authority 
raised no objection to the proposal and no contrary evidence was provided.  Whilst there may 
be a public perception that the proposed junction would be unsafe, it was Counsel’s view that 
this reason for refusal would be unreasonable if pursued at appeal.   
 
Lastly, since the previous application (49776/002) was refused there has been an update to 
the NPPF (Feb, 2019) in February of this year, which has been published and is now 
applicable to this application. The revised NPPF (Feb, 2019) does not make any significant 
changes relevant to this proposal, whereby the principle of development is acceptable and 
sustainable economic development is supported.   
 
3. Access and highway issues 
 
The application site is located approximately 1.4km from the centre of Alton, with Alton 
Railway Station 1.1km away from the Waterbrook Road access. Bus stops are located on 
both sides of Wilsom Road, some 700 metres to the south-west of the site.  The application 
details a new access point onto Montecchio Way and the provision of a new road running 
parallel to a tree belt to access the allocated employment land, situated between 250 and 350 
metres from the Montecchio Way junction.  The site levels rise by some 20 metres from the 
Montecchio Way junction to the allocated site.  
  
Site Access 
The site is currently accessed via an unmade track from Waterbrook Road, which is 
unsuitable for the proposed intensified use.  
The proposed site access is onto Montecchio Way via a new priority T-junction, with the 
submitted plans showing visibility splays of 2.4m x 73m to both the east and west.  Changes 
in land levels are required to facilitate the new junction, with the plans provided showing the 
extent of the changes to the land levels to facilitate the access.  The present ground levels 
rise some 20 metres from Montecchio Way to the allocated employment land site.   
The new T-junction would be positioned on the south side of Montecchio Way positioned 
approximately halfway between the Mill Lane T-junction and the Montecchio Way / A31 
roundabout junction.  Hampshire County Council, as the Local Highway Authority, has 
previously considered the proposal (49776/002) and have advised that quantum of  
development and vehicular access onto Montecchio Way is unchanged from the previous 

Page 114



application, Therefore, the Highway Authority are largely in agreement with the submitted 
Transport Assessment. 
 
Subject to a series of requirements obtaining to a legal agreement (set out below) and a 
condition requiring a method of construction statement, the proposal and access is 
considered to be acceptable.  
 
Legal / S.106 agreement to secure:  

 Site access to be approved prior to the commencement of development on site and 
implemented prior to first use, as shown indicatively on drawing 0001-SK01 Rev. A; 

 Pedestrian and Cycle access via Waterbrook Road to be provided prior to first 
use/occupation of development and to be shown on the illustrative masterplan; 

 £136,500 towards the design and implementation of an improvement scheme for the Mill 
Lane / Montecchio Way junction; 

 Framework Travel Plan and associated bond, approval and monitoring fees; and 

 Full Travel Plan agreed and ready to implement prior to first use/occupation. 
  
The development is considered to provide a safe vehicular, cycle and pedestrian access to 
the site and would not have a significant negative impact on the local road network. It would, 
therefore, provide a safe means of access to the site that would not result in a severe impact 
on highway safety.  As such, the proposal accords with Policy CP31 of the Local Plan: Joint 
Core Strategy, criteria (a) and (b) of Policy EMP1 of the Housing and Employment Land 
Allocations and the advice contained within the NPPF.  
 
4. Impact on landscape character 
A Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal has been submitted in support of this application, 
which concludes the visual impacts would not be significant due to the general lack of 
receptors to the north and east, the low sensitivity of receptors within the Mill Lane / A31 
corridor areas and the presence of existing tree buffers to the north-west and east.  
The Council's Landscape Officer has reviewed the proposal, together with the submitted 
Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal (LVIA), and has raised no objection to the revised 
proposal, with the following observations: 
 
The new access point would require the removal of a section of largely scrub vegetation and 
small trees, with limited amenity value, along Montecchio Way to enable the creation of the 
new T-junction. The proposal would also require the cutting back of vegetation to the existing 
site side of the existing ditch running parallel to Montecchio Way to provide the sight visibility 
lines. This would not require a significant removal of the existing vegetation, with the majority 
along the hillside to be retained.  
 
In addition, the proposal would involve engineering operations with cut and fill activities to 
provide a suitable access road up the hillside.  These operations are required due to the 
increase in land levels of approximately 20 metres from Montecchio Way to the allocated site. 
These works would result in the introduction of an urban feature within the landscape with 
partial views from public land largely to the north and east of the site. However, both the 
access point and access road to the employment site, are not considered to have a significant 
impact on the local and wider landscape, which would be further screened in time with the 

Page 115



introduction of additional tree planting.  
Therefore, due to the changes made to this application, together with no objection being 
raised by the Council's Landscape Officer, the proposed access junction and access road, are 
not considered to have an adverse impact on the local and wider landscape character nor 
materially impact the key views and one of the verdant gateways into Alton. As such, this 
application complies with Policy CP20 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, Policy DE1 of 
the Alton Neighbourhood Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF.   
 
5. Impact on neighbouring properties 
The site is bordered by the Mill Lane industrial area to the west and the A31 is situated to the 
east of the site.  There are few neighbouring residential properties, with the exception of 
Lynch Hill Cottage neighbouring the site towards the south-west corner and two further 
dwellings on the opposite side of the A31 (Golden Chair Farm and Golden Chair Cottage).  
There is also a group of buildings (Upper Neatham Mill Farm, The Forge, Upper Neatham Mill 
House) situated to the north of the site on the opposite side, approximately 100 metres to the 
north of Montecchio Way.  
 
At this stage, with all matters reserved, other than access, a full assessment of the impact on 
neighbouring amenity is not possible.  However, the proposed access would be situated away 
from those neighbouring and surrounding properties and the illustrative layout plan shows a 
landscape buffer to the closest neighbouring property, Lynch Hill Cottage.  
Although the access would create new vehicle movements across the site and this is likely to 
result in some additional noise and disturbance above that of the existing situation, due to the 
location and relationship of the new access, it is not considered to result in an unacceptable 
impact on noise and disturbance on the occupants of the neighbouring and surrounding 
properties, since there is already substantial vehicle movements on Montecchio Way and the 
A31.  As such, the proposed access is considered to accord with Policy CP27 of the Local 
Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the advice contained within the NPPF.   
 
6. Trees / vegetation 
There is a belt of vegetation comprising small trees and scrub vegetation set back and 
parallel with Montecchio Way and a pocket of woodland between the River Wey and the 
north-west boundary line of the site.  The Council's Tree Officer has reviewed the proposal 
and raised no objection, subject to a condition requiring the submission of an Arboricultural 
Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan at the reserved matters stage. It is noted that 
replacement tree planting could be secured through the submission of the landscaping 
reserved matters to mitigate this.  
 
As such, no objection is raised to the removal of some of the existing vegetation on site and 
alongside Montecchio Way to facilitate the proposed new junction and access road and the 
application accords with Policy CP20 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.  
    
7. Flooding / Drainage  
 
The site is located in Flood Zone 1 (low probability of flooding) and there are no known 
historic flooding issues affecting the site. However, there is potential that the proposal would 
generate significant run-off that could, if not controlled on site, increase the risk of flooding to 
people and property elsewhere.  

Page 116



The Council's Drainage Consultant and the Lead Local Flood Authority have reviewed the 
proposal and have not raised any objections at this outline stage.  However, as part of any 
reserved matters proposal the Local Lead Flood Authority have requested the following 
information be provided as part of a detailed design: 
 

 Infiltration tests to BRE 365  

 Detailed calculations for the surface water drainage system  

 Information on the potential overland flow from the systems if the capacity of the system is 
exceeded  

This is consistent with the response from the Council's Drainage Consultant and therefore, 
subject to the imposition of a condition requiring the submission and agreement of details of 
how to deal with matters of surface water on site and prevent an increase in surface water 
run-off and discharge rates from the site, the proposal would not result in an increase in the 
risk of flooding to people and property above the existing situation.  This would accord with 
Policy CP25 (Flood Risk) of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the advice contained 
within the NPPF. 
 
6. Ecology 
 
The application is accompanied by an updated Ecological Assessment that sets out the 
potential impact of the proposal to any protected species on site.  The County Ecologist has 
reviewed the Assessment and raised no objection, subject to a condition requiring the 
submission and agreement of an ecological mitigation and enhancement strategy prior to the 
commencement of any development activities. Also, a further statement has been requested 
from the Applicant confirming the findings of the January 2017 remain valid and additional 
ecological information has been requested relating to hazel dormice and other ecological 
receptors. Subject to the recommended condition, and the submission of this additional 
information, the proposal is considered to maintain and protect the District's biodiversity in 
accordance with Policy CP21 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, the advice contained 
within the NPPF, the Conservation Regulations 2010, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 and 
NERC Act 2006. 
 
8. Archaeology / Heritage assets 
 
The County Archaeologist has reviewed the proposal and commented that the site appears to 
have good archaeological potential with previous finds on and around the site, although there 
has been no previous known development on the land.  Therefore, it is possible that the site 
contains unrecorded archaeological features and/or deposits that are likely to be well 
preserved.  It has been advised that fieldwork is required to understand the nature, character 
and the extent of this archaeological potential prior to the commencement of any 
development.  
 
A condition is recommended to ensure the relevant investigations and recording, if necessary, 
are carried out prior to any construction works taking place.  On this basis, the proposal is not 
considered to have an adverse impact on the archaeological and potential heritage value of 
the site, in accordance with Policy CP30 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the advice 
contained within the NPPF.  

Page 117



In addition, the site itself is not subject of any designated Heritage Assets. However, Anstey 
Conservation Area lies some 400 metres to the north-west. Also, there is a small group of 
listed buildings opposite the Waterbrook Road / Mill Lane junction (Anstey Mill, Mill House, 
HRH House and Wey Cottage) and a further listed building (Upper Neatham) some 100 
metres north of the Montecchio Way T-junction. All these buildings are grade II listed. 
Furthermore, the boundary to the South Downs National Park is situated some 2.5km to the 
east of the site.   
 
This outline application deals with matters of principle and access only, to which, given the 
separation distance and nature of the development sought, are neither considered to harm 
the setting of those listed buildings in the immediate area and are also not considered to harm 
the settings of either the South Downs National Park or the Anstey Conservation Area. The 
proposal, therefore, accords with Policy CP30 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, Policy 
HE8 and HE12 of the Local Plan: Second Review, the advice contained within the NPPF and 
provision 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.   
 
9. Sustainable development  
 
Policy CP24 of the JCS requires new development to promote the conservation of energy by 
seeking the highest practicable degree of energy efficiency.  The proposal is for a major 
development and, under Policy CP24, there is a requirement that the development achieve a 
Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) rating of 
"Excellent".  This can be secured by condition would accord with Policy CP24 of the Local 
Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the advice contained within the NPPF.    
 
10. Developer contributions / Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
The three tests as set out in Regulation 122(2), together with the advice outlined in the NPPF, 
require S.106 agreements to be: 
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
(b) directly related to the development; and 
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
The following matters have been identified, which would need to be secured through a 
Planning Obligation:  
 

 Transportation improvements and Travel Plan in accordance with policies CP31 of the 
Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and T2 of the Local Plan: Second Review (as saved). 

 Employment and workforce skills in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Local Plan: Joint 
Core Strategy 

 
The transportation improvements relate to a financial contribution of £136,500 towards an 
improvement scheme for the Mill Lane/Montecchio Way junction and a Framework Travel 
Plan and associated bond, approval fee and monitoring fee.   
 
 
 

Page 118



The employment and work force skills are recommended by the Council's Economic 
Development Team, with project costs of £53,694 and further contributions of £113,735 if the 
owner elects not to provide employment and trading posts. Should neither be carried out 
there is an alternative payment of £156,668.    
 
The transport and employment workforce skills contributions would need to be secured by a 
legal obligation under S106 of the 1990 Planning Act. Subject to completion of a satisfactory 
obligation, the requirements of policies CP5 and CP31 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy 
would be met. 
 
The contributions sought are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms, directly related to the development and are fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind of development sought.  As such, the contributions comply with Regulations 122(2) of 
The Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 and the requirements as outlined in 
paragraph 204 of the NPPF (2018). 
 
Lastly, development falling within the B Use Classes (Offices, Industrial and Warehousing), 
in-line with the Council's adopted CIL Charging Schedule Planning Contributions and 
Community Infrastructure Levy: Supplementary Planning Document are not liable for any CIL 
contributions. Therefore, no CIL payments are required under this proposal.  
 
Response to Parish/Town Council Comments 
 
Alton Town and Binsted Parish Council have both raised concerns to the proposal, relating 
primarily to the following summarised issues: 
 

 highway safety and increases in local congestion; and 

 adverse impact on landscape character and a verdant key gateway into Alton.  
 
The scheme is consistent with an earlier proposal (49776/002), whereby no objections were 
raised by the Local Highway Authority and it was concluded the proposal development would 
not result in any significant negative traffic impact on the local road network. Also, the access 
is not considered to have an adverse impact on highway safety. 
 
Furthermore, the Council's Landscape Officer has again raised no objection to this proposal, 
consistent with the response of the previous application (49776/002). 
 
As such, whist the concerns of both Alton Town and Binsted Parish Council are 
acknowledged they have not been substantiated by way of any formal evidence and the 
respective consultees have not raised an objection on either highway or landscape grounds. 
Therefore, Officers conclude there is no substantial grounds to raise an objection to the 
proposal on either highway and/or landscape grounds.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



Conclusion 
 
The development seeks outline planning permission for the development of 7ha of 
employment land (B use classes) with access and principle being the only matters for 
consideration.  Matters of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are reserved for future 
consideration through an application for approval of reserved matters.  The access, as 
submitted and detailed as part of the application, is by means of a T- junction off Montecchio 
Way and a new road extending up the existing hillside to the allocated site as set out within 
the Council's Housing and Employment Land Allocations, April 2016 (Policy EMP1). 
 
As an allocated site, the principle of the development is accepted, and no objections have 
been raised to this revised proposal on ecology, landscape, drainage and neighbouring 
amenity grounds. Further details relating to highway safety, ecology, flooding/drainage, 
neighbouring amenity, trees and archaeology are subject to appropriate conditions and a 
subsequent reserved matters application would deal with those matters relating to the 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of development on the allocated employment site.  
As such, the proposal is considered to be consistent with the development plan and the 
primary purpose of the NPPF in support of sustainable development.  
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Subject to no objection being raised by the County Highway Authority, then: 
 
1. The Council's Solicitor be instructed to prepare a legal obligation / S.106 agreement 

requiring:  
 

 A financial contribution of £136,500 towards an improvement scheme for the Mill 
Lane/Montecchio Way junction; 

 A Framework Travel Plan and associated bond, approval fee and monitoring fee;  

 Employment and work force contributions and project costs of £53,694 and further 
contributions of £113,735 if the owner elects not to provide employment and trading 
posts. Should neither be carried out a payment of £156,668 is required; and 

 Site access, including vehicular, pedestrian and cycle, to be approved and 
implemented prior to 1st use and/or occupation. 

 
2. Subject to the conditions and a completed legal obligation, by no later than 16 

December 2019 unless the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
for Planning authorises further time extension(s) for the completion of the legal 
agreement, then the Head of Planning be authorised to grant OUTLINE PERMISSION 
subject to conditions.  

 
3. In the event that the above requirements of a legal agreement are not secured, then 

planning permission will be refused under the adopted scheme of delegation, unless 
the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning, authorises 
further time extension(s) for the completion of the legal agreement. 

 
 OUTLINE PERMISSION subject to the following conditions: 

Page 120



1 Applications for the approval of the matters referred to herein shall be made within a 
period of three years from the date of this permission.  The development to which the 
permission relates shall be begun not later than whichever is the later of the following 
dates:- 
 
(i) three years from the date of this permission; or 
(ii) two years from the final approval of the said reserved matters, or, in the case of 
approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be approved. 
 
Reason - To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990.  

  
2 No development shall start on site until plans and particulars showing details relating to 

appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale of the development shall be submitted to, 
and approved by the Planning Authority.  These details shall comprise the 'reserved 
matters' and shall be submitted within the time constraints referred to in Condition 1 
above before any development is commenced.  
Reason - To comply with Article 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order).  

  
3 No development shall start on site until a construction method statement has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which shall 
include: 
 

 A programme of and phasing of demolition (if any) and construction work; 

 The provision of long term facilities for contractor parking; 

 The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works; 

 Methods and phasing of construction works; 

 Access and egress for plant and machinery; 

 Protection of pedestrian routes during construction; 

 Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material, and 
plant storage areas; 

 Provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the development 
during construction period; and 

 Re-use of on-site material and spoil arising from any site clearance or demolition 
work. 

 
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with the approved 
method statement. 
Reason - In order that the Local Planning Authority can properly consider the effect of 
the works on the amenity of the locality.  

  
4 No development shall start on site, excluding works relating to the approved access, 

until the access is constructed via a highway works agreement and completed to 
certificate standard and lines of site are provided in accordance with the approved 
plans.  The lines of site splays shown on the approved plan shall be kept free of any 

Page 121



obstruction exceeding 0.6 metre in height above the adjacent carriageway and shall be 
subsequently maintained so thereafter. 
Reason - To provide satisfactory access with sufficient levels of visibility in the interests 
of highway safety.  

  
5 No development shall commence on site until plans of the site showing details of the 

existing and proposed ground levels, proposed finished floor levels, levels of any paths, 
accesses and parking areas and the proposed completed height of the development 
and any retaining walls have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority.  The details shall clearly identify the relationship of the proposed 
ground levels and proposed completed height with adjacent buildings.  The 
development thereafter shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason - To ensure that a satisfactory relationship results between the new 
development and adjacent buildings and public areas.  It is considered necessary for 
this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details relate to the construction of 
the development and thus go to the heart of the planning permission.  

  
6 Before any part of the development is first brought into use a verification report and 

completion certificate shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority confirming that the built development hereby permitted has achieved 
a BREEAM rating of "Excellent". The developer shall nominate a competent person for 
the purpose of assessing and providing the above required report and certificate to 
confirm that the completed works incorporate such measures as to provide the required 
energy savings.  
Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates necessary mitigation and 
adaptation measures with regard to climate change.  It is considered necessary for this 
to be a pre-commencement condition as these details relate to the construction of the 
development and thus go to the heart of the planning permission.  

  
7 No development shall commence on site until details of a scheme for surface water 

drainage has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  Such details should include provision for all surface water drainage from 
parking areas and areas of hardstanding to prevent surface water from discharging onto 
the highway and should be based on site investigation and percolation tests.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details before any 
part of the development is first occupied and shall be retained thereafter. 
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for drainage. It is considered necessary for this 
to be a pre-commencement condition as such details need to be taken into account in 
the construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the planning 
permission. 
Note: The applicant is requested to contact the Council's Drainage Consultant as soon 
as possible to discuss the details required for the discharge of the above condition.  

  
8 Prior to the use of any buildings, written details shall be submitted to and agreed by the 

Local Planning Authority confirming that either: all wastewater network upgrades 
required to accommodate the additional flows from the development have been 
completed; or a phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to allow additional 
properties to be used.  

Page 122



 
Reason - The development could lead to sewage flooding and network reinforcement 
works are anticipated to be necessary to ensure that sufficient capacity is made 
available to accommodate additional flows anticipated from the development. Any 
necessary reinforcement works will be necessary to avoid sewer flooding and/or 
potential pollution incidents.  

  
9 No development shall commence until an odour modelling assessment has been 

submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in consultation with Thames 
Water. The odour assessment should be based on assessing on site odour emissions. 
The assessment should include an odour mitigation measures strategy. 
Reason – To ensure unacceptable risks to pollution and ensure a good standard of 
amenity for existing and future occupants / users of land and buildings.   

  
10 The proposed hard surface/s shall either be made of porous materials or provision shall 

be made to direct run-off water from the hard surface/s to a permeable or porous 
surface within the site. 
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for surface water drainage and avoid discharge 
of water onto the public highway.  

  
11 Prior to the commencement of any development activities an ecological mitigation and 

enhancement strategy (to include but not necessarily be restricted to: location, extent, 
timing and methods of all measures for the protection and management of ecological 
compensation and enhancement features; detailed lighting strategy for bats; details of 
post-development monitoring for protected species) shall be submitted to, and agreed 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall be in accordance with the 
outline mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures detailed within the 
Ecological Assessment (ECOSA, January 2017). Any such measures shall thereafter 
be implemented in accordance with the agreed details, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. All ecological mitigation, compensation and 
enhancement measures shall be permanently retained and maintained.  
Reason - To provide ecological protection and enhancement in accordance with the 
Conservation Regulations 2010, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, NERC Act 2006, 
NPPF and Policy CP21 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.  

  
12 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation of 

a programme of archaeological assessment in accordance with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation (WSI) that has been submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority 
in order to recognise, characterise and record any archaeological features and deposits 
that may exist here. The assessment should initially take the form of a geophysical 
survey in order to map anomalies of possible archaeological origin within the site, 
followed by the excavation of trial trenches that are located across these anomalies, 
with further trenching located across the remainder of the development area in order to 
check for features missed by the Geophysics.  
Reason - To assess the extent, nature and date of any archaeological deposits that 
might be present and the impact of the development upon these heritage assets.  It is 
considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details 
need to be agreed prior to the construction of the development and thus go to the heart 

Page 123



of the planning permission.  
  
13 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation of 

a programme of archaeological mitigation of impact, based on the results of the trial 
trenching, in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation that has been 
submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority. 
Reason - To mitigate the effect of the works associated with the development upon any 
heritage assets and to ensure that information regarding these heritage assets is 
preserved by record for future generations. It is considered necessary for this to be a 
pre-commencement condition as these details need to be agreed prior to the 
construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the planning permission.  

  
14 Following completion of archaeological fieldwork a report will be produced in 

accordance with an approved programme including where appropriate post-excavation 
assessment, specialist analysis and reports, publication and public engagement. 
Reason - To contribute to our knowledge and understanding of our past by ensuring 
that opportunities are taken to capture evidence from the historic environment and to 
make this publicly available.  It is considered necessary for this to be a pre-
commencement condition as these details need to be agreed prior to the construction 
of the development and thus go to the heart of the planning permission.  

  
15 No development shall start on site, including any felling, demolition, or other alteration 

of the existing condition of the site at the date of this permission, until a survey of the 
site has been undertaken and submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The survey shall include the following details:-  

 Arboricultural Implication Statement and Method Statement including exact location, 
assessment of condition and size by stem diameter, species and accurate crown 
spread of all trees, over 100mm stem diameter at 1.5 metres above existing 
adjacent ground level, on the site and indicating those proposed to be felled and the 
root protection areas and positions and details of protection measures to be 
employed during building operations; 

a) details of proposed hard surfaced areas and service routes within the root protection 
areas;  

b) existing and final intended levels across the site and adjacent to any existing tree 
group; 

c) all natural features such as hedgerows, ponds, streams and large shrubs and the 
treatment proposed; 

d) provision of a Tree Protection Plan to safeguard trees during construction. 
 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason - To safeguard the existing trees and ensure the enhancement of the 
development, by the retention of natural features.  It is considered necessary for this to 
be a pre-commencement condition as these details need to be agreed prior to the 
construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the planning permission.  

  
 
 
 

Page 124



16 The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until a 
landscape/open space management plan, including a maintenance schedule indicating 
proposals for the long-term management of landscape areas, other than small has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
landscape/open space shall thereafter be managed in accordance with the approved 
details. 
Reason - To ensure that due regard is paid to the continuing enhancement and 
maintenance of amenity afforded by landscape features of communal, public, nature 
conservation, or historical significance.  

  
17 Notwithstanding the changes of use permitted within Part 3 of Schedule 2 Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, 
re-enacting or modifying that Order) the development hereby permitted shall be used 
for purposes within Class B (B1(a), B1(c), B2 and B8) of the Town and Country (Use 
Classes) Order (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) 1987 only, 
and for no other purpose. 
Reason - In order to maintain control over future use of the premises in the interests of 
the general amenity of the area and/or highway safety.  

  
18 Before the development hereby permitted is first brought into use details of the 

provision to be made within the site for storage, prior to disposal, of refuse, crates, 
packing etc. shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Planning Authority and 
this provision shall be made available upon implementation of the planning permission. 
Reason - To ensure that the visual appearance of the area is not detrimentally affected 
and/or that no obstruction is caused to the adjoining highway.  

  
19 The use hereby permitted shall only be carried out within the site between 07:00 and 

18:00 Mondays to Fridays and 07:30 and 13:30 on Saturdays and at no time on 
Sundays and Public Holidays. 
Reason - To ensure that the amenities of the area are not detrimentally affected by the 
use of the site outside reasonable working times.  

  
20 Notwithstanding any indication shown on the approved plans and notwithstanding the 

provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) no materials shall be 
stacked, stored or deposited in the open on the site at anytime.  
Reason - To ensure that the visual appearance of the area is not adversely affected.  

  
21 No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until details for the on 

site provision of cycle storage facilities have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be occupied until the cycle 
storage has been constructed in accordance with the approved details and thereafter 
retained and kept available. 
Reason - To ensure the adequate provision of on site facilities.  

  
22 No development shall commence on site until the following details have been submitted 

to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority:- 
 

Page 125



(a)   a scheme outlining a site investigation and risk assessments designed to assess 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site.  
 
(b)   a written report of the findings which includes, a description of the extent, scale and 
nature of contamination, an assessment of all potential risks to known receptors, an 
update of the conceptual site model (devised in the desktop study), identification of all 
pollutant linkages and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and identified as unnecessary in the written report, an appraisal of 
remediation options and proposal of the preferred option(s) identified as appropriate for 
the type of contamination found on site. 
 
and (unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority) 
 
(c)   a detailed remediation scheme designed to bring the site to a condition suitable for 
the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other 
property and the natural and historical environment. The scheme should include all 
works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, 
timetable of works, site management procedures and a verification plan outlining details 
of the data to be collected in order to demonstrate the completion of the remediation 
works and any arrangements for the continued monitoring of identified pollutant 
linkages. 
 
The above reports should be completed by a competent person, as stipulated in the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Annex 2, and site works should be undertaken in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the 
Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11' and BS10175:2011 Investigation of 
potentially contaminated sites - Code of practice. 
Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite.  It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details need to be 
agreed prior to the construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the 
planning permission.  

  
23 Before any part of the development is first occupied or brought into use (unless 

otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority) a verification report 
demonstrating the effectiveness of the remediation works carried out and a completion 
certificate confirming that the approved remediation scheme has been implemented in 
full shall both have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
The verification report and completion certificate shall be submitted in accordance with 
the approved scheme and undertaken by a competent person in accordance with 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’. 
Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 

Page 126



without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.  
  
24 The construction of the access element of the application, hereby approved, shall not 

be commenced if an alternative vehicular access point to serve the allocated 
employment site: Land at Lynch Hill, Alton (EMP1 - East Hampshire District Local Plan 
Housing and Employment Allocations, April 2016), is constructed first.  
Reason - To ensure that there is only one vehicular access to the allocated 
employment side (EMP1 - Land at Lynch Hill), in the interests of highway safety and 
visual amenity.  

  
25 Prior to the commencement of development, the applicant must provide evidence of the 

express rights for the pedestrian and cycle access to the south-west of the site to 
Waterbrook Road. 
Reason - In the interests of safe access.  

  
26 Prior to the occupation of the development the pedestrian and cycle access linking 

Waterbrook Road to the south-west of the site is constructed to an acceptable standard 
as agreed with by the highway authority.   
Reason - In the interests of safe access.   

  
27 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and particulars: 
 
Application Form  
Planning Design and Access Statement 
Planning Statement 
Noise Assessment 
Air Quality Impact Assessment 
Flood Risk Assessment 
Phase 1 Desktop Study 
Ecological Assessment 
Transport Assessment 
Draft Framework Travel plan 
Stage 1 Road Safety Audit Report 
Response To HCC Comments dated 15.02.2017 Report 
TA Addendum 01  
Tree Survey Report 
Arboricultural Implications Assessment - Access and Road 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
Response to Hampshire County Council Letter 
Photographs x 8 
Existing Survey 
Lynch Hill Illustrative Landscape Strategy 
MP001 Rev H - Illustrative Masterplan  
PA002 Rev E - Site Boundary 
SA001 Rev E - Constraints plan  
BR1420-1-040 - Access Point 1 Cut and Fill 
BR1420-1-030 - Cross sections  

Page 127



BR1420-1-020 - Long Section Sheet 1 of 3 
BR1420-1-021 - Long Section Sheet 2 of 3 
BR1420-1-022 - Long Section Sheet 3 of 3 
0001-SK01 Rev A - Visibility Splays at proposed access 
BR1420-1-001 Rev A - Tree Removal Plan Sheet 1 of 3 
BR1420-1-001 Rev A - Tree Removal Plan Sheet 2 of 3 
BR1420-1-001 Rev A - Tree Removal Plan Sheet 3 of 3 
Survey plan (A3) 
Survey plan sheet 1 of 3  
Survey plan sheet 2 of 3  
Survey plan sheet 3 of 3  
 
Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development  

  
 
Informative Notes to Applicant: 
 
1. In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF East Hampshire District 

Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and works with 
applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner focused on solutions by: 

e) offering a pre-application advice service, 
 

 updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their 
application and where possible suggesting solutions. 

 
In this instance, the applicant was provided with pre-application advice and no changes 
were required during the assessment of the application.  
 

2. Please note that this permission is subject to a Planning Obligation made under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

3. All development shall be stopped immediately in the event that contamination not 
previously identified is found to be present on the development site and details of the 
contamination shall be reported immediately in writing to Environmental Health.  An 
investigation and risk assessment should then be undertaken by competent persons 
and in accordance with ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, 
CLR 11’.  A written report of the findings, to include a remediation statement, should 
then be forwarded to the Local Planning Authority for appraisal.  Following completion 
of remedial measures a verification report should be prepared that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out.  It is recommended that no part of the 
development be occupied until all remedial and validation works are complete and a 
Completion Certificate has been issued.  This would ensure that no future investigation 
is required under Part2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 

4. The applicant is advised that any subsequent reserved matters application, dealing with 
landscaping, needs to include landscaping details for both the allocated site and access 
road from Montecchio Way.  

Page 128



 
5. The Applicant is advised that as part of any subsequent reserved matters application(s), 

the largest buildings should be positioned away from the highest part of the site to 
reduce the potential impact on the local landscape character and Alton skyline.  

 
 
CASE OFFICER: Matthew Harding 01730 234233 
________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 129



 
SECTION 1   Item  02   Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton 

 

 

 
 

Illustrative Masterplan 

Page 130



Appendix 2 
 
12 September 2019 
Planning Committee 
 
Supplementary Matters to be considered as part of Planning Officer's Report on Planning 
Applications. 
 

 

S1 Item 02 

49776/004/OUT 

Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton 

 
CLARIFICATION 
 
The Local Highway Authority have confirmed that the highway modelling for the 
proposed development included a with and without the extant Tesco permission 
(22467/006) for a future year scenario of 2026.    
 
AMENDMENTS RECEIVED 
 
An updated Ecology Statement was received on 10 September 2019. This 
concludes that, subject to updated survey work being undertaken, that the mitigation 
measures within the 2017 Ecological Assessment remain valid and that any minor 
variations, including the mitigation associated with the adjacent site (49776/003), 
can be included in the Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy (EMES), 
following the completion of the recommended survey work.  
 
FURTHER CONSULTEE COMMENTS 
 
Landscape Officer (EHDC) - No objection, with the following comments: 
 
The current application offers improvements to the proposed scheme that have 
largely addressed previous concerns about the visual impact of the access road and 
the effect of regrading works on the existing woodland. The movement of the access 
road further away from the woodland to the west and the proposed additional 
woodland planting associated with reprofiling of the hill should provide better 
screening of the new development area. However, the potential visual impact 
(demonstrated by the photomontages in the LVIA report) could be reduced by 
keeping the largest buildings away from the highest part of the site.  
 
It is recommended a landscape condition to secure planting in association with the 
access road. 
 
(Officer note: in regard to the point raised about building height, this is not relevant 
to this presently proposal as the only matter for consideration is access.  

Page 131



Matters relating to scale, layout, appearance and landscaping are all reserved 
matters. However, this shall be brought to the Applicants attention by way of an 
informative for any future reserved matters application, should this outline 
application be approved). 
 
Environmental Health (Contamination) (EHDC) - No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Thames Water - No objection, subject to conditions relating to foul water and odour 
control. 
 
County Ecologist (HCC) - No objection, subject to condition.  
 
Drainage Consultant (EHDC) - No objection, subject to conditions. 
 
Local Highway Authority (HCC) - No objection, with the following summarised 
comments: 
 

 application runs alongside a current appeal (refusal reference 49776/002), for 
the same development, which includes a reason for refusal from the Local 
Planning Authority; 

 Highway Authority did not recommend any objection to this application, subject 
to Section 106 obligations and planning conditions; 

 principle and impact of development has been accepted by the Highway 
Authority, subject to the following being provided: 

 

 Vehicular access 

 Financial Contribution 

 Pedestrian and Cycling improvements 

 Travel Plan 
 
Highway Authority have no objection to the application subject to the following being 
secured through a Section 106 legal agreement;  
 

 Implementation of the site access, as shown indicatively on drawing BR1420-1-
001 Rev A, to be approved and delivered via a Section S278 legal agreement 
prior to commencement on site  

 Implementation of a 2.5 metre shared footway/cycleway to link site to 
Waterbrook Road, to be delivered prior to any commencement on site  

 A financial contribution of £136,500 towards the design and implementation of an 
improvement scheme for the Mill Lane/Montecchio Way junction  

 Framework Travel Plan and associated bond, approval fee and monitoring fees. 
A Full Travel Plan should be agreed and ready to implement prior to the 1st 
occupation.  

 
 
 
 

Page 132



Condition 
  
No development shall start on site until a construction method statement has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority, which shall include:  
(a) A programme of and phasing of demolition (if any) and construction work;  
(b) The provision of long term facilities for contractor parking;  
(c) The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works;  
(d) Methods and phasing of construction works;  
(e) Access and egress for plant and machinery;  
(f) Protection of pedestrian routes during construction;  
(g) Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material, and 
plant storage areas;  
(h) Delivery routes  
 
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with the 
approved method statement  
 
Reason - In order that the Planning Authority can properly consider the effect of the 
works on the amenity of the locality.  
 
Economic Development (EHDC): No objection, with the following comments: 
 
The proposed development provides the opportunity to provide opportunities for 
local residents to receive training and access employment opportunities during the 
construction phase and at occupation stage (end-user). The contribution is in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy CP5 and the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Planning Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy SPD (adopted April 
2016).  
 
The contributions sought for the latest Lynch Hill application remain the same as the 
previously advised and stated below. 

 Project costs of £53,694 payable to prior commencement on site and a 
further contribution of £113,735 will be payable if the applicant/ developer 
subsequently decides not to deliver the construction jobs as stated in the 
S106 Employment and Training Agreement for the subject site. 

 Alternatively, the applicant/ developer may opt to make a contribution of 
£156,668 in lieu of provision of the jobs on site. In this circumstance, the 
applicant/ developer will not be required to pay the project costs. However, 
the decision to pay a contribution in lieu of construction jobs provision would 
need to be made prior to commencement on site so as not to trigger the 
payment of project costs. 

 
FURTHER REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Two additional letters of representations have been received, raising the following 
concerns and comments: 

Page 133



 access to the site via Waterbrook Road is by far the best option and benefits 
from a deliverable planning consent; 

 nonsensical to allow further junction off Montecchio Way, given present traffic 
congestion; 

 there is no intention to seek a ransom situation with the developer (Officer note: 
this is not a material planning consideration);  

 Caker Estates are supportive of commercial development on the Lynch Hill site, 
but object to the current application on highway grounds; and 

 should present developer (49776/003) not take up the option on the land at carry 
out the approved development, we (Caker Estates) would make land available 
for perfectly reasonable price that would be more acceptable to Alton as a whole 
(Officer note: this is a land ownership issue and not a relevant material 
consideration in the determination of this application).  

 
CHANGES TO RECOMMENDATION 
 
Conditions: 
 
Changes to three of the recommended conditions are set out below (Condition 7 
drainage, 11 ecology and 24 road layout). 
 
7) No development shall begin until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for 
the site, based on the principles within the Flood Risk Assessment ref: ICBR0071, 
has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
submitted details should include: 
  
a) Infiltration testing in accordance with the BRE365 (2016 methodology) and 
groundwater monitoring between autumn and spring. The infiltration testing should 
be carried out at the same depth and location of the proposed infiltration features. 
The groundwater monitoring should demonstrate that there will be at least 1m  
unsaturated zone between base of the infiltration structures and the highest 
recorded groundwater level. 
 
b) If infiltration is not viable, discharge to the main river should be limited to existing 
greenfield runoff rates, for all rainfall events. Evidence that the EA has agreed to the 
proposed discharge rate and connection should be submitted. 
 
c) The surface water management proposals should be supported by detailed 
hydraulic calculations. The hydraulic calculations should take into account the 
connectivity of the drainage system. They should show a ‘like for like’ discharge rate 
between the existing and proposed scenarios during the 1 in 1, 1 in 30 and 1 in 100 
(plus 40% climate change allowance) rainfall events. 
 
d) Detailed drawings of the entire proposed surface water drainage system, 
including levels, gradients, dimensions and pipe and manhole reference numbers. 
 
e) Details of overland flood flow routes in the event of system exceedance, with 

Page 134



demonstration that such flows can be appropriately managed on site without 
increasing flood risk to occupants. 
 
f) Measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater in accordance 
with the water quality criteria set out in the Ciria SuDS Manual. 
 
g) The maintenance regimes of entire surface water drainage system including 
individual SuDS features should be submitted, including a plan illustrating the 
organisation responsible for each element. Evidence that those 
responsible/adopting bodies are in discussion with the developer. For larger/phased 
sites, we need to see evidence of measures taken to protect and ensure continued 
operation of drainage features during construction. 
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for drainage and to mitigate flood risk to 
neighbouring land and properties.   
It is considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as such 
details need to be taken into account in the construction of the development and 
thus go to the heart of the planning permission.   
 
11) Prior to the commencement of any development activities an ecological 
mitigation and enhancement strategy (to include but not necessarily be restricted to: 
location, extent, timing and methods of all measures for the protection and 
management of ecological compensation and enhancement features; detailed 
lighting strategy for bats; details of post-development monitoring for protected 
species) shall be submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. Such details shall be in accordance with the outline mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement measures detailed within the Ecological 
Assessment (ECOSA, January 2017) and Ecological Technical Note (ECOSA, 
September 2019). Any such measures shall thereafter be implemented in 
accordance with the agreed details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. All ecological mitigation, compensation and enhancement 
measures shall be permanently retained and maintained in a location and condition 
suited to their intended function.  
 
Reason - To provide ecological protection and enhancement in accordance with the 
Conservation Regulations 2017, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, NERC Act 2006, 
NPPF and Policy CP21 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy. 
 
24) No development shall start on site until plans relating to the internal road layout 
of the site have been submitted to, and approved by the Planning Authority. These 
details shall show how the internal road layout links to the approved site access 
from Montecchio Way. 
  
Reason - In the interests of highway safety. It is considered necessary for this to be 
a pre-commencement condition as these detail relate to the construction and layout 
of the development and, therefore, go to the heart of the planning permission.  
 

Page 135



Additional informative note: 

6) The Applicant is advised, in regards to condition 24 of this permission, that the 
internal road access should not be linked to the approved Waterbrook Road access 
(49776/003), unless this is the sole access to the development. This is unlikely to be 
supported by Council as it would effectively create a rat run through the 
development.  
 
 

 

Page 136



  

Page 137



PART 2 
 
 

SOUTH DOWNS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE  

 
Applications to be determined by the council on behalf  

of the South Downs National Park Authority 
 

 
12 March 2020 

 
SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 

Agenda Item 01 

Report to Planning Committee 

Date 20 February 2020 

By Director of Planning 

Local Authority East Hampshire District Council 

Application Number SDNP/19/05324/HOUS 

Applicant Mr R Porter 

Application Two storey rear extension 

Address 

Chestnut Cottage, Newton Lane, Newton 
Valence, Alton, GU34 3RE 

 

This application is referred back to the Planning Committee following its deferral from 

the meeting held on the 20th February 2020 for clarification from the South Downs 

National Park Authority on the interpretation of Policy SD31 in relation to this 

development.  

 

 

1         Introduction 

 
 This report supplements that reported as Agenda Item 02 in Part 2 of the report to the 
Planning Committee held on 20 February 2020.   

Page 138



To avoid repetition this supplementary report focuses on the interpretation of Policy SD 
31, following receipt of a further Consultee response from the South Downs National 
Park Authority.  For ease of reference the original report is appended as Appendix 1. 

 
 
2 Further Consultee Response  

 
South Downs National Park Authority  
 
Full response as follows: 
 
Confirm agreement with the Planning Committee report on the application. 

 
‘It is important to consider the purpose of individual Local Plan policies as well as the 
detail of the policy.  Paragraph 7.91 of the South Downs Local Plan (SDLP) states that 
the purpose of Policy SD31 is ‘ to avoid the over-extension of existing dwellings and 
the adverse impact that this has on the character and appearance of both settlements 
and the countryside…and seeks to protect the limited supply of small and medium-
sized homes in the National Park.’  We have recently produced a diagram to guide the 
decision making process in regard to SD31.   
We have shared the diagram with officers and members and are intending to publish it 
in an update to the Technical Advice Note.  Here it is: 

 
 

The answer to the first question is ‘no’.  The application would not result in the loss of a 
small/medium sized house.  Although the extension is 47.9%, the extended house 
would be a medium sized three bedroom house. 

 

Page 139



The answer to the second question is also ‘no’.  The newly extended house would not 
have an adverse impact on the National Park’s landscape.  The extension would have 
a subservient appearance to the host dwelling, with the ridge height of the proposed 
extension over 1 metre lower than that of the existing roof. The proposal would be 
largely concealed from the public domain by the existing dwelling, and would therefore 
only have a minimal impact on the character and appearance of the street scene and 
wider area. 

 
Having gone through this process, I agree with the conclusion in your report that it is 
considered reasonable in this instance to depart from the floorspace restrictions of 
Policy SD31 and approve this application.  I also think it is reasonable to remove PD 
rights to prevent any further extensions to the dwelling. 

 
Finally, I support the addition of a condition to address Policy SD8:  Dark Night 
Skies.  The house is located in the core of the Dark Sky Reserve and so it is 
appropriate to require timed blinds for the sky light window.’ 
 
 

 3 Further Officer Assessment 
 
Policy SD31 of the South Downs Local Plan places a limit on proposals which should 
increase the gross internal area (GIA) of the existing dwelling (as at 18 December 
2002) by no more than approximately 30%.   

 
The existing building measures approximately 119 square metres, and the proposed 
extension would have a GIA floorspace of 62 m2, although an existing extension with a 
floorspace of 5m2 would be demolished, a net gain of 57m2.  This would result in a 
dwelling measuring approximately 176 square metres. This would result in a dwelling 
47.9% larger than the original dwelling, clearly in excess of the floorspace threshold set 
out in Policy SD31.  
 

Policy SD31 states that the purpose of SD31 is to “to avoid the over-extension of existing 
dwellings and the adverse impact that this has on the character and appearance of both 
settlements and the countryside” and to “protect the limited supply of small and medium-
sized homes in the National Park” in line with Policy SD27, which seeks to protect the 
limited supply of small and medium-sized homes in the National Park.  Paragraph 7.89 
of the Local Plan confirms that a ‘small’ dwelling is defined as one measuring 120 square 
metres in GIA or less therefore, at present the dwelling would (just) fall within this 
category.   

Unhelpfully, the Local Plan does not specifically define “medium” size dwellings, 
although it is noted at paragraph 7.21 that the Local Plan identifies ”a greater level of 
need for small and medium – sized homes, and a limited need for larger houses of 4 or 
more bedrooms”.  By implication, therefore, a 3 bedroomed dwelling over 120sqm can 
be interpreted as “medium sized”. 

Page 140



The proposed extension would result in a dwelling with a floorspace of over 120sqm and 
would have 3 bedrooms, thus from the above would be categorized as being of “medium” 
size.   

It is also highlighted to Members that any extension to the dwelling would take it over 
the 120sqm threshold, and thus out of the small dwelling category. 

As set out in Sections 2 and 3 of the original report the proposed extension would not 
have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of either settlements or the 
Countryside. 

For these reasons despite being over the “approximately 30%” increase is floorspace 
threshold, the extension is considered to comply with the criterion of Policy SD31.  As 
set out in Section 2 this report of the South Downs National Park Authority concur with 
this interpretation. 

 
 
4.  Other Matters 

Following discussion at the meeting held on 20 February 2020, it is recommended that 
an additional condition is attached to any permission granted to secure mitigation for 
the rooflight so as to minimize any vertical light spillage into the International Night 
Skies Reserve.  This condition is set out in full below. 

 
 
5. Conclusion 

For the reasons set out in the above report, and those in the report dated 12 February 
2020, the proposed extension would meet the aims of Policy SD31 of the South Downs 
Local Plan, as well as the other policies contained within this plan. 

 
 
6. Recommendation and Conditions 

It is recommended that the application be Approved for the reasons and subject to the 
conditions set out below: 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 
Reason - To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended)./ To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

 
2. Development shall proceed in accordance with the ecological mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement measures detailed within the Preliminary Roost 
Appraisal and Bat Activity Surveys report (ABR Ecology, October 2019) unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All ecological mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement features shall be installed as per ecologist 
instructions and be retained and maintained in perpetuity in a condition suited to their 
intended function.  

Page 141



Reason - to protect biodiversity in accordance with the Conservation Regulations 2017, 
Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, the NERC Act (2006), NPPF and with Policy CP21 of 
the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.  

 
3. The external materials to be used shall match, as closely as possible, in type, 
colour, and texture those of the existing building unless details of other suitable 
materials are submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To ensure that a harmonious visual relationship is achieved between the new 
and the existing developments. 

 
4. Upon implementation of this permission, notwithstanding the provisions of Part 1 
Classes A to C of Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order, 2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying 
that Order) there shall be no additions to or extensions/enlargement/alterations of the 
dwellinghouse to which this application relates which result in an increase in habitable 
floorspace without a grant of planning permission from the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - The property lies outside of any recognised settlement where the Local 
Planning Authority seeks to retain a range of dwellings, and therefore wishes to control 
any further alterations, extensions or conversion of the roof space. 
 

 5. Prior to the installation of the rooflight in the eastern roofslope of the extension 
hereby approved, details of the mitigation methods (in accordance with the SDNP Dark 
Skies Guidance) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  The rooflight shall be installed in accordance with the agreed details and 
retained to the agreed specification thereafter. 

 Reason – To avoid vertical light spillage to protect the qualities of the International 
Dark Skies Reserve, forming part of the South Downs National Park.  

 
 6. Approved Plans 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 
listed below under the heading "Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application". 
Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
 
 

Page 142



Appendix 1. 

 
 

Agenda Item 02 

Report to Planning Committee 

Date 20 February 2020 

By Director of Planning 

Local Authority East Hampshire District Council 

Application Number SDNP/19/05324/HOUS 

Applicant Mr R Porter 

Application Two storey rear extension 

Address 

Chestnut Cottage, Newton Lane, Newton 
Valence, Alton, GU34 3RE 

 

Recommendation: That the application be Approved for the reasons and subject to the 
conditions set out in paragraph 10 of this report. 

 

Executive Summary 

This application has been included on the agenda at the request of Councillor Charles 
Louisson for the following reason: 
Concerns raised that the application proposes an increase in the floorspace of the existing 
dwelling by more than approximately 30%, thus is contrary to policy SD31 of the SDNP Local 
Plan. 

 

1.  Site Description 

Chestnut Cottage is a detached dwelling located in a rural area, outside the settlement policy 
boundary. The site sits towards the edge of Newton Valence, forming part of a series of 
scattered housing fronting Newton Lane. 
 
Several listed buildings are located in the vicinity of the dwelling, including the neighbouring 
property to the west, Bookham Cottage. 
 
 
2.  Proposal 
The applicant seeks planning permission for a two storey rear extension, which would 
measure 8.7 metres in width, 4 metres in depth, 6.7 metres to maximum height and 4.3 
metres to maximum eaves height. The roof would have a double pitch roof with a central 
valley gutter and a dormer window is proposed in the eastern side roofslope.  

Page 143



It is proposed the extension would be used as a ground floor living area and kitchen, with the 
first floor used as a master bedroom and two en suites. Juliet style balconies are detailed to 
the first floor master bedroom. 
 
 

3.  Relevant Planning History 

SDNP/19/01034/LDP - Lawful development certificate for proposed - Single storey extension 
to rear 26.04.2019 

 

4. Consultations  
 
Newton Valence Parish Council - Objects to this planning application for the following 
reasons: 
 

 Proposal in excess of 30% of existing floorspace.  

 Harmful impact to neighbouring amenity  

 Harmful impact to nearby listed buildings 

 Harmful impact to bats and ecology 

 Light pollution 
 
EH - Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - No objection subject to informative.  
 
HCC - Ecology Group – No objection subject to condition. 
  
 
5. Representations 
 
Five neighbour representations received all objecting to the proposal on the following 
grounds:- 
 
a) The design, scale and materials would harm the character of existing dwelling and local 
area; 
b) overlooking and harm to outlook of neighbouring property; 
c) harm to setting of nearby listed buildings; 
d) ecology issues (bats); 
e) harm to dark night skies; 
f) excessive floorspace; 
g) impact on trees and, 
h) 50% increase in floorspace. 
 
Comments are also made in relation to disturbance from construction work and construction 
vehicles, as well as the fact that the property is rented, which are not considered to be a 
material planning consideration. 
 
 

Page 144



6.  Planning Policy Context 

Applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The statutory development plan in this area is the South 
Downs Local Plan 2014-2033 and any relevant minerals and waste plans. Other plans 
considered: 
 
The development plan policies and other material considerations considered relevant to this 
application are set out in section 7, below. 
 
National Park Purposes 
 
The two statutory purposes of the SDNP designation are: 
 

 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage,  

 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the special 
qualities of their areas. 
 

If there is a conflict between these two purposes, conservation takes precedence. There is 
also a duty to foster the economic and social well being of the local community in pursuit of 
these purposes.  
 
 
7.  Planning Policy  
 
Relevant Government Planning Policy and Guidance 
  
Government policy relating to National Parks is set out in English National Parks and the 
Broads: UK Government Vision and Circular 2010 and The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), updated February 2019. The Circular and NPPF confirm that National 
Parks have the highest status of protection, and the NPPF states at paragraph 172 that great 
weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in national 
parks and that the conservation and enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also 
important considerations and should be given great weight in National Parks. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
 
The following National Planning Policy Framework documents have been considered in the 
assessment of this application:  
 
16. Conserving the historic environment 
12. Achieving well-designed places 
 
The development plan policies listed below have been assessed for their compliance with the 
NPPF and are considered to be compliant with the NPPF. 
 
The following policies of the South Downs Local Plan are relevant to this application: 
 

Page 145



 Core Policy SD2 - Ecosystems Services 

 Strategic Policy SD5 - Design 

 Strategic Policy SD9 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

 Strategic Policy SD12 - Historic Environment 

 Development Management Policy SD22 - Parking Provision 

 Strategic Policy SD27 - Mix of Homes 

 Development Management Policy SD31 - Extensions to existing dwellings, and 
provision of annexes and outbuildings 

 Strategic Policy SD8 - Dark Night Skies 

 

Partnership Management Plan 

The Environment Act 1995 requires National Parks to produce a Management Plan setting 
out strategic management objectives to deliver the National Park Purposes and Duty. 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) states that Management Plans "contribute to 
setting the strategic context for development" and "are material considerations in making 
decisions on individual planning applications." The South Downs Partnership Management 
Plan as amended for 2020-2025 on 19 December 2019, sets out a Vision, Outcomes, Policies 
and a Delivery Framework for the National Park over the next five years. The relevant policies 
include: 

 Outcome one. 
 
 

8.  Planning Assessment 
 
Determining Issues 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Impact upon scale and character of local area 
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties 
4. Highway implications 
5. Impact on the South Downs National Park 
6. Ecology 
7. Impact on Dark Sky Core  
8. Impact on the setting of nearby listed buildings 
9. Impact on trees 
 
Planning Considerations 
  
1.Principle of development 
 
Policy SD31 of the South Downs Local Plan places a limit on proposals which should 
increase the gross internal area (GIA) of the existing dwelling (as at 18 December 2002) by 
no more than approximately 30%. 

Page 146



The existing building measures approximately 119 square metres, and the proposed 
extension would have a GIA floorspace of 62 m2, although an existing extension with a 
floorspace of 5m2 would be demolished, a net gain of 57m2. This would result in a dwelling 
measuring approximately 176 square metres. This would result in a dwelling approximately 
47.9% larger, in excess of the limit of Policy SD31.  
 
Policy SD31 states that the purpose of SD31 is to "to avoid the over-extension of existing 
dwellings and the adverse impact that this has on the character and appearance of both 
settlements and the countryside" and "protect the limited supply of small and medium-sized 
homes in the National Park" in line with Policy SD27, which seeks to protect the limited supply 
of small and medium-sized homes in the National Park. The guidance notes confirm that a 
'small' dwelling should be defined as one measuring 120 square metres in GIA.  
 
In this instance, the property could change from a small to medium size property under 
permitted development rights, and it would be a classed as a medium sized, 3 bedroom 
property if the extension hereby proposed was built. On this basis the proposal is not 
considered to conflict with the core purpose of SD31. It is also noted that the text of the policy 
also refers to an uplift in floorspace of "more than approximately 30%.  
 
On this basis, it is considered reasonable in this instance to depart from the floorspace 
restrictions of Policy SD31. It is also noted that the proposal would accord with criteria (b) and 
(c) of the policy (as discussed in section 2 below). 
  
This Officer assessment has been forwarded to the Planning Policy Manager at the South 
Downs National Park Authority who concurs with the Officer conclusions in terms of the 
application of Policy SD31. 
 
The principle of development is therefore acceptable, subject to all other material planning 
considerations as discussed below. In the event that the development is approved, it is 
recommended that a condition be imposed to remove permitted development rights so that 
the habitable floorspace could not be further extended and take the property out of the 
"medium" sized property category. 
 
2. Impact upon scale and character of local area 
 
Policy SD5 of the South Downs Local Plan seeks to ensure that development proposals are of 
a high standard of design and architecture, with a high quality external appearance that 
respect the area's particular characteristics. It requires that developments are sympathetic to 
their setting in terms of scale, height and massing, and their relationship to adjoining 
buildings, spaces around buildings, and that developments should make a positive 
contribution to the overall appearance of the area. As noted above, criteria b and c of Policy 
SD31 state that the policy purpose is to avoid the over-extension of existing dwellings and the 
adverse impact that this has on the character and appearance of both settlements and the 
countryside.  

The proposal would form a relatively large addition to the rear of the dwellinghouse, and such 
additions can be overly dominant to dwellings, harming their character.  

Page 147



However, in this instance, the extension would have a subservient appearance to the host 
dwelling, with the ridge height of the proposed extension over 1 metre lower than that of the 
existing roof. The proposal would be largely concealed from the public domain by the existing 
dwelling, and would therefore only have a minimal impact on the character and appearance of 
the street scene and wider area.  

The proposal would therefore accord with relevant design policy SD5 and criteria b and c of 
Policy SD31. 
 
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties 
 
Policy SD5 of the South Downs Local Plan requires that developments would not have an 
unacceptable impact on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss 
of privacy or excessive overshadowing. Paragraph 127 f of NPPF requires, amongst other 
core principles, that developments should provide a good level of amenity for all new and 
existing occupants of land and buildings.  
 
The neighbouring dwelling to the west, Bookham Cottage, is situated approximately 9 metres 
away from the side elevation of the host dwelling, and is situated closer to the road than 
Chestnut Cottage. Due to this distancing and forward alignment, the proposed rear extension 
would not have an unacceptable impact to the outlook and light of Bookham Cottage. Whilst 
the proposal would be visible from the rear garden of Bookham Cottage, it would be situated 
approximately 7 metres away from the boundary between the two properties. Furthermore, 
the relatively modest depth of the proposal relative to the length of the rear garden of 
Bookham Cottage would minimise any impact to neighbouring outlook. There are no first floor 
windows proposed on the west side elevation of the extension which could afford elevated 
overlooking of this neighbour.  
 
The neighbouring properties to the east and north are sufficiently distanced so as not to be 
unacceptably impacted by the proposal, such that the dormer window in the eastern side 
elevation would not result in any overlooking of neighbouring properties. 
  
4. Highway implications 
 
Policy SD22 of the South Downs Local Plan requires that regard is had to any impact on the 
safety and convenience of the public highway. The proposal would result in an increase of the 
dwelling from 2 bedrooms to 3 bedrooms, whereby the parking space requirement would 
remain at 2 spaces. It is noted that ample parking exists on the driveway for the dwelling to 
provide parking for at least 2 vehicles.  
 
5. Impact on the South Downs National Park 
 
The proposal is within the South Downs National Park and proposals within this area would 
not be permitted if they would harm the tranquillity and appearance of the landscape and any 
development must meet the purposes of the National Park.  
The proposal is for development at an existing dwellinghouse and it is considered that the 
proposed works would not cause harm to the purposes of the National Park or have an 
adverse impact on the tranquillity and appearance of the surrounding area. 

Page 148



6. Ecology 
 
Policies SD2 (Ecosystems Services) and SD9 (Biodiversity net gain) of the South Downs 
Local Plan seek to ensure that development proposals have an overall positive impact on the 
ability of the natural environment.  
 
The application is accompanied by a Preliminary Roost Appraisal and Bat Activity Surveys 
report (ABR Ecology, October 2019). The dwelling has been shown to support small summer 
roosts of common pipistrelle, serotine and brown long-eared bats.  
 
This development will affect bats, which receive strict legal protection under UK law by the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and under EU law by the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (commonly referred to as the Habitats Regulations). 
Where developments affect EPS, permission can be granted unless the development is likely 
to result in a breach of the EU Directive underpinning the Habitats Regulations and is unlikely 
to be granted an EPS licence from Natural England to allow the development to proceed 
under a derogation from the law. 
 
An assessment of the proposal against the three derogation tests must be applied in this 
instance to determine the likelihood of a protected species license being granted for the 
proposed development as without it, the development as proposed would likely lead to 
disturbance of protected bat species within the building. 
 
These tests are:  
 
1. the activity to be licensed must be for imperative reasons of overriding public interest or for 
public health and safety; 
2. there must be no satisfactory alternative; and 
3. favourable conservation status of the species must be maintained. 
 
In this instance, the proposed extensions would result in a significant social benefit to the 
occupants of the dwelling providing a dwelling which has a more satisfactory layout and 
space for the family's requirements and for future occupants. 
 
The only alternative to the second test is that the dwelling is not extended which is not an 
option for the proposed development. As possible mitigation measures could be put in place it 
would seem unreasonable to deny the applicant on this point. 
 
In order to assess the development against the third test, sufficient detail must be available to 
show how killing/injury/disturbance of bats will be avoided and how the loss or damage to bat 
habitat will be compensated.  
 
The County Ecologist has been consulted and has not objected to the proposed works, 
subject to adherence to the mitigation measures outlined in the aforementioned report. It is 
proposed to install interim bat boxes on trees, to undertake supervised removal of potential 
roosting features and to provide new compensatory roosting features on the new structure.  

Page 149



It is the responsibility of the applicants and their appointed agents to ensure that all works 
impacting bats are carried out under a European Protected Species licence and that all 
licence conditions are met in full. 
 
A condition can be imposed, if planning permission is granted, that the mitigation measures 
are implemented accordingly.  
 
7. Impact on Dark Sky Core  
 
Policy SD08 of the South Downs Local Plan states development proposals will be permitted 
where they conserve and enhance the intrinsic quality of dark night skies and the integrity of 
the Dark Sky Core. Concern has been raised in neighbour representation that the proposal 
would result in greater light pollution in the vicinity. However, the areas of glazing are not 
considered to be particularly extensive for a residential extension, and save for a small 
proposed skylight none of the windows would be orientated upwards towards the sky. It is not 
therefore considered that the proposal would conflict with Policy SD08 of the South Downs 
Local Plan. 
 
8. Impact on the setting of neighbouring Listed Buildings. 
 
Several listed buildings are located in the vicinity of the dwelling, including the neighbouring 
Bookham Cottage. 
 
Policy SD12 of the South Downs Local Plan state that development proposals will only be 
permitted where they conserve and enhance the historic environment, including through the 
safeguarding of heritage assets and their setting. Policy SD13 of the South Downs Local Plan 
states that development proposals which affect a listed building or its setting will only be 
permitted and listed building consent granted where they preserve and enhance the 
significance of the listed building. 
 
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 
planning authorities, when considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. 
 
As noted above, the host dwelling is substantially distanced from Bookham Cottage, and the 
proposed extension would be largely concealed from the street scene by the host dwelling. 
On this basis there would not be an unacceptable impact on the historic and architectural 
setting of the listed buildings in the vicinity. The Conservation Officer has been consulted and 
agrees with this assessment. The proposal would therefore accord with Policies SD12 and 
SD13 of the South Downs Local Plan and section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 150



9. Impact on Trees 
 
There are no protected trees on the site which could be harmed by the proposed 
development. A large tree is located at the rear of the site but as this would be over 12 metres 
away from the proposed extension, it is considered unlikely that it would be harmed as a 
result of the works.  
 
Response of the comments of the Parish Council. 
 
The Parish Council has objected to the development on the following grounds: 
 

 Proposal in excess of 30% of existing floorspace.  

 Harmful impact to neighbouring amenity  

 Harmful impact to nearby listed buildings 

 Harmful impact to bats and ecology 

 Light pollution 
 

As noted above, a departure from the floorspace restrictions of SD31 has been justified in this 
instance, and it is not considered that there would be a harmful impact to neighbouring 
amenity, listed buildings, bats, ecology and harmful light pollution.  
 
 
9. Conclusion 
 
The proposal is considered to be acceptable as the principle of development is acceptable, as 
it would accord with the purpose of Policy SD31 and a departure from the floorspace 
restrictions of this policy is justified in this instance.  
 
It would not detract from the character and appearance of the area, would not have an 
unacceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties, would not have an adverse 
effect on the safety and function of the highway network, would accord with the aims and 
purposes of the South Downs National Park and would preserve the historic and architectural 
setting of the nearby listed buildings. As such, the proposal is in compliance with the relevant 
policies of the South Downs Local Plan and section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
 
10.  Reason for Recommendation and Conditions 
 
It is recommended that the application be Approved for the reasons and subject to the 
conditions set out below. 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission. 
Reason - To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended)./ To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 

Page 151



 
2. Development shall proceed in accordance with the ecological mitigation, compensation and 
enhancement measures detailed within the Preliminary Roost Appraisal and Bat Activity 
Surveys report (ABR Ecology, October 2019) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. All ecological mitigation, compensation and enhancement features shall 
be installed as per ecologist instructions and be retained and maintained in perpetuity in a 
condition suited to their intended function.  
Reason - to protect biodiversity in accordance with the Conservation Regulations 2017, 
Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, the NERC Act (2006), NPPF and with Policy CP21 of the 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.  
 
3. The external materials to be used shall match, as closely as possible, in type, colour, and 
texture those of the existing building unless details of other suitable materials are submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To ensure that a harmonious visual relationship is achieved between the new and 
the existing developments. 
 
4. Upon implementation of this permission, notwithstanding the provisions of Part 1 Classes A 
to C of Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order, 2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) there shall 
be no additions to or extensions/enlargement/alterations of the dwellinghouse to which this 
application relates which result in an increase in habitable floorspace without a grant of 
planning permission from the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - The property lies outside of any recognised settlement where the Local Planning 
Authority seeks to retain a range of dwellings, and therefore wishes to control any further 
alterations, extensions or conversion of the roof space. 
 
5. Approved Plans 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans listed 
below under the heading "Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application". 
Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
Informative Notes to Applicant: 
 
Environmental Health recommends developers follow the risk management framework 
provided in 'CLR 11 ' Model procedures for the Management of Land Contamination' when 
dealing with land affected by contamination. A leaflet entitled "Development on Potentially 
Contaminated Land" is available as a download on the following East Hampshire District 
Council website 
 
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/ContaminatedLandGuide.pdf 
 
and which contains a template for a Completion Statement. This should be completed by the 
applicant at the end of the development, regardless of whether contamination was 
investigated/discovered on site. 
 
 
11. Crime and Disorder Implications  

Page 152



 
11.1 It is considered that the proposal does not raise any crime and disorder implications.  
 
12. Human Rights Implications  
12.1 This planning application has been considered in light of statute and case law and any 
interference with an individual’s human rights is considered to be proportionate to the aims 
sought to be realised.  
 
13. Equality Act 2010  
13.1 Due regard has been taken of the South Downs National Park Authority’s equality duty 
as contained within the Equality Act 2010.  
 
14. Proactive Working  

The applicants were updated of issues throughout the course of the application, and given 
opportunity to address them. 

 

Appendix 1 – Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application 

The application has been assessed and recommendation is made on the basis of the 
following plans and documents submitted: 

 

Plan Type Reference Version Date on Plan Status 

 

Application Form -    05.11.2019 Approved 

 

Application Documents  

- Ecosystem Services 
Statement 

  15.11.2019 Approved 

 

Application Documents - CIL - 
additional information 

  05.11.2019 Approved 

 

Application Documents - 
Preliminary roost appraisal and 
bat survey 

  05.11.2019 Approved 

 

Application Documents - 
Design and access statement 

  05.11.2019 Approved 

Page 153



 

OS Extract - Location plan   05.11.2019 Approved 

 

Plans - Visual 01 901-D-105  05.11.2019 Approved 

 

Plans - Visual 02 901-D-106  05.11.2019 Approved 

 

Plans - Existing site plan 901-D-100  05.11.2019 Approved 

 

Plans - Existing plans and 
elevations 

901-D-101  05.11.2019 Approved 

 

Plans - Site plan 901-D-102  05.11.2019 Approved 

 

Plans - Proposed plans and 
elevations 

901-D-103  05.11.2019 Approved 

 

Plans - Block plan 901-D-104  05.11.2019 Approved 

Reasons - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 154



Part 2 Section 1, Item 2 Chestnut Cottage, Newton Valence 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Proposed block plan 
 
 

  

Page 155



Part 2 Section 1, Item 2 Chestnut Cottage, Newton Valence 
 

 
Proposed North Elevation 

 

 
Existing North Elevation 

 
 

Part 2 Section 1, Item 2 Chestnut Cottage, Newton Valence 

Page 156



 
Proposed South Elevation 

 
 
 

 
Existing South Elevation 

 
 

Part 2 Section 1, Item 2 Chestnut Cottage, Newton Valence 
 

Page 157



 
Proposed East Elevation 

 

 
Existing East Elevation 

Part 2 Section 1, Item 2 Chestnut Cottage, Newton Valence 
 

Page 158



 
Proposed West Elevation 

 

 
Existing West Elevation 

Part 2 Section 1, Item 2 Chestnut Cottage, Newton Valence 
 

Page 159



 
Proposed floor plan 

 
 

 
Existing floor plan 

 
  
 

Page 160


	Agenda
	 
	6. Future Items
	7.(i) 56420/001/FUL/SAW - Alton Magistrates Court, 25 Normandy Street, Alton, GU34 1DQ
	7.(ii) 22387/067/FUL/LGi - Treloar College, Powell Drive, Holybourne, Alton, GU34 4GL
	7.(iii) 22321/016/HSE/SR - Hill View, 27A Southdown Road, Horndean, Waterlooville, PO8 0ET
	7.(iv) 58574/FUL/ACa - 21 Columbine Way, Clanfield, Waterlooville, PO8 0WJ
	8.(i) 49776/004/OUT/MH - Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton
	9.(i) SDNP/19/05324/HOUS - Chestnut Cottage, Newton Lane, Newton Valence

